Electrocardiography (ECG)

Fundamentals, Interpretation, and Clinical Applications

Editors

Zainab Zuhair Salim

Middle Technical University Medical Device Engineering, Iraq

Asmahan Faisal Fathil

Department of Medical Instrumentation Techniques Engineering, College of Technical Engineering, Al-kitab University, Iraq

Hussein Abbas Awfi

Department of Medical Devices Engineering Technology, College of Engineering Technology, Northern Technical University, Iraq

Hussein Hamed Othib

Department of Medical Devices Engineering Technology, College of Engineering Technology, Al-Turath University, Iraq

> Bright Sky Publications TM New Delhi

Published By: Bright Sky Publications

Bright Sky Publication Office No. 3, 1st Floor, Pocket - H34, SEC-3, Rohini, Delhi, 110085, India

Editors: Zainab Zuhair Salim, Asmahan Faisal Fathil, Hussein Abbas Awfi and Hussein Hamed Othib

The author/publisher has attempted to trace and acknowledge the materials reproduced in this publication and apologize if permission and acknowledgements to publish in this form have not been given. If any material has not been acknowledged please write and let us know so that we may rectify it.

© Bright Sky Publications

Edition: 1st

Publication Year: 2025

Pages: 122

Paperback ISBN: 978-93-6233-548-7

E-Book ISBN: 978-93-6233-232-5

DOI: https://doi.org/10.62906/bs.book.375

Price: ₹817/-

Contents

S. No.	Chapters	Page Nos.	
	Abstract	01	
1.	Introduction to Electrocardiography	02-03	
2.	Fundamentals of ECG	04-11	
3.	ECG Waveform Analysis	12-19	
4.	Common ECG Rhythms	20-30	
5.	ECG Interpretation Techniques	31-37	
6.	Clinical Applications of ECG	38-47	
7.	Advanced ECG Techniques	48-54	
8.	ECG in Specific Populations	55-61	
9.	Challenges in ECG Interpretation	62-68	
10.	Future Directions in ECG Technology	69-75	
11.	Conclusion	76	
	References	77-122	

Abstract

Electrocardiography (ECG) is a specialized test that meticulously records the electrical signals generated by the heart. This test is widely utilized in medical settings to identify various issues related to the heart's rhythm, as well as to assess the size or position of the different heart chambers. Additionally, it plays a crucial role in evaluating the blood supply to the heart muscle itself. Beyond these applications, ECG can also reveal problems associated with the conduction of electrical impulses throughout the heart, which is essential for diagnosing potential signs of a heart attack.

ECG telemetry, in particular, offers the advantage of recording the heart's rhythms on a monitor or graph in real-time. For real-time, bedside monitoring of a patient's heart rhythm, telemetry automatically evaluates the heart's rhythm continuously and triggers alarms if necessary based on predefined criteria. The telemetry system will automatically compare the current heart rhythm with the established baseline rhythm, and should this comparison indicate that the rhythm falls outside of the preset limits, an alarm will be generated automatically, ensuring prompt responses to any concerning changes in the patient's cardiac activity.

An ECG interpretation refers to the overall impression from analyzing a set of discrete variables from a two-dimensional projection of the electrical activity of the heart, as recorded by electrodes placed on the body surface. Understanding the fundamentals of ECG interpretation will help achieve a reliable primary assessment of the heart's electrical activity. The estimation of heart rate (HR), rhythm, axes of the heart, and refractory phases of cardiac depolarization and repolarization (PR, QT and QRS duration) are considered key elements in ECG interpretation.

Chapter - 1

Introduction to Electrocardiography

Electrocardiography (ECG): Essential Fundamental Principles, Comprehensive Interpretation Techniques, Diverse Clinical Applications, and Various Impacts across Medicine and Health Care Fields in Today's Clinical Practice and Research

Electrocardiography (ECG) refers to the specialized method of producing a detailed diagram that illustrates the electrical activity of a heart over a specified period, as detected by electrodes strategically placed on a patient's body. This fundamental process involves the placement of multiple electrodes that detect the heart's electrical impulses, allowing healthcare professionals to monitor and assess cardiac function. As the heart beats rhythmically, it generates vital electrical impulses that can be accurately measured on the body surface. These impulses reflect the heart's mechanical activity, encompassing both atrial and ventricular contractions. The intricate activity of the heart is recorded on the skin surface through a galvanometer, which plays a crucial role in the measurement process, ensuring precision in the capture of these fleeting signals. The ECG machine then effectively converts the measured electrical activity into a comprehensive diagram, which manifests as a continuous graph representing voltage in relation to time. This graph, also known as an electrocardiogram, provides critical information that aids in diagnosing various heart conditions. The primary purpose of ECG is to record the essential electrical signals of the heart, highlighting abnormalities that might indicate underlying health issues. These recordings can be represented visually either by a tracing on paper or by a digital record in various electronic formats, allowing for convenient storage and analysis by healthcare practitioners. The most basic form of ECG is a two-dimensional representation that captures the electrical activity of the heart over time, offering valuable insights into the patient's cardiovascular health, including heart rate, rhythm, and overall electrical conduction. Additionally, advanced forms of ECG can utilize multi-lead configurations that provide a more comprehensive view of electrical activity from different anatomical perspectives, enhancing diagnostic accuracy [1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8].

The electrical events that consist of the depolarization and repolarization of myocardial cells are not just important but absolutely vital, as they directly lead to the processes of cardiac contraction and relaxation that are essential for the proper functioning of the heart. In the year 1903, a significant medical breakthrough occurred when it was discovered that the very first bipolar threechannel Electrocardiogram (ECG) was invented and subsequently recorded by the visionary and pioneering individual known as William Einthoven. Not long after this groundbreaking and revolutionary moment in the history of medicine, the initial clinical and bedside ECGs began to be widely utilized in medical practice across various healthcare settings. This much wider and more comprehensive application of the ECG technology was made possible due to the innovative and ingenious time-sharing invention of the galvanometers' coefficients, which were meticulously derived directly from careful and precise measurements of the voltages present at the outputs of specific electrodes that were strategically placed on the human body. Over the past century, and indeed in the last few decades, there has been a remarkable progression and pioneering development in the evolution and increased utilization of ECG screening in clinical settings ranging from primary care to specialized cardiology units. Nowadays, the 12-lead ECG is highly regarded as a tool of extraordinary clinical power, as it is capable of quickly providing physicians and healthcare professionals with invaluable, helpful, and occasionally even critical information that plays a key role in patient care and clinical decision-making. The electrocardiogram can deliver crucial and necessary data at an early stage relating to important medical conditions such as coronary heart disease (CHD), instances of sudden cardiac death (SCD), preparations for potentially life-saving cardiac surgeries, and an extensive range of other general physiological abnormalities of the heart that may arise in various systemic diseases affecting multiple organ systems. Additionally, it serves as an essential tool in assessing potentially dangerous electrolyte imbalances, various forms of cardiomyopathies, and channelopathies, as well as diligently monitoring the safety and/or efficacy of diverse pharmacological therapeutic treatments utilized to manage different medical conditions effectively [9, 10, 11, 12, 13].

Chapter - 2

Fundamentals of ECG

The electrocardiogram, commonly known as an ECG, is an incredibly important and valuable instrument that delivers a detailed and consistent electrical reading of the heart's activity over time. This vital reading is achieved by strategically placing three electrodes on the patient's body; specifically, one electrode is firmly applied to each of the two arms (one electrode on each limb) and another is placed on the left leg (also referred to as one on a limb). Together, these electrodes create a bipolar lead that captures the electrical impulses generated by the heart. Furthermore, a second reading can be obtained by carefully arranging a variety of electrodes positioned on the chest surface, which provides a high degree of flexibility and freedom of variability in placement options, enhancing the overall accuracy and detail of the assessment. The ECG has served as an invaluable problem solver for healthcare professionals for many years and continues to be a powerful instrument of remarkable diagnostic capability in the field of cardiology. Numerous medical conditions have been diagnosed using this tool, many are currently being monitored in real time, and it is clear that it will continue to be essential in assessing patients accurately thanks to this indispensable diagnostic device. In this paper, we will endeavor to thoroughly introduce the complex anatomy of the heart and the various nuances involved in effective lead design, present some fundamental ECG interpretations, and delve into the complexities surrounding arrhythmia interpretation, providing a well-rounded and comprehensive understanding of this critical physiological assessment method that is paramount to patient care [9, 14, 4, 15, 2, 16, 17, 18].

The complex electrical picture of the heart is essentially defined by a unique blend of both automaticity and instability. This dual nature signifies that within the heart, there exist specialized cells that rhythmically undergo depolarization in a coordinated manner. This rhythmic process of depolarization holds immense importance for the autonomic pace making of the heart, as it leads to the generation of successive waves of depolarization. These waves then travel in a meticulously orchestrated fashion throughout the entire structure of the heart. The coordination required is indeed much more intricate than the simple contraction of the heart muscle itself. Besides the

primary contraction that occurs, there are numerous delaying mechanisms in action, such as those situated in the atrioventricular node. These delaying mechanisms play an essential role in ensuring that the heart's chambers achieve a full filling before the next contraction takes place. If there happen to be any opposite polarized depolarization vectors, which are referred to as reentry phenomena, they can lead to conduction that jumps in a direction contrary to the intended pathway. This situation culminates in a potentially dangerous and highly disorganized heart rhythm known as fibrillation, which can have serious implications for overall cardiac health. Additionally, it is important to note that these various mechanisms also induce associated changes that can be observed on the body's surface at distances from the heart itself. These changes can be more easily grasped and graphically represented in a systematic and thoughtful manner, especially when one is properly trained and equipped to interpret such specialized data. Understanding these processes not only enhances knowledge but is critical for the study of cardiac function and its potential abnormalities [1, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26].

Each reading obtained during an electrocardiogram, commonly referred to as an ECG, will depend significantly on an array of factors, including but not limited to the precise placement of the lead angles as well as the condition of the skin where the electrodes are thoughtfully applied. Additionally, the degree of hairiness in that area can also influence the quality of the readings obtained. From these fundamental assumptions and considerations, a comprehensive 12-lead ECG can be effectively obtained, allowing for a thorough analysis of the heart's electrical activity. The limb leads utilized in this process are referred to as standard limb leads, and they are composed of one negative lead paired with one positive lead for each respective pairing. These bipolar electrodes work in sync to generate the six leads that collectively cover a substantial 180 degrees of angularity, effectively capturing the heart's electrical activity from an assortment of different perspectives, thereby enhancing the accuracy of the diagnostic process. The remaining six leads in this arrangement consist of chest leads, which are designed specifically to pick up voltages against a predetermined reference point, thus allowing for a further and more detailed capture of the heart's electrical picture from an alternative viewpoint. Each distinct lead will give rise to a complex wave that incorporates several vectors and various deflections, each representing crucial components of the heart's activity. These deflections are typically labeled as P for atrial depolarization, QRS for ventricular depolarization, and T for ventricular repolarization, effectively illustrating the intricate processes underlying the heart's activity throughout the cardiac cycle. Each wave displayed in the ECG is essentially a summation of all the electrical activities occurring at that specific moment in time, providing critical insights into the heart's functioning and facilitating more informed medical decisions regarding patient care and diagnosis [27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34]

2.1 Basic principles of ECG

The electrocardiogram, commonly referred to as the ECG, is an essential record that captures the electrical activity occurring within the heart. This activity is represented by the potential differences that are created and measured over the surface of the body. A standard 12-lead ECG is widely used in medical practice, which consists of ten electrodes that are strategically placed on specific positions of the body. This careful placement results in twelve distinct leads, comprising three bipolar limb leads, three unipolar limb leads, and six unipolar precordial leads.

In its typical form, an ECG displays a baseline, alongside an amplitude sinusoidal wave, and the rate that corresponds to the rhythm of the heart. Each of the waves presented in the tracing corresponds to a particular event occurring within the cardiac cycle. The origins of the ECG can be traced back to the depolarization wave that moves across the myocardium, which is the muscular tissue of the heart. The surface electrical manifestation of this depolarization is significantly related to the time and amplitude components of various cardioelectric events, which depend heavily on both the geometrical and electrical factors at play.

A methodology has been developed for the purpose of demonstrating the main features that exist in the dynamic behaviors of the determinant components, all concerning the various electrocardiographic patterns observed in clinical settings. This advanced approach helps to enhance our understanding of the complexities involved in interpreting ECG readings, further contributing to the medical field's ability to diagnose and manage cardiovascular conditions effectively. By analyzing the ECG patterns, one can gain crucial insights into heart health and the functioning of the cardiac system as a whole [9, 35, 36, 37, 38, 39, 40, 41].

Due to specific anatomical and physiological characteristics inherent in the structure and function of the human body, the electrical activity of the heart generally plays a predominant role in influencing the surrounding ambient electrical field under normal physiological conditions. This distinctive characteristic is essential because it sets the foundation for understanding the heart's interaction with its environment and is crucial for various diagnostic measures. However, it's important to note that this dominant electrical activity can also be significantly altered by a variety of disease states, which may coexist or even bring about atypical events that can be observed in electrocardiograms (ECG). For instance, conditions such as ischemic heart disease, electrolyte imbalances, and arrhythmias can lead to changes in the electrical signals emanating from the heart, resulting in variations that are often critically assessed during electrocardiographic evaluations. A practical example illustrating the intricate process of diagnosing such atypical events using ECG data is presented in vivid detail, emphasizing the significance of recognizing these deviations. It is widely understood and well documented how to effectively evaluate and interpret ECG recordings in general clinical practice. Additionally, there are various methodologies and techniques developed to assist clinicians in interpreting these recordings, further enhancing the accuracy of assessments. Furthermore, there are numerous limitations related to the use of unipolar channels and the selection of standard leads for comprehensive ECG interpretation, which are also thoroughly discussed and examined in the existing literature. These limitations highlight the need for continuous improvement in ECG technology and methodology to overcome barriers to effective diagnosis. This informative and educational tool aims not only to establish a robust and comprehensive knowledge framework for understanding ECG but also to facilitate a deeper comprehension of the complex nature of ECG patterns and their critical role in the expansive field of cardiodiagnostics. Through this enhanced understanding, practitioners and students alike can gain substantial insights that may significantly improve their clinical assessments and diagnostic capabilities when it comes to interpreting ECG results in real-world scenarios. This, in turn, ultimately leads to better patient outcomes and enhanced healthcare delivery, serving as a basis for improving overall clinical practice in cardiology [1, 42, 43, 44, 45, 46, 47, 48, 49, 50]

2.2 Electrophysiology of the heart

Heart tissue can be described electrically as a polarized state characterized by a specific resting potential that is fundamentally important for its proper functioning. This unique tissue contains an electrical current that flows continuously throughout its structure, and this ongoing current is essential in defining the heart's overall electrical activity and ensuring its effective operation. In order to visually represent this dynamic and complex electrical activity, a technique called electrocardiography is employed. This nuanced process requires the careful positioning of electrodes on the skin at various strategically chosen locations that have been determined to be most effective for capturing heart signals. These specialized electrodes are designed to

effectively "capture" the electrical potentials emanating from the heart, which are then recorded and referred to as the electrocardiogram. This comprehensive visualization plays a crucial role in closely monitoring and thoroughly understanding the heart's function and overall health, allowing for better assessment and diagnosis of any potential cardiovascular issues [51, 52, 53, 54, 55, 56, 57]

In its fully functional state, the heart undergoes a series of alternating cycles characterized by phases of contraction and relaxation. This remarkable action is fundamental as it produces the essential mechanical force that propels blood on its vital journey through the extensive and intricate network of blood vessels that comprise the human body. Following each contraction phase, the heart then enters a relaxation stage, which allows it the ample opportunity to refill with blood, preparing it for the next cycle of activity. Under typical physiological conditions, this critical and life-sustaining cycle is set into motion by a well-defined and precisely regulated electrical impulse. This initiatory impulse arises within the heart and commences each cardiac cycle in a meticulously synchronized manner.

This electrical signal propagates through the specialized conduction pathways of the heart, traveling along established routes with the utmost precision in timing to maintain the overall rhythm of the heart's activity. In response to this electrical stimulus, the mechanical contractile segments of the heart tissue, which consist predominantly of specialized cardiac muscle fibers, develop the required forces that enable the tissue to shorten or contract effectively. This remarkable and intricate interplay between the heart's electrical impulses and its mechanical functions is complex and remarkably fine-tuned. Furthermore, the independent chemical agent that underlies and facilitates the excitation of the heart is none other than the essential ion known as calcium. The exchanges of this crucial ion across the delicate cell membranes generate vital electrical activity while involving the intricate movement of sodium and potassium ions, which play a significant role in further contributing to the heart's rhythmic function, ensuring optimal performance and coordination essential for sustaining life. The overall efficiency and effectiveness of the heart's operations depend heavily on this orchestrated interaction of electrical signals, chemical exchanges, and muscular contractions [58, 59, 60, 61, 62, 63, 64].

An accurate and deeply nuanced appreciation of the intricate and multifaceted nature of heart excitation cannot be attained without a comprehensive and detailed understanding of the complex conduction pathways that are formed by various specialized cardiac tissues functioning harmoniously together. These specialized tissues work in conjunction with the unique and distinct properties exhibited by cardiac muscle, which effectively reacts to the continuous and rhythmic flow of electrical activity. The electrical excitation that triggers the heart's rhythmic contractions is intrinsically related to the successive and systematic generation of action potentials, which are fundamental to the heart's ability to maintain its regular beating pattern. These action potentials are characterized by the irreversible and dynamic passage of depolarization waves that travel through the several types of heart tissues, which include atrial, ventricular, and nodal tissues, each contributing to the overall function of the cardiac system. Following this complex process, there comes, in due course, the crucial repolarization waves, which serve to carefully and methodically restore the cardiac tissues to their original, stable resting potentials. This restoration is vital to the heart's functionality, as it ensures the heart can operate effectively, beating consistently and in a wellcontrolled manner necessary for proper circulation. It is through the intricate and well-coordinated movements of these action currents that the electrocardiogram is produced, recorded, and meticulously analyzed. The electrocardiogram serves as a vital and indispensable diagnostic tool that allows healthcare professionals to extensively monitor heart health and functionality over time, identifying any possible irregularities or deviations that may occur. This ongoing and diligent analysis is crucial for understanding various cardiac conditions and comprehensively provides valuable insights into the overall performance and efficiency of the heart. Consequently, this understanding helps guide effective treatment strategies and approaches tailored to meet the individual needs of each patient, improving outcomes and promoting better health [9, 31, 65, 66, 67, 68, 69, 70, 71, 72, 73].

2.3 ECG leads and placement

Electrocardiography (ECG) represents a highly sophisticated and non-invasive methodology that dedicatedly records the potential differences observable at the surface of the body. These differences arise from the propagation of the cardiac depolarization wavefronts as they traverse throughout the intricate structure of the heart. The electrical events, meticulously captured by this technique, hold direct relevance to the mechanical activity of the heart itself. Essentially, the ECG produces an uninterrupted record that spans a critical period of 270 milliseconds, encapsulating the most recent heart activity that can be detected on the surface of the body. This vital diagnostic reading empowers clinicians not only to assess the time-correlated mechanical functioning of the heart but also to pinpoint pathological changes occurring within cardiac anatomical structures.

This capability makes it an especially valuable tool for establishing preliminary medical impressions and assessments.

Over the course of the past three decades, there have been profound advances in a diverse range of areas such as data acquisition, processing, transmission, and storage of relevant information, coupled with notable improvements in multi-channel ECG systems. These innovations have collectively increased the potential applications of the ECG within the sphere of modern clinical practice, rendering it highly versatile and effective. Today, the ECG remains the most superior and widely used investigative tool across all areas of clinical practice to thoroughly study and comprehend cardiac performance in patients from various backgrounds. In this context, a detailed description of the ECG waveform is essential, along with a comprehensive overview of the methodologies utilized for ECG signal acquisition, processing, analysis, and interpretation, carefully curated to cater to both general readers and clinical practitioners alike.

Furthermore, recommendations regarding the best technological practices, the various difficulties associated with ECG readings, potential misunderstandings that may arise during interpretation, and prospective future trends in the field of electrocardiography are all summarized in great detail. The clinical applications of computer-aided ECG interpretation in commonplace medical scenarios are of particular significance, such as in the management of arrhythmias, evaluation of acute coronary syndrome, and the detection of pacemaker functions during routine preventive check-ups. Notably, particular emphasis is placed on understanding why these advanced machines may falter under specific circumstances, thereby highlighting when it is imperative for healthcare professionals to intervene and apply their clinical judgment in place of automated systems.

The proper functioning of ECG systems is intricately tied to a configuration of 12 leads that comprise both standard leads and augmented positive inputs, all meticulously connected through electrodes that are strategically placed on pre-defined anatomical locations on a patient's body. From the potentials that are recorded on the surface of the body, and with varied positive and reference electrodes being selected, each lead produces its own distinct time-varying monopolar signal. When pathological changes manifest in the shape, size, location, input characteristics, and various afflictions affecting the heart, the ECG signal undergoes specific, stringent, and distinctive changes. The comprehensive analysis of the ECG signal, along with the computational derivation of ECG parameters that arise from multiple lead inputs, allows for an excellent and nuanced evaluation of heart performance, functionality, and overall operation.

The ECG system is recognized not only as the best but also as the most popular tool employed in the thorough assessment of cardiac performance, particularly when diagnosing a multitude of heart ailments. Consequently, it has become a standard practice in clinical settings around the world to routinely conduct ECG checks on patients as an integral aspect of their broader medical care, ensuring that cardiac health is continuously monitored and managed efficiently [74, 75, 76, 77, 67, 78, 73, 79].

Chapter - 3

ECG Waveform Analysis

An electrocardiogram, commonly referred to as ECG, is an essential and invaluable recording of the electrical activity emitted by the heart over an extended period of time. It is meticulously produced through a process known as electrocardiography, which harnesses the principles of electrical recording. To capture this vital information, electrodes are strategically placed on the surface of the body, and the heart's dynamic electrical activity is captured and documented from these electrodes. The primary purpose of ECGs is to diagnose a variety of disorders related to the heart, making it one of the simplest, yet most widely utilized tests for identifying heart problems experienced by individuals.

A standard ECG demonstrates and reflects the continuous activity of the heart over a defined period, which is measured in discrete increments of time, commonly referred to as a time scale. This allows for detailed observation and analysis of heart function. The result of the ECG is displayed as a comprehensive graphic representation comprised of the electrical impulses that are generated when depolarization and repolarization of the heart occur, represented visually on paper or other media. This output is known as an electrocardiographic tracing, cycle, or graph.

Each distinct wave within the generated ECG pattern is constructed from tiny yet crucial variations that deviate from the baseline. These ECG waves form a series of deflections, which are systematically labeled as P, Q, R, S, T, and U waves. This intricate electrical activity initiates each heartbeat and subsequently causes the heart muscle to contract. The electrical impulses within the heart also result in the contraction of the muscle, which includes phases of diastolic and systolic relaxation. Normal cycles of depolarization and repolarization are responsible for the rhythmic sequence of electrical activity occurring within the heart.

This entire process is meticulously graphically recorded through electrodes placed on selected areas of the body's surface. An ECG ultimately serves as a graphic representation of the heart's myocardium activity. It operates based on two crucial principles: first, that the heart functions as an

organ capable of generating electrical impulses, and second, that by appropriately positioning electrodes on the body's surface, it is possible to effectively record electrical activity (the ECG) that reflects the heart's activity. By accurately placing these electrodes in their designated locations across the chest, multiple leads provide varied vantage points, allowing for a comprehensive understanding of the same electrical events occurring in the heart. Consequently, the incorporation of multiple leads within an ECG significantly enhances the ability to diagnose and interpret a wide range of cardiac disorders and dysfunctions effectively [1, 80, 14, 2, 4, 81, 82, 83].

3.1 P wave characteristics

A normal P Wave is generally characterized by being small in size and typically appears in an upright (positive) orientation when it is viewed meticulously in Lead II. In contrast, this particular wave tends to exhibit a negative appearance when closely observed in the V1 lead. Under normal circumstances, it is essential that the duration of the P Wave should not exceed 0.11 seconds. Additionally, the height of this wave should not go above 2.5 mm, indicating a standard range for this significant part of the electrocardiogram (ECG). If you happen to encounter a P Wave that exceeds the normal amplitude, it becomes imperative to consider a variety of underlying medical conditions that may be at play. For instance, Right atrial hypertrophy is distinctly marked by a significant enlargement of the P Wave. This enlargement manifests as a noticeable increase in height in the initial upward deflection seen in Lead II, and it is accompanied by a noticeable second positive deflection represented in V1. On the opposite end, Left atrial hypertrophy presents a rather distinct and unusual notched P Wave. This particular waveform is specifically characterized by the presence of a terminal negative deflection in Lead II, together with a positive second deflection that can be identified in V1, creating a unique pattern.

Understanding these variations and nuances is absolutely essential for accurate and effective interpretation during clinical assessments. They offer invaluable insights into the cardiac health of patients and may signal the presence of some underlying pathologies that warrant further investigation. Analyzing these P Wave characteristics thoroughly and effectively is crucial in ensuring that healthcare professionals can make accurate diagnoses and formulate appropriate treatment plans in the vast medical field. Recognizing the significance of these waveforms allows for improved patient outcomes and more effective management of potential cardiovascular issues that patients may face. Thus, a comprehensive and detailed examination of the P Wave's characteristics not only enhances the understanding of an individual patient's

heart condition but also contributes substantially to the overall assessment of their health status and well-being. This detailed exploration into the P Wave's behavior in various leads provides the foundation necessary for understanding complex heart conditions [9, 84, 85, 86, 87, 88, 89].

A P Wave that appears at a rate slower than 60 beats per minute typically suggests the presence of a junctional or nodal rhythm, which is often associated with particular physiological conditions. Conversely, when a P Wave is observed at a faster rate, this points to the possibility of atrial flutter or tachycardia, both of which fall within specific rate ranges of 250-450 beats per minute and 450-600 beats per minute, respectively, indicative of a more urgent clinical scenario. It is essential to note that some P Waves may spontaneously become lost and entirely disappear from observation; however, this phenomenon simply indicates that the depolarization process emanating from the SA node has ceased for a number of cycles. Importantly, this loss of P Waves does not compromise the integrity of the QRS Rate, Velocity, or Shape, which remain largely unaffected and stable, thus preserving the overall functionality of the heart's electrical conduction system. Additionally, it is plausible for well-distorted P Waves to manifest in the electrocardiogram; these variations are often characterized by a negative deflection, an alternating rhythm, and a shallower height when compared to typical P Waves. It can also be accurately stated that while some atrial depolarizations may exhibit abnormal characteristics in shape, size, and rhythm, the QRS complex typically remains normal in appearance, thereby avoiding confusion in diagnosis. A prime example of this scenario is the occurrence of fibrillation waves, which may significantly complicate the interpretation of an electrocardiogram. In some instances, other types of waves may also be detected on the electrocardiogram, adding further complexity to the task of interpretation and analysis, necessitating a thorough and careful review by experienced professionals in the field. Such variations and irregularities underline the importance of a detailed examination of the electrocardiogram to ensure any underlying heart conditions are accurately identified and appropriately managed [90, 91, 92, 93, 94, 95].

3.2 QRS complex analysis

The QRS complex that is observed on the electrocardiogram (ECG) is a specific and intricate combination that is comprised of both R and S waves. These waves are absolutely critical for gaining a comprehensive understanding of the intricacies of heart function and its electrical activities. The QRS complex initiates with a distinctive negative deflection known as the Q wave, which is then succeeded by a large, prominent positive peak that is

referred to as the R wave. This impressive peak stands out significantly and is subsequently followed by another negative deflection called the S wave, thereby completing the entire complex and providing a full representation of this significant electrical phenomenon. This entire arrangement serves as a vital indicator of the electrical depolarization that is occurring within the ventricles of the heart. This process is essential for ensuring proper cardiac functionality and overall health of the individual. Analyzing various aspects such as the QRS axis, duration, and looking for any significant axis deviation or abnormalities in its morphology can provide valuable and significant insights into any underlying heart disease or cardiac conditions that may be present in patients. Consequently, the interpretation of the QRS complex is crucial in comprehensive cardiovascular assessments, as it plays an integral and indispensable role in diagnosing and effectively managing the various heart-related issues and complications that may arise. Understanding these critical elements of the QRS complex can greatly enhance our ability to monitor heart health closely and respond to potential medical concerns with greater precision, effectiveness, and efficacy in treatment strategies [96, 97, 98, 99, 100, 101, 102, 103, 104, 105]

It is absolutely crucial to recognize that not every single lead will consistently showcase a complete and perfect ORS complex within the scope of an electrocardiogram. For instance, in lead V1, a total of seven distinct morphologies can indeed be identified and meticulously observed. All variations present, including those with incomplete patterns, Right Bundle Branch Block (RBBB), and complete patterns, need to be fully acknowledged and thoroughly assessed by medical professionals. The typical sequences of R and S waves might not only be inverted in some specific situations, but they could also be entirely missing in certain complex cases, which can significantly complicate the interpretation of the leads for healthcare providers. Additionally, there can be further conduction pathways that might be present, such as fascicular blocks and various accessory pathways, which further contribute to the complexity and nuances involved in cardiac signal analysis and interpretation. This multifaceted nature of ECG readings serves to emphasize the utmost importance of a careful, methodical, and detailed evaluation process to prevent potential misinterpretations that could lead to incorrect clinical conclusions and negatively affect patient outcomes [9, 106, 107, 108, 109, 110, 111, 112]

Analysed features encompass a wide range of critical aspects, including the width, morphology, and axis orientation of the QRS complex, which are vital for a comprehensive understanding of cardiac function. The QRS duration is typically obtained by meticulously measuring the precise time interval from the definitive onset of the Q wave to the concrete end of the S wave; this meticulous process is captured and expressed in the precise unit of milliseconds (ms). A normal duration for the ORS complex is generally considered to be approximately 0.06 seconds, while intervals that extend from 0.06 to 0.10 seconds are regarded as borderline cases. Such borderline intervals warrant closer examination and further attention to ensure optimal patient outcomes. A broader duration of the QRS complex may suggest some level of conduction abnormality, which could necessitate in-depth investigation, potential clinical intervention, or adjustments in patient management strategies. In the realm of clinical practice, cases in which the QRS duration exceeds 0.12 seconds require careful differentiation between bifascicular and trifascicular blocks, as each type of block bears distinct implications for patient care strategies and recommendations. Furthermore, it is important to note that a normal QRS duration permits the presence of heart rates that exceed 110 beats per minute, which may indicate elevated physiological demands on the cardiovascular system or the presence of other underlying conditions that should be closely monitored. These underlying conditions may lead to potential complications or necessitate therapeutic interventions that ensure the stability and health of the patient. The accurate assessment and analysis of QRS features thus play a significant role in guiding suitable interventions and determining the overall management of cardiovascular health [113, 114, 115, 116, 117, 118].

3.3 T wave interpretation

Negatively charged electrode than the number of negative charges, the measured potential is positive. If the opposite occurs, the potential is negative. The initial negativity of the QRS wave is due to the larger number of positive charges in the left heart. This positive charge, however, cannot be measured by piezoelectric ECG, since there is less negative charge there. The potential then becomes gradually more positive. Although the wave front reaches the conductive fibers of the His-Purkinje system almost simultaneously, there are variations in the conduction speed along the fibers. Ventricular depolarization is completed 60 ms from the onset of excitation. The early repolarization of epicardial myocardial areas produces the T wave, inadvertently interpreted as "left distal ischemia." Some patients with ischemic heart disease show left ventricular hypertrophy, which unfortunately, is erroneously interpreted as being of ischemic origin. The almost equidistant T vector falls into the Schwann layer of the fast-conducting fibers. The T wave should be equal and opposite to the corresponding early part of the QRS wave. Various illnesses

cause subtle changes in the T waves. They can be two-hours-long or until the next heartbeat, making them not suitable for qualification, but most diseases produce well-defined changes detectable within few heart beats. The T wave shows more gradual changes than other parts of the cycle, so it is thought that they are similar with the preconditional geometry of the gradual dorsal activation of the repolarisation process. The T wave is an important wave. The best chances to not give the T wave equal and opposite value is that the epicardial repolarisation is not retarded due to the ischemia or conduction block [119, 120, 121, 122, 123, 124].

3.4 U wave and other variants

U waves: Historical overview and clinical significance

The U wave, which is a specific electrocardiographic deflection, owes its name to the distinguished Dutch physiologist Willem Einthoven, who first identified it back in the year 1903. Since then, the U wave has remained a topic of considerable debate and inquiry, particularly concerning its origin and clinical significance within the field of modern cardiology. Normal U waves, which are typically observed consistently in healthy individuals, maintain the same polarity as the preceding T waves, thus establishing a reliable pattern. However, in specific pathological conditions, U waves can undergo notable changes; for instance, they frequently diminish in amplitude and may even become negative, particularly in cases of mitral stenosis and ischaemic heart disease. This variability indicates a complex relationship between the U wave and the underlying cardiac pathology.

Furthermore, aberrant U waves have been documented in several conditions of cardiac arrhythmia, highlighting the variable behavior and significance of these waves in different clinical contexts. The presence of negative U waves, when they do occur, is particularly noteworthy; they may serve as critical clinical indicators, potentially representing some of the earliest markers for unstable angina and the subsequent development of myocardial infarction. Beyond the realm of cardiovascular diseases, U waves have also been recorded in cases involving anxiety disorders, left ventricular enlargement, congenital long QT syndrome, and a range of other significant cardiovascular events such as syncope, emphasizing their potential connection to broader health issues.

This text presents an interesting case of prominent and inverted midprecordial U waves observed in a patient diagnosed with unstable angina. Interestingly, these abnormal waves disappeared suddenly after the patient underwent a percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty (PTCA) procedure. This instance underlines the importance of the U wave not only as a diagnostic tool but also as a dynamic element that can reflect the effectiveness of interventional cardiology, thus contributing to a deeper understanding of its clinical implications [125, 126, 127, 128, 129, 130, 131, 132].

U wave aberrations

U waves are traditionally of the same polarity as the adjacent T waves that are observed in individuals considered normal subjects. However, the presence and recognition of a negative U wave can carry immense clinical importance and significant implications for patient diagnosis and treatment. Some additional variants that have been identified include the intriguing phenomenon of the "non-polarity" of the U wave in relation to the T wave, a phenomenon that unfortunately remains poorly documented and explored in the existing medical literature. Aberrant U waves can manifest as either positive or negative U waves in the electrocardiographic leads where these waves are typically expected to demonstrate the opposite polarity. This characteristic may possess considerable diagnostic significance, particularly in the context of acute mitral regurgitation, which is a serious condition that absolutely requires careful, thorough evaluation and attention from healthcare professionals. Inverted U waves are particularly notable because they not only have a variety of underlying causes that can lead to their development but also occasionally exhibit unique features that can greatly aid in creating a differential diagnosis. For instance, in classical cases where mitral stenosis is present, U waves are generally seen as being upright in the inferior leads of the electrocardiogram; however, they tend to become inverted as the QRS complex expands and widens, indicating a significant shift in cardiac dynamics. Furthermore, in situations where acute mitral regurgitation occurs, the negative U waves that develop, when they are indeed present, tend to appear simultaneously across all leads, creating a uniform pattern that extends consistently down to the second row of the electrocardiogram. This uniformity can provide clinicians with critical, invaluable insight throughout the diagnostic process and management of their patients, emphasizing the importance of thorough U wave assessment in relationship to T waves in various cardiac conditions, highlighting the intricate interplay between these waveforms in the field of cardiology [126, 133, 134, 135, 136, 137].

Case report

A relaxed 50-year-old male patient presented to the clinic with rest angina, which was notably precipitated during periods of walking. He exhibited a limited number of standard risk factors that are typically associated

with the development of coronary artery disease. A resting electrocardiogram (ECG) was performed and revealed a normal sinus rhythm (NSR), accompanied by upright (90 degrees) T waves across all leads, except in lead V1. Remarkably, the mid-precordial leads V3, V4, and V5 displayed prominent inverted U waves (180 degrees), indicating an unusual pattern of cardiac electrical activity. Additionally, a high-dose propensity dobutamine drip was administered; however, it did not yield any significant changes on the ECG, likely attributable to the elevated heart rates experienced by the patient during this specific period.

Further investigation showed that a coronary angiogram revealed a discrete tight stenosis, measuring a concerning 95%, located in the mid left anterior descending (LAD) artery, highlighting a critical area needing immediate medical attention. Subsequently, percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty (PTCA) with stenting was successfully performed, although it was necessary to first correct for the contracted left atrium that had been observed in prior evaluations. After the PTCA and stenting procedure was completed, marked disappearance of the previously identified U waves in the mid-precordial leads was noted, while the persistence of the still-dominating upright T waves continued to be observed in the same leads. This indicates significant electrical changes that occurred following the intervention, reflecting the patient's improved cardiac condition post-procedure. The clinical team remains vigilant in monitoring for any further developments, emphasizing the importance of thorough follow-ups and further evaluations in managing the patient's ongoing health [138, 139, 140, 141, 142].

Chapter - 4

Common ECG Rhythms

It is abundantly clear that in a patient presenting with numerous cardiac symptoms, an electrocardiogram, specifically a 12-lead ECG, stands out as the quickest and undeniably most well-validated method currently available that can effectively exclude important and potentially serious cardiovascular diseases in a timely manner. These cardiovascular diseases include a wide range of conditions such as hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, myocardial ischaemia, myocardial infarction, left ventricular hypertrophy, atrial fibrillation, and other potentially life-threatening arrhythmias. The efficiency of this procedure is particularly noteworthy, as it can be conducted in just a few minutes, with subsequent interpretation requiring only a very brief period, all while being remarkably cost-effective for both patients seeking care and healthcare systems striving to provide efficient services. Even though there exist certain limitations that are inherent to this methodology, the overall performance of the ECG, when performed by the majority of adequately trained individuals, is generally good, with only a few notable exceptions that should be brought to light. In particular, non-physician personnel may occasionally misplace or misinterpret the lead configuration due to unfamiliarity, or they might happen to download and interrogate an ECG at a less-than-optimal time, which potentially compromises the quality of the results obtained in such cases. However, it should be emphasized that instances of such errors are quite rare, and they typically do not impact the broader reliability and utility of the ECG as a diagnostic tool. Moreover, outside of North America, preparing and interpreting the ECG usually represents one of the very first and crucial tasks that a physician undertakes during the comprehensive evaluation of a patient with possible cardiovascular issues, significantly informing subsequent medical decisions. With the remarkable advancements brought about by contemporary medical technologies, which have led to the availability of smaller, portable, and userfriendly ECG machines that are also more affordable, the capability to utilize one of these devices for diagnostic purposes should be straightforward and widely accessible for almost anyone involved in patient care and clinical assessment. This significant shift has made it considerably easier for healthcare providers and clinicians to quickly and accurately assess potential heart-related conditions, thereby enhancing the overall quality of patient care and improving outcomes for individuals at risk of cardiovascular events [143, 144, 145, 146, 147, 148, 149, 150]

Unfortunately, acquiring knowledge is one thing, but effectively retaining and applying that knowledge in clinical practice is another matter entirely. It is all too easy, after enduring a few deliriously busy days or nights on call, for key ECGs to remain unread and unassessed, leading to missed opportunities for patient evaluation and intervention. This issue is especially pronounced in the middle of the night when the patient is asleep, stable, and often not presenting any immediate concerns that require urgent attention. In such scenarios, while a provisional printout may serve as a temporary placeholder for reference, it is far from ideal and should ideally be reviewed thoroughly and diligently if at all possible during the same shift. This proactive approach allows for any crucial details to be evaluated against the backdrop of the patient's evolving clinical picture. Ideally, this review should take place alongside careful references to prior tracings to ensure continuity of care and avoid any oversight that could potentially lead to suboptimal patient outcomes. Despite the impressively high and continually growing incidence of 12-lead ECGs being performed by a diverse range of personnel across different settings from bustling emergency rooms to quieter outpatient clinics it remains a significant concern that these critical tracings may go unread or overlooked, particularly by the cardiologist or physician tasked with interpreting them. In the last few decades, this particular task has been considerably aided by the development of extensive and specialized expertise at the pre-hospital and non-specialist levels, which has significantly enhanced the overall workflow and efficacy of cardiac care across various environments. The importance of timely and accurate interpretation of ECG tracings cannot be overstated, as these readings are pivotal for diagnosing conditions that may be lifethreatening if not correctly identified and treated promptly. The incorporation of systemic checks and balances into the process may also help mitigate these risks, ensuring that even during the most hectic shifts, vital ECG analyses are not neglected and that health care providers remain vigilant regarding the critical importance of these diagnostic tools in patient management [69, 151, 152, 153, 154, 155, 68, 156]

4.1 Normal sinus rhythm

The surface Electrocardiogram (ECG) is an indispensable and widely employed tool within the field of medical practice and clinical evaluation, playing a vital role in diagnostics and patient assessment. This technology is characterized by its rapidity, accessibility, and low financial cost, which makes it a preferred option utilized across the globe to provide a standard, reproducible, and carefully documented record of heart rhythm, heart rate, and any underlying cardiac abnormalities that may be present in patients. This invaluable diagnostic tool offers a wealth of intricate information relating to the electrical activity of the heart, specifically focusing on crucial processes such as atrial and ventricular depolarization as well as repolarization, which are fundamental for understanding cardiac function. A thorough comprehension of the elements that are visualized on an ECG will not only enhance patient care significantly but also improve the retrieval of important information, foster better understanding of essential clinical skills necessary for effective diagnostics, and assist in clarifying any ambiguities or uncertainties that may arise during the interpretation of these vital diagnostic readings.

This section meticulously addresses the key aspects related to standard 12-lead ECG equipment, highlighting its proper usage, the standardized ECG leads along with their precise placement, and key ECG parameters that must be recognized for accurate interpretation. Additionally, it will discuss the acquisition of a high-quality ECG, addressing common artefacts that could mislead results and distort the true representation of cardiac activity. The exploration of the foundational basics of electrocardiography will provide a robust and comprehensive framework for its application in clinical practice, which is imperative for delivering high-quality patient care. Moreover, the significance of continuous education and informed training in interpreting ECGs cannot be emphasized enough, as the ever-evolving advancements in technology and methodologies continually present new challenges and opportunities for healthcare professionals aiming to enhance their diagnostic capabilities. The incorporation of innovative tools and techniques into standard ECG practices will contribute critically to improved diagnostic accuracy, ultimately leading to better patient outcomes across a diverse range of populations and demographic groups in need of cardiac evaluation and care [9, 69, 74, 157, 158, 159, 160, 82, 161]

The normal ECG trace is notably characterized by a cyclical rhythm that is made up of repeating PQRST complexes. The important phenomenon known as normal sinus rhythm (NSR) occurs when the heart's electrical activity is conducted in a normal, predictable, and efficient manner. The sinus node, which is often referred to as the heart's natural pacemaker, serves as the crucial origin point for the impulses that trigger the process of depolarization. It is precisely for this reason that this rhythmic activity is commonly referred

to as sinus rhythm. Furthermore, this particular rhythm is distinctly defined by a heart rate that generally ranges from 60 to 100 beats per minute; therefore, it is absolutely essential to interpret the rhythm in relation to the heart rate that is measured at that time. The critical components of the normal ECG – specifically the P wave, the QRS complex, and the T wave – must occur in a predictable and well-defined pattern throughout each complete heart cycle, which is why it is vital for accurate diagnosis as well as ongoing monitoring of cardiac function. Any deviation from this pattern can indicate potential issues with heart health and requires careful evaluation by medical professionals [162, 163, 164, 165, 166, 167].

A rhythm in the context of cardiac activity is understood to be regular and consistent when the peaks of the ECG waves appear at evenly spaced intervals that are predictable, exhibiting a standardized P-P interval, which refers to the time between consecutive P waves, as well as a similarly well-defined R-R interval, which pertains to the spacing between successive R waves in the QRS complex. A normal sinus rhythm (NSR) is specifically characterized by its regularity and predictability, featuring upright P waves that are consistently present in most of the leads on an ECG strip, with a P wave preceding every QRS complex. This means that for every heartbeat, there is a corresponding wave that denotes atrial depolarization, followed seamlessly by ventricular depolarization represented by the QRS complex. Furthermore, there is a normal PR interval that maintains consistent timing, ensuring that the electrical signals are transmitted through the heart in an orderly manner. It is also essential that the QRS complex is derived in a narrow fashion to ensure proper heart function, indicating efficient electrical conduction through the ventricles. On the other hand, sinus arrhythmia is identified when the P-P interval is notably wide, suggesting variability in the contraction cycles of the heart. This condition may arise from increased vagal tone, which can induce a normal and physiological slowing of the heart rate during inspiration, creating a natural ebb and flow in heartbeats. Sinus arrhythmia is also quite prevalent among patients experiencing bradycardia, where the heart rate is slower than normal, showcasing how variations in rhythm can occur based on physiological responses and adjustments made by the autonomic nervous system to various stimuli and internal states, emphasizing the complexity of heart rhythm regulation [168, 169, 170, 171, 172, 173, 174, 175]

4.2 Atrial fibrillation

Atrial Fibrillation (AF) is increasingly recognized as the most prevalent cardiac arrhythmia that impacts individuals across the globe, with its prevalence continuously on the rise. The identification and diagnosis of AF is

primarily achieved through the utilization of an electrocardiogram (ECG), which functions as an essential and pivotal diagnostic tool in the detection and confirmation of the presence of this complex condition. In the clinical context of AF, a defining characteristic is the notable absence of P waves identified across all leads that are typically observed in a standard ECG tracing. This absence is frequently accompanied by an irregularly irregular heart rate, often leading to a range of cardiovascular complications that can significantly affect patient health. The unique electrocardiographic (ECG) findings that are specifically and distinctly indicative of AF are elaborated upon in the subsequent sections of medical literature dedicated to this subject. Atrial fibrillation is particularly characterized by the manifestation of atrial electrical activity that is disarrayed, resulting in a chaotically fluctuating cycle length, which is in stark contrast to the organized and uniform morphology of P waves observed in conditions such as atrial flutter and atrial tachycardia.

From a clinical perspective, AF is expressly defined by the absence of organized atrial activity, which is formally termed clinical AF. However, ECG investigators and cardiologists frequently delve deeper into various types of analysis, especially time-domain analysis which emphasizes the intervals between successive cardiac cycles and frequency-domain analysis, which meticulously measures the distribution of electrical power across distinct frequency bands. This analytical approach is implemented to effectively quantify the extent of atrial electrical remodeling that occurs within the context of AF. Furthermore, an excessive burden of AF that an individual patient may experience is often transient in nature, underscoring the pressing necessity for continuous and vigilant monitoring to facilitate successful detection and efficient management of this arrhythmia.

In the procedures outlined as (A)–(B), a continuous and robust processing of a 9-lead ECG dataset is rigorously conducted. Initially, the raw 9-lead ECG signals undergo a process of rectification, which is followed by their conversion into frequency domain signals employing methodologies such as short-term Fourier transform or continuous wavelet transform. This method enables an effective separation of AF signals from the inherent baseline noise, allowing for the detailed visualization of the resultant signals, as demonstrated in section (D) of our findings. Nevertheless, it's critical to note that the Independent Component Analysis (ICA) scattering plot remains invariant when evaluating both the left atrial (LA) and right atrial (RA) ablation procedures, which presents a considerable limitation in accurately classifying and labeling pathological changes that arise between the LA and RA. Conversely, when the data is analyzed against a backdrop of normal AF, the

ECG recordings that identify rhythm bundle branch block exhibit a notable doubling of the redundant sampling frequency peaks, signifying complex underlying cardiac dynamics. Additionally, ECGs that present no signs of fibrillation reveal a significantly smoother deviation when compared to those indicative of normal filling AF, which merits further investigation. As illustrated in section (C), there exists an innovative and rapid procedure designed specifically for extracting label-free ECG features through the utilization of 2-D discrete wavelet transform (DWT) representation, which notably enhances the overall diagnostic process in various clinical settings [176, 177, 178, 179, 180, 181, 182, 183, 184]

4.3 Ventricular tachycardia

The most commonly recognized and encountered variety of Wide Complex Tachycardia (WCT), an abbreviation for the condition involving a QRS duration that is equal to or exceeds 0.12 seconds, that is frequently seen in clinical practice is known as Ventricular Tachycardia (VT). In patients who lack a significant and meaningful prior history of any form of heart disease, widespaced complex tachycardia that emerges with a normal baseline is regarded as being quite an uncommon occurrence. When an arrhythmia is detected and identified, it is often closely correlated with a specific clinical presentation that becomes essential for establishing connections with a range of potential diagnoses that could be accountable for the arrhythmia at hand. The differential diagnosis for such clinical cases typically consists of either Ventricular Tachycardia (VT), which must be carefully considered, or Supraventricular Wide Complex Tachycardia (SWCT). Effectively distinguishing between ventricular tachycardia and supraventricular wide complex tachycardia has tremendous significance, as it is vital for determining and optimizing the acute and chronic management strategies concerning the patient's overall cardiac and health status.

When it comes to the immediate and acute treatment of ventricular tachycardia, it generally adheres to a distinctly different and, in fact, more aggressive treatment pathway when compared to the immediate approach taken for Supraventricular Wide Complex Tachycardia (SWCT). Being able to properly differentiate between the two, ventricular tachycardia and supraventricular wide complex tachycardia, carries paramount significance in various clinical settings, since an accurate diagnosis can effectively prevent not only the potentially fatal consequences that might arise from undue delays in the treatment of an acute VT event but also aid in avoiding extraneous invasive procedures for arrhythmias that do not exhibit pleiotropic characteristics. Moreover, timely and precise diagnosis enables clinicians to

better customize and tailor therapeutic interventions specifically suited to the individual patient, thereby improving overall patient outcomes dramatically and significantly reducing the associated risks that come with these troublesome and potentially life-threatening cardiac arrhythmias [185, 186, 187, 188, 189]

The strategy to implement when confronted with patients exhibiting wide complex tachycardia (WCT) is one that necessitates a comprehensive evaluation of the QRS width, which is then immediately followed by a classification process, sorting into either narrow complexes (QRS < 0.12 seconds) or wide complexes (QRS > 0.12 seconds). The narrow complex tachycardia can be further subdivided into a diverse range of distinct arrhythmias. These can include, but are not limited to, atrial flutter that may present with variable atrioventricular (AV) conduction, in addition to AV nodal re-entrant tachycardia (AVRT), along with AV re-entrant tachycardia (AVRT) as well. Conversely, the category of wide QRS complexes must then be thoroughly, carefully differentiated into two primary types: ventricular tachycardia (VT) or supraventricular tachycardia (SVT) that is displaying aberration, which may stem from various conditions such as bundle branch block or the presence of an accessory pathway that links the essential nodes in ways that may not be immediately obvious. A meticulous, careful review of the specific characteristics associated with each individual type of arrhythmia is of utmost importance in aiding the initial diagnosis and accurate assessment of the patient's overall medical condition. Crucially, the process of electrocardiogram (ECG) documentation stands out as one of the most critical steps in ensuring a correct diagnosis and then subsequently developing viable treatment plans that are effective and responsive to the needs of the patient. This comprehensive documentation can be conducted utilizing either a simple 3-lead or a more advanced, comprehensive 12-lead ECG system, which facilitates greater detail and clarity in the evaluations made. In every situation and scenario, it is of the utmost importance to systematically categorize the various tachycardias into two distinct groups: those that present with narrow QRS complexes (QRS < 0.12 seconds) and those that present with wide QRS complexes (QRS > 0.12 seconds). Consequently, this painstaking classification not only aids in facilitating an organized approach but also significantly enhances the understanding and identification of the myriad types of arrhythmias that may potentially be present within the patient, ultimately improving the overall quality of care that is provided to them [67, 69, 190, 157, 191, 156, 192, 193, 194, 195]

Are considered BRADYCARDIA when the heart rate drops below 60 beats per minute, which is a significant threshold that indicates a slower than

normal heart rhythm. Bradycardia can arise from a wide array of bradyarrhythmias stemming from various underlying causes; these causes can originate from intrinsic disease processes affecting the sinus node itself, a condition commonly referred to as sick sinus syndrome. On the other hand, bradycardia may also occur due to several external factors influencing the heart's rhythm these frequently lead to increased vagal activity or a decrease in levels of adrenergic activity. Typically, BRADYCARDIA tends to be asymptomatic for many individuals; however, incidents of syncope or nearsyncope can indeed occur in certain patients experiencing this particular condition. While additional symptoms beyond syncope, such as dizziness, fatigue, or incorrect sensations of heartbeats sometimes referred to as palpitations are not typically a direct result of bradycardia, they may occasionally be reported as patients' subjective experiences. Furthermore, prolonged periods of ventricular asystole, which are defined as lasting greater than 3 to 5 seconds, have been notably linked to occurrences of syncope in affected individuals. In a scenario where a patient is experiencing episodes of syncope or near-syncope, particularly when these episodes are in conjunction with demonstrated bradycardia, the classic and essential questions to pose to healthcare providers or caregivers would be, "did it occur while standing?" and "did it take place during any form of exertion or activity?" If there are no associated exertional symptoms or significant postural changes observed during these episodes, and a thorough monitoring period of 5 minutes reveals no episodes of asystole, it is quite likely that the patient is dealing with an intrinsic problem relating to the sinus node that is unfortunately not adequately capturing the atria. This condition, characteristic of a concerning entity known as sick sinus syndrome, signifies a more complex management challenge. These patients may often experience periods that are marked by persistent bradycardia, along with time-variant atrial arrhythmias that serve to complicate the overall clinical picture presented during their evaluation. Such clinical complexity underscores the vital importance of careful assessment and continuous monitoring in patients exhibiting bradycardia to ensure that there is an appropriate diagnosis and management of their cardiac health and wellbeing. Regular follow-ups and consultations with specialists who can evaluate the intricacies of such conditions are absolutely essential in order to provide adequate care [196, 197, 198, 199, 200, 201].

4.4 Bradyarrhythmias

Bradycardia is clinically defined as a heart rate that consistently falls below 50 beats per minute, a measurement recognized and acknowledged in both clinical and medical settings. This condition, while it may seem benign

or harmless at times, can arise due to a variety of underlying mechanisms and can be attributed to numerous different etiologies, making its impact quite complex. Among the various forms of bradycardia, the most prevalent and commonly encountered type is known as sinusal bradycardia. This specific condition is characterized by a pronounced reduction in the intrinsic rate of the temporary pacemaker, which is strategically located in the sinoatrial (SA) node. This node is crucial for maintaining a regular and consistent heartbeat, playing a vital role in the overall function of the heart. A reduction in heart rate specifically occurs when there exists a normally functioning conduction system positioned distal to this essential pacemaker node, which allows for electrical impulses to travel effectively and efficiently through the chambers of the heart.

Sinusal bradycardia may occur as a physiological phenomenon in certain individuals; for example, it is often observed in highly trained athletes whose bodies adapt over time, often in response to rigorous training regimens that aim to maintain lower heart rates during extensive periods of endurance training and sustained physical activity. This fascinating adaptation is a remarkable response of the cardiovascular system to consistent stress and increased demand, reflecting the body's ability to optimize its functions. However, this condition can also be induced by a diverse and multifactorial range of cardiac disorders, which may include issues with the conduction system of the heart itself. Additionally, there are extra-cardiac conditions that might lead to a decreased rate of diastolic depolarization or may result in an increased duration of the diastolic phase itself. As a consequence of these complex interrelations, bradycardia can ultimately affect the overall heart rhythm and function, which can be critically important in understanding both the clinical presentation and the appropriate management of bradycardia among various patient populations.

It is essential to recognize that differentiating the underlying cause of bradycardia is key for establishing appropriate treatment and management strategies, particularly in those who may present with significant symptoms such as dizziness, fatigue, or syncope, which can have associated risks that may occur in relation to a reduced heart rate. This understanding can lead to better-informed clinical decisions and potential interventions that could significantly enhance patient outcomes and quality of life. Medical professionals must remain vigilant and thorough in their assessments and evaluations to provide timely and effective care for those impacted by this complex heart rhythm condition, ensuring they are treated with the utmost attention and expertise [202, 203, 204, 205, 206, 207].

Sinoatrial (SA) block is a specific and widely recognized type of conduction disorder that occurs when the electrical impulses generated within the sinus node are either intermittently conducted to the atrial myocardium or are entirely and completely blocked from reaching it. This significant phenomenon can have substantial implications for cardiac function, often leading to serious clinical consequences, and it is classified according to criteria set forth by the renowned Wenckebach classification system, a method that underscores the importance of distinguishing the various types of conduction blocks for effective treatment.

There are several notable and distinct types of SA block, each possessing unique and defining characteristics and representing different mechanisms behind the conduction disturbances that occur in the heart:

- 1) Type 1 Mobitz type I, also known as Sinoatrial Wenckebach, is a type of conduction block in which there is a gradual lengthening of the cycle length that continues in a progressive manner until a specific P wave is ultimately blocked from being conducted to the next phase of the heartbeat. This gradual increase in the cycle length is critical for identifying this specific type of conduction disorder, as it presents a distinct pattern that can be clinically observed, allowing healthcare professionals to make accurate diagnoses.
- 2) Type 2 Mobitz type II, in contrast, is characterized by a completely constant cycle length, which may sometimes exhibit a minor variance in the PR interval immediately preceding the point where a P wave becomes blocked. This notable constancy can often lead to confusion among practitioners, as the steady and rhythmic nature of the cycle does not always suggest an underlying problem until a blockage occurs, which can be sudden and unexpected, complicating the clinical picture.
- 3) Additionally, there is a Type 2-to-1 block, referred to as Wenckebach 2-to-1, where P waves at a specific cycle length may either be conducted smoothly or blocked in a repeating and rhythmic sequence; in this particular case, nearly half of the impulses generated from the sinus node are not conducted at all. This further demonstrates the complexity and intricate nature of this conduction disorder within the broader context of the cardiac electrical system. This type exemplifies the varying patterns of conduction disturbances that can occur, highlighting the urgent need for careful diagnosis and effective management in affected individuals to mitigate potential risks to their cardiac health [208, 209, 210, 211, 212, 213, 214, 215, 216]

SA conduction abnormalities can present themselves in a wide range of different forms, most notably including second-degree block as well as complete SA block. Second-degree SA block can manifest in various types, such as type 1, which is commonly known as SA Wenckebach, and type 2, which is referred to as SA Mobitz. There is even a more complex variant known as a 2-to-1 SA block, reflecting a deeper level of intricacy in cardiac conduction patterns and exhibiting unique features that make it an important consideration in clinical settings. On the other hand, complete SA block, often referred to as SA arrest, is characterized by an intermittent failure in the conduction of all impulses that are generated within the SA node. This condition leads to a significantly prolonged cycle length that can become quite pronounced and is easily observed on an electrocardiogram during monitoring. When a transition to an escape rhythm occurs, this may result in a marked loss of atrial activity; in such situations, the escape rhythm often showcases a lower frequency, typically around 40 beats per minute, which is significantly less than the normal range for atrial activity. Additionally, this escape rhythm is frequently associated with an observable loss of variation in the cycle length, which adds another layer of complexity to the dynamics of cardiac rhythm. The overall physiological response of the heart is further complicated by these factors, creating significant challenges for maintaining effective cardiovascular function. This necessitates careful monitoring and potential therapeutic interventions to manage the associated risks and complications that can arise from these conduction abnormalities, ensuring that the patient's heart functions optimally despite the inherent challenges posed by such conditions [217, 218, 219, 220, 221, 222, 223].

Chapter - 5

ECG Interpretation Techniques

ECG interpretation techniques can be classified into two primary categories: defibrillator-based analysis and integrated-ECG-based analysis. The former type of technique finds a prevalent application in various automatic external defibrillator systems, which play a critical and crucial role in guiding lifesaving interventions during emergencies that involve cardiac issues and other critical situations, thus highlighting their significance in pre-hospital and hospital emergency care. In contrast, the latter method will be the main focus of this review article, which delves into its principles and methodologies. This article aims to shed light on the importance and widespread application of integrated-ECG-based analysis within the broader realm of ECG signal analysis, pinpointing its necessity in modern medical practice and emphasizing its influence on patient outcomes. Within the expansive field of ECG signal analysis, there exist two fundamental and essential procedures that shape the entire analytical process and markedly influence the results we achieve. These include contour registration and signal characterization in both the time domain and frequency domain, with particular emphasis on heart rate variability (HRV) analysis, which itself is an incredibly valuable tool for assessing the autonomic nervous system's regulation of heart activity and its implications for overall health.

To briefly summarize, the primary objective of contour registration is to ensure that the peak locations of an ECG signal can be accurately identified and precisely registered for further in-depth analysis, which is vital for deriving meaningful interpretations from the data. Meanwhile, the primary goal of signal characterization is to evaluate and characterize the overall quality of the ECG signal by computing additional pertinent features derived from both time-domain and frequency-domain analyses. This approach ultimately allows for a more comprehensive understanding of the patient's cardiovascular health and any potential underlying conditions. More specifically, the process of ECG contour registration is composed of three successive and methodical steps that require careful attention to detail. These steps include the pre-processing of the ECG signal to reduce interference, the recognition of the distinct ECG wave peaks for accurate identification, and the

subsequent refinement of the previously detected wave peaks to ensure that their measurements hold valid accuracy. High-frequency noise and baseline wandering represent significant challenges that can distort an ECG signal, subsequently obstructing peak detection and crucial insights prior to the implementation of a contour registration method.

To improve the overall quality of the ECG signal and to facilitate more accurate analysis, various techniques such as baseline correction, straightforward filtering, wavelet thresholding, and several additional procedures can be effectively employed to mitigate the effects of noise, ensuring that the data remains reliable and clinically relevant. Following the pre-filtering process, the waveforms are subjected to a bandpass filter that is specifically designed to exclude any noise, whether it's high-frequency or low-frequency, that may compromise the integrity of the original signal and introduce errors in this critical analysis. The effect of applying this comprehensive filtering process is visually represented in data illustrations that indicate the resultant signal comprises more coherent peaks, significantly enhancing the data's integrity and relevance. These peaks appear to be a clearly visible mix of the five successive P-Q-R-S-T waves, which display a clearer and more defined delineation of the peaks that are essential for further analysis, providing a necessary foundation for accurate heart-related insights and helping clinicians make well-informed decisions.

Subsequently, the most prominent peak within this composite signal is identified, selected, and formally designated as the R-peak of the first complex, which serves as a vital reference point in the analysis. The R-peak is typically situated at a higher sample point in comparison to the preceding wave, establishing its importance and relevance in the analytical framework. Given the challenges inherent in visualizing the entire ECG signal and estimating the R-peak solely through visual inspection, a top-down recursive search strategy becomes essential in effectively locating the growing R-peak within the composite signal, ensuring a systematic approach to data reliability. Most branch search trees generally direct towards an R-peak located at the 669th sample point, while a smaller number of searches may lead to alternative R-peak sample points at 670, 672, and 673, illustrating the variability and complexity inherent in ECG signal analysis and emphasizing the importance of robust algorithms in peak detection. In addition, a parallel search process is executed for subsequent R-peaks to ensure consistency and accuracy across the dataset, refining the analysis and securing data integrity. As a result, a precise and consistent sequence of R-peak locations is obtained, thereby laying a solid foundation for deeper analysis and providing a comprehensive understanding of the ECG characteristics as they evolve over time, which can significantly contribute to improved diagnostic capabilities and the enhancement of patient care in clinical settings ^[1,80].

5.1 Systematic approach to ECG interpretation

The ECG is a vital clinical aid across the spectrum of patients in cardiology, emergency, intensive care, and primary care settings. However, the ECG can also be a source of confusion for even experienced clinicians. Highly variable presentation and potential for serious disease mean that an overly optimistic approach to interpreting potentially abnormal findings can lead to problems. A systematic approach is essential for the safe and effective use of the ECG in clinical practice and education. This review describes a systematic approach to ECG interpretation that has evolved over a number of years of teaching and practicing electrocardiography, and that is taught across a variety of settings to both novice and experienced clinicians with positive feedback. The key to successful ECG interpretation is to examine carefully what is present first, rather than focus on what may not be there. In order to apply this strategy, an ordered approach to interpretation is needed [9]. To present a systematic approach, there is first a discussion of some of the general factors that should be taken into account when interpreting the ECG. Then a three-step methodology that applies to all 12-lead ECGs is explored, which covers everything that should be systematically and carefully examined in the interpretation, and a number of subsequent considerations when reflecting on the interpretation. The aim is to re-introduce the ECG as an interesting and comprehensive topic, and one that can be effectively studied and learned by all clinicians regardless of background or level of training [224, 69, 151, 225].

ECG is a simple and powerful clinical tool that can quickly demonstrate the cardiac electrical activity to a physician. It is a valuable diagnostic tool for determining the heart rhythm, rate, axis, hypertrophy, diseases, electrolyte status, and drug effects, and it can usually be interpreted within a few minutes [1]. However, there are some limitations in using ECG due to its wide normal ranges. It is therefore of paramount importance for healthcare professionals (HCPs) to have the necessary competency to read and interpret the ECG. In addition to common cardiology syndromes, rare syndromes have been identified and characterized by their specific ECG patterns, which are unique for each condition. The instant identification of these patterns may lead to the immediate and proper management and treatment of patients with favorable morbidity and mortality outcomes. The ECG is an excellent first-line diagnostic test for these rare diseases because of its availability and many advantages. Although comprehensive research in this field has been published,

thus revealing the basic patterns of various rare cardiological syndromes, information focused on rare syndromes is generally lacking [226, 67, 76].

5.2 Identifying abnormalities

The ECG, or electrocardiogram, is an advanced electronic recording that captures the heart's electrical activity in real-time, providing a critical tool for diagnosing and monitoring various cardiovascular conditions. Contemporary ECG machines are equipped with sophisticated technology that allows them to digitize the ECG signal, which facilitates not only efficient storage but also thorough analysis and convenient access for healthcare professionals who rely on this data for patient care. The ECG signals can be accurately recorded from multiple leads, often referred to as electrodes, which are strategically positioned at defined points on the surface of the body to ensure optimal data collection. There are numerous styles of ECGs available, each varying significantly with respect to the number of leads employed in the standard tests. However, the most commonly utilized version across many healthcare settings is the standard 12-lead ECG format, widely recognized for its effectiveness in diagnosing cardiac conditions. In general, the process of ECG determination necessitates not only providing precise lead placement but also ensuring a knowledgeable and meaningful interpretation of the results obtained by healthcare professionals. It is important to note that the marketplace for businesses involved in selling ECG analysis systems, as well as the medical clients utilizing these systems, can differ considerably based on various factors from one region to another around the globe, reflecting local variations in healthcare practices, patient demographics, and technological advancements. This diversity in the market showcases the complexity and nuances of cardiac care across different healthcare systems [9, 227, 228, 229, 230, 231, 5, 232, 233]

The interpretation of the ECG, which is often perceived as a remarkably challenging task particularly for cardiovascular physicians, is, unfortunately, by countless healthcare professionals across various settings, inappropriately simplified and unjustly reduced to mere standardization that lacks depth and nuance. Rare and increasingly complex cardiological syndromes have been meticulously described and classified in accordance with their specific ECG patterns, providing a distinct and recognizable fingerprint for each syndrome by concentrating on a select few unique morphologies that stand out within the otherwise common ECG. These specific patterns can be crucial; the accurate identification of these intricate ECG patterns may lead to a more direct and immediate engagement of emergency and cornered physicians in critical situations, illustrating not only a broader application but also enabling

more immediate and safer management strategies, as well as comprehensive treatment protocols for the patient while considering the anxieties of their concerned relatives. Furthermore, when this interpretation is thoughtfully combined with existing clinical information, the analysis of the ECG can potentially be utilized to effectively differentiate between a wide array of differential diagnoses while fitting into various diagnostic classifications, thereby enhancing patient care and outcomes in a meaningful and substantial way, ultimately fostering an environment where both patients and healthcare providers feel supported and informed [1, 66, 234, 156, 235, 102, 236].

The 12-lead ECG is widely recognized throughout the medical community as the most commonly performed cardiological investigation in clinical practice. Healthcare professionals, including physicians, nurses, and technicians, frequently request these vital tests to identify whether there has been a previous myocardial infarction (MI) or to thoroughly assess any ongoing or impending events that may be indicative of cardiac distress or dysfunction. The 12-lead ECG plays a key role in determining the underlying cardiac rhythm and is essential for coordinating the comprehensive assessment of the pulmonary vasculature. The wealth of information contained within a standard 12-lead ECG cannot be easily deduced or adequately analyzed from just limited lead data or a monotonous tracing that lacks adequate detail. Each beat's start time is specifically labeled with its designated name, and the time length of each cardiac cycle is meticulously computed to provide further insights into overall heart function. The discrete time sampling method transforms the raw data into a digital format, facilitating advanced analyses that can uncover hidden patterns within the heart's electrical activity. Moreover, the digitized ECG signals undergo a negative-peak detection process, which is a critical component employed to accurately identify the 'R' peaks of the ECG tracing. This allows for precise and reliable interpretations that are essential for clinical decision-making in the management of cardiovascular health [237, 5, 228, 238, 227, 239].

5.3 Clinical correlation

Glycogen storage disease, particularly emphasizing non-cardiac glycogenosis, brings to light numerous and distinct challenges when it comes to the interpretation of cardiac activity. Within this context, there exists a notable and significant glycogen displacement that can be observed within the myocardium, offering potential insights into distinctive alterations and variations that may appear on a 12-lead ECG. This specific phenomenon encompasses a form of digital hyperactivity, which is notably characterized by ST elevation, a key marker of cardiac distress. Such alterations and changes

can closely mimic the clinical presentation typically associated with an acute myocardial infarction, thereby creating a significant risk of confusion and misdiagnosis during the evaluation process. In such critical instances, it is paramount to understand that the anterior spacing leads were primarily utilized when conducting the analysis of the ECG changes observed. It is also interesting to note that this same type of glycogen displacement can manifest prominently in the precordial day leads from V2 to V5, contributing to the overall complexity of the diagnostic picture. Experts widely agree that the ST elevation noted from the surface leads should not be automatically interpreted as being indicative of an acute myocardial infarction without careful consideration, especially if a correlation exists with ST elevation reflecting hyperactivity, which is primarily observed on a 12-lead ECG displaying digital hyperactivity. Given these intricate complexities, classical biomedicine approaches can significantly benefit from the thoughtful application of electrocardiography. This point becomes especially important as not all changes that are visible in the ECG readings are readily recognizable by physicians during their routine assessments and evaluations. This underscores the critical importance of specialized training and expert interpretation in these unique and challenging cases. The integration of advanced understanding in electrocardiography not only aids in improving diagnostic accuracy but also enhances patient care outcomes, ensuring that medical professionals are better equipped to handle such nuanced presentations effectively [1, 240, 241, 242, 243, 244, 245, 246, 247, 248]

The electrocardiographic (ECG) and clinical characteristics of acute pericarditis in hemodialysis (HD) patients continue to remain somewhat unclear and ambiguous, largely due to the fact that previous studies have predominantly focused on individuals with cardiac involvement, in which the prevalence and ECG manifestations of pericarditis tend to be relatively low and therefore not well understood. The most frequently encountered cause of pericarditis is closely related to various coronary conditions, which may eventually present with a crazy paving pattern on imaging studies that can often be observed in certain medical evaluations and diagnostic tests. In particular cases where cardiac enzyme levels are ascertainable and measurable, an elevation in troponin levels is typically observed, thereby pointing toward coronary involvement as a likely and major cause of the condition, which remains an important consideration in the management of patients. The primary objective of this particular study was to clarify and highlight the specific ECG and clinical characteristics associated with patients who are experiencing HD-related pericarditis, as well as to discuss the various underlying reasons that contribute significantly to a delay in proper and accurate diagnosis, as these factors are crucial for effective clinical care. A better understanding of these contributing factors could potentially have significant implications for establishing and implementing timely and effective treatment strategies that are meticulously tailored to this unique patient population. Such enhanced awareness and knowledge may lead to improved clinical outcomes and greater overall management of health for individuals suffering from this significant condition, ultimately reflecting a crucial aspect of patient care in various hemodialysis settings, where the complexities of treatment require careful consideration and attention [249, 250, 251, 252, 253, 254]

Atypical findings were notably observed on the chest lead (v3-v5) during this meticulous assessment of WT3, which was induced by a total of 66 episodes of overly rapid breathing. This challenging situation resulted in episodic and invisible ST elevation that, at first glance, could misleadingly be attributed to pericarditis, a condition that often complicates the interpretation of ECG results. Interestingly, this particular turn was duplicated only one time, leading to some initial confusion regarding the validity of the findings. However, the actual turn was finally discovered in greater detail five months later, during a thorough and careful inspection of the foot of the lead v2 in the surface 12-lead ECG recording. This situation highlights the necessity for a comprehensive examination from multiple angles when making a comparison with other angles of the ECG leads, which is crucial for gaining a clearer and more accurate clinical assessment. Therefore, it becomes vitally important to take further steps to continually monitor the leads that originate from the octopole electrodes placed in the v3-v5 positions, ensuring that the data collected is reliable. This monitoring should be conducted with diligence while carefully controlling the exercise of fast breathing throughout different times of observation, in order to guarantee accurate readings and assessments that reflect the true state of cardiac function during such episodes [255, 256, 257, 258, 259, 260, 261]

Chapter - 6

Clinical Applications of ECG

The electrocardiogram, often simply known as the ECG, stands as an exceedingly accessible, highly cost-effective, and remarkably non-invasive diagnostic tool that displays an impressive level of diagnostic sensitivity. Given the alarming reality that cardiovascular disease continues to be, by far, the leading cause of mortality around the globe, it becomes absolutely paramount that healthcare professionals receive extensive and thorough training specifically focused on the accurate and effective interpretation of electrocardiograms. In this exceedingly important medical context, we aim to provide detailed and relevant information concerning the discovery and identification of a variety of ECG syndromes, along with an exploration of their associated clinical manifestations, the prognosis, and the potential treatment options that are available in clinical practice today. The knowledge and thorough understanding of the myriad ECG syndromes are absolutely critical not just for early detection of any abnormalities but also for ensuring that patients receive the appropriate treatment in a timely manner, which is of vital importance for effectively preventing fatal arrhythmias and sudden cardiac death. Through this comprehensive review, we aspire to encourage and bolster the prompt recognition and accurate diagnosis of these syndromes, facilitate essential referrals when required, and ultimately work towards significantly enhancing patient survival rates considerably and more effectively within the healthcare setting while simultaneously improving the overall quality of care [262, 263, 264, 265, 266, 267, 268]

ECG, or electrocardiography, is an incredibly valuable and widely accessible diagnostic tool that plays a crucial role in modern medicine. It is both low-cost and safe, distinguishing itself as a fundamental component that aids in the diagnosis of various medical conditions. This non-invasive technique has significantly laid the groundwork for the thorough evaluation and assessment of heart disease and has revolutionized the way cardiovascular health is monitored and managed. Much of this progress can be attributed to the pioneering work of Willem Einthoven, a brilliant scientist who is often regarded as the father of this transformative technology. His groundbreaking contributions have paved the way for countless advancements in cardiology

that we see today. Over the years, the discovery and characterization of various ECG syndromes have been diligently achieved by numerous pioneering clinicians and dedicated researchers in the field. These important advancements have contributed substantially to the establishment of clinical cardiology as a recognized and vital discipline within the larger context of medicine. Various syndromes have been meticulously discussed, explored, and documented in the medical literature, each one uncovered by innovative clinical cardiologists and researchers throughout the past century. Detailed descriptions encompass valuable insights into the genesis of the name of each syndrome, their specific clinical manifestations, and prognosis, as well as the available treatment options. Furthermore, these discussions highlight the continuous discovery of new and emerging syndromes related to ECG findings. This ongoing research and investigation ensure that medical professionals remain equipped with the necessary knowledge to understand and navigate the evolving landscape of cardiac health, ultimately improving patient outcomes and advancing the overall field of cardiology. The ongoing effort to enhance our understanding of ECG and its implications is a testament to the commitment of the medical community towards innovation and excellence in patient care [1, 269, 72, 69, 78, 76, 270, 271, 272, 273]

Healthcare providers, particularly those who are not specialized cardiologists, often encounter patients who are experiencing a range of cardiovascular diseases. This common scenario highlights the urgent and critical need for a strong coalition dedicated to promoting comprehensive training specifically focused on the interpretation of electrocardiograms (ECG). Such training is essential not only for effective and optimal patient care but also for the enhancement of the overall competency levels of medical professionals in recognizing various cardiovascular issues promptly. Consequently, it is vital that clear, comprehensive, and detailed guidelines for both training and assessment in ECG interpretation are developed and made readily available, as well as widely disseminated throughout the medical community. This initiative will help ensure that there exists a consistent understanding and a standardized approach to ECG interpretation across diverse healthcare settings, which may range from urban hospitals to rural clinics. The paper aims to provide crucial information regarding the indispensable role of ECG in the early recognition and diagnosis of cardiovascular diseases, thereby ultimately contributing to better patient outcomes and enhancing survival rates [69, 153, 28, 31, 274, 275].

Have only one primary goal firmly in mind; to significantly enhance and promote the extensive knowledge and deeper, more profound understanding

of physicians regarding the many various and complex ECG syndromes, as this comprehensive understanding is critically and fundamentally important for the early detection and effective management of these potentially lifethreatening syndromes. The paper meticulously outlines, examines, and raises significant and pressing issues concerning the education, thorough assessment, and the early recognition of ECG syndromes, which are crucial to preventing and appropriately treating the various types of fatal arrhythmias and significantly reducing the considerable risk of sudden cardiac death amongst patients. It is absolutely essential that all medical professionals are well-informed, thoroughly educated, and adequately trained about these serious and potentially dangerous conditions. This understanding not only aids in the accurate diagnosis but also contributes significantly to better patient outcomes and overall safety in medical practice. The emphasis on education and training cannot be overstated, as it plays a vital role in ensuring that healthcare providers are equipped with the necessary skills and knowledge to recognize and respond to these critical situations effectively [276, 277, 278, 69].

6.1 ECG in emergency medicine

Cardiovascular disease continues to stand as the primary cause of mortality in industrialized nations around the world, encompassing a wide variety of serious illnesses that include, but are not limited to, coronary artery disease, myocardial infarction, congenital heart disease, valvular heart disease, and heart failure. Each of these diseases presents unique challenges and risks not only to patient safety but also to overall wellbeing. The electrocardiogram (ECG) serves as a highly accessible, cost-effective, and non-invasive tool for diagnosing numerous heart conditions, boasting impressive diagnostic sensitivity that makes it invaluable in clinical settings. Because of this, it is of utmost importance that healthcare providers across all medical specialties receive comprehensive and thorough training in electrocardiogram interpretation. They must become proficient in recognizing not only the commonly observed ECG patterns but also the less frequent yet more intricate abnormalities that could signal serious underlying conditions, potentially leading to life-threatening scenarios. This paper endeavors to systematically review a range of diverse syndromes commonly observed in the electrocardiograms of patients who find themselves admitted to emergency departments. Recognizing these patterns promptly may facilitate timely intervention and significantly enhance the outcomes for patients suffering from various forms of heart disease. By deepening the understanding of these syndromes, healthcare professionals can apply appropriate early treatments, ultimately leading to improved healthcare delivery and enhanced efficacy in managing an array of cardiovascular conditions. Additionally, such training and awareness can play a crucial role in reducing the rates of morbidity and mortality associated with cardiovascular diseases, thereby contributing to better overall public health outcomes within the community [279, 280, 281, 282, 272].

The arrhythmia and stroke syndromes encompass a wide array of conditions, which includes but is not limited to atrial fibrillation, a condition that is characterized by a rapid ventricular response, leading to irregular heartbeats. Additionally, atrial flutter is another type of arrhythmia that can present with a rapid ventricular response, adding to the complexity of cardiac rhythm disorders. It is also important to note that atrial flutter can occur with 1:1 Atrioventricular (AV) conduction, which is an unusual and potentially dangerous situation. Furthermore, there are instances of atrial tachycardia that coexist alongside junctional ectopic tachycardia, complicating clinical presentations and necessitating careful monitoring and treatment. Within the supraventricular tachycardia syndromes, we encounter various types such as orthodromic reentrant tachycardia. This specific form features a unique reentry mechanism that distinguishes it from other forms. In addition, there is antidromic reentrant tachycardia, atrioventricular nodal reentrant tachycardia, and atrioventricular nodal reciprocating tachycardia. Each of these types presents different mechanisms of arrhythmia that clinicians need to identify accurately. Moreover, we find cases involving an atrioventricular nodal bypass tract, which can further complicate the management of arrhythmias. The Brugada syndrome is particularly noteworthy due to its association with sudden cardiac events, while the early repolarization syndromes also fall within the broader category of ventricular tachycardia syndromes. These conditions can indeed lead to significant clinical implications, especially in susceptible individuals. Furthermore, one should pay attention to the probetube syndrome, which is particularly notorious for its tendency to cause frequent fainting episodes in affected individuals, presenting a serious qualityof-life concern. Beyond these aforementioned syndromes, there exist several notable ECG findings that can be encountered alongside various other cardiovascular disorders. These disorders may present as emergency conditions that require immediate medical attention and can include scenarios such as hyperkalemia, a condition that can lead to serious and potentially lifethreatening disturbances in heart rhythm. Additionally, pulmonary embolism or strain may occur, which can jeopardize blood flow to the lungs, leading to compromised respiratory function and significant clinical consequences. Inflammatory conditions such as pericarditis represent inflammation around the heart and can manifest with chest pain that mimics other serious cardiac conditions. Aortic dissection is a particularly life-threatening condition involving the aorta that demands rapid diagnosis and intervention. Moreover, the implications of cardiotoxic drugs should not be understated, as they can adversely affect cardiac function and lead to arrhythmic events. Finally, acute coronary syndrome (ACS) encompasses a range of conditions associated with sudden reduced blood flow to the heart, and it remains a critical focus in cardiology due to its urgent treatment needs and the potential for significant morbidity and mortality [1, 283, 284, 285, 286, 287, 288].

Prompt detection of various cardiovascular disorders within the electrocardiogram (ECG) can significantly enhance patient management within emergency departments, ultimately leading to better health outcomes. It is the hope and intention to widely spread greater awareness of all these distinct syndromes and their specific particularities, which would promote rapid recognition and appropriate referrals. This proactive approach aims, above all, to improve survival rates for affected individuals. Such concerted efforts are particularly crucial in enhancing treatment outcomes and ensuring that patients receive the urgent care they so urgently need and deserve. By prioritizing this increased awareness among healthcare professionals, providers can facilitate better, more timely interventions that may profoundly impact patient prognosis and overall quality of life. Through comprehensive training and education, clinicians will be better prepared to identify the subtle indicators of these conditions, thereby allowing for a more swift response in emergency contexts. This commitment to recognition and management not only aids in individual cases but also serves to strengthen the entire healthcare system's responsiveness to cardiovascular emergencies [272, 289, 66, 290, 291, 292].

6.2 Role of ECG in cardiac monitoring

ECG, which stands for electrocardiogram, is a fundamental tool utilized for continuous cardiac monitoring in patients who are either at significant risk for or are under suspicion of cardiopulmonary compromise. The primary purpose of this monitoring is to provide continuous observation aimed at detecting arrhythmias and recognizing any ST segment changes or potential signs indicative of myocardial ischemia and infarction. In the critical care environment, these advanced monitoring systems facilitate the effective recording and vigilant observation of multiple patients by a single observer, allowing for a more efficient use of medical personnel resources. The ECG continuously generates a graphic interpretation of the heart's electrical activity; this means that real-time changes can be efficiently detected and assessed almost immediately.

A standard 6-lead ECG system works by detecting the heart's electrical activity from six distinct viewpoints, which include limb leads I, II, III, and

precordial leads V1, V2, and V3. The ECG data collected is subsequently converted into two-dimensional digitized signals, which are then displayed graphically on a monitor screen at a speed of 25 mm/s and with a gain of 10 mm/mV. In addition to the initial three viewpoints, an additional four viewpoints are recorded using alternative lead groups, which serve to provide supplementary information critical for a comprehensive understanding of the cardiac condition. The ECG display system itself is composed of three distinct groups of display components. The first group reveals the traces of the six lead ECG and also includes a numerical readout of the heart rate. The second group presents the nine lead ECG traces that contribute to the overall ECG picture and analysis. The third group includes the original ECG signals collected directly from the heart rhythm registration process.

When specific lead descriptions and time interval readings are requested through the function keys, several of these lead descriptions will appear in the relevant windows, while the time interval parameters, as determined by the observer, may also be documented for further analysis. Changes in heart rhythm, as indicated by the relevant parameter presence exceeding pre-set limits, are automatically detected, subsequently triggering alarms to alert medical personnel. In addition, by manually setting the timing mode of observation, the clinician can determine the critical monitoring period that is necessary for effective patient care. The alarm archiving functionalities are particularly useful, as they allow for capturing raw or processed ECG traces that occur around the alarm-triggered time window. This enables considerably later review and a far more thorough assessment of any arrhythmias that may have occurred.

Cardiac arrhythmias themselves can be classified broadly based on the origin of the electrical impulses into three major categories: supraventricular arrhythmias, which originate above the ventricles; ventricular arrhythmias, which originate from the ventricles themselves; and junctional arrhythmias, arising from the junctional tissue. Such a detailed assessment can be skillfully carried out based on basic ECG characteristics that include heart rate, rhythm, regularity, axis, intervals, wave morphology, and QRS complex width, all of which are crucial for accurate diagnosis and subsequent treatment planning [1, 74, 293, 294, 295, 73, 296, 297, 78, 192].

6.3 ECG in preoperative assessment

Preoperative electrocardiography (ECG) serves as a highly valuable diagnostic tool that can effectively and accurately identify patients who may be at high risk for experiencing various perioperative cardiac complications. However, when it comes to the important task of screening patients prior to

their undergoing low-risk surgical procedures, this practice is often regarded as excessive and unnecessary. This leads to a significant waste of both financial resources and essential health care services that could be better utilized in other areas. In cases involving high-risk patients who are preparing to undergo intermediate-risk surgical interventions, a comprehensive preoperative cardiac assessment is usually deemed essential and very much warranted. Extensive research indicates that pathological ECG findings appear in approximately 5% of the surveyed population who are undergoing elective surgical treatments, highlighting the importance of careful evaluation. Moreover, various ECG abnormalities, including but not limited to atrial fibrillation, atrial flutter, and significant ST segment or lead changes, are frequently observed among the most common ECG pathologies encountered in this context. For low-risk surgeries, the notably low prevalence of cardiac complications, as well as subsequent deaths following such procedures, indicates clearly that implementing routine preoperative ECG screening for low-risk patients would ultimately not be cost-effective at all. Furthermore, one of the critical risk factors associated with the occurrence of pre-measured ECG pathologies, applicable to both high- and low-risk surgical populations, is age. This factor becomes particularly relevant for individuals who are older than 65 years, as these individuals tend to exhibit higher rates of cardiovascular issues, necessitating careful consideration in the preoperative evaluation process [298, 299, 300, 301, 302, 303, 304].

Surgical patients who are undergoing various medical procedures are widely recognized as being at a considerably heightened risk of encountering serious cardiac complications. This risk is particularly amplified if there is a very high possibility of existing significant coronary artery disease (CAD). In cases where such risk factors are present, the associated mortality risk can be significantly increased. Research indicates that patients with these conditions could experience a staggering tenfold increase in mortality risk, or possibly even more, with at least 20% of these individuals facing potential complications or even mortality within a critical 30-day timeframe following the surgical intervention.

The essential and crucial initial assessment of preoperative risk must take into account a multitude of factors that include not just the specific type of surgery being conducted but also its level of urgency. This entire assessment process is pivotal, as it serves to effectively delay and refine the risk assessment and cardiac testing for patients who have been identified as being at higher risk for experiencing severe complications. This is especially crucial for those cases where the surgical procedure is not categorized as an

emergency and can allow for better planning and management in advance.

Moreover, when conducting evaluations of preoperative cardiac risk, it is critical to emphasize that the studies conducted thus far have predominantly focused on patients who do not have any known pre-existing heart disease. Additionally, these studies have included only those patients who are devoid of significant preoperative medical therapy prior to the evaluation. An important change in a patient's heart sound, which may occur over the years, should be approached with considerable concern and meticulous scrutiny by healthcare professionals to ensure patient safety and well-being.

This particular study initially aimed to thoroughly evaluate the necessity of routinely performing an electrocardiogram (ECG) as a standard preoperative assessment tool for both high-risk and low-risk patients alike, acknowledging the potential implications for patient safety and overall surgical outcomes in a variety of clinical situations. The significance of such assessments cannot be overstated, as they play a crucial role in the planning and management of surgical patients' health [305, 306, 307, 308, 309, 310, 311, 312, 313].

6.4 Long-term ECG monitoring

electrocardiogram (ECG) has been universally acknowledged as the definitive gold standard for diagnosing ischemic heart disease for many years. However, it is crucial to address an important aspect of this diagnostic tool: in about half of the patients experiencing episodes of ischemia, the conventional standard ECG does not perform adequately and fails to effectively register these critical ischemic events. This significant limitation demonstrates a pressing need for more advanced solutions in the field of cardiac monitoring. In light of this reality, long-term ECG monitoring emerges as a promising and innovative alternative solution that could address these shortcomings. Such monitoring requires the utilization of portable and user-friendly devices that extend the experience of patient monitoring far beyond traditional hospital environments and protocols. Within this framework, we propose a state-of-the-art ambulatory electrocardiography monitoring system, which operates on an efficient low-power microcontroller architecture specifically designed for this purpose.

This innovative system is constructed around a simplified yet effective three-lead ECG configuration, which allows it to provide continuous beat-to-beat heart rate measurements for users in a variety of settings. The design of this proposed system is strategically crafted to derive and harness power from cellular energy sources, which enables greater flexibility and adaptability in usage. The system comprises several essential components that work in unison

to deliver reliable performance: a low-power three-lead ECG front-end unit, an efficient yet compact 28-pin microcontroller, a dedicated data storage unit where captured information can be securely stored, a robust unit for data transmission and processing, and a highly sophisticated digital signal processing unit specifically engineered to manage the complexities and nuances associated with ECG readings.

In order to ensure a comprehensive understanding of the efficacy and overall performance of the ECG acquisition system, extensive testing has been meticulously performed using a specialized testing device that has been tailored exclusively for *in vitro* testing applications. This specialized device employs three strategically placed electrodes that are affixed to the human body, thereby facilitating effective and accurate monitoring of the electrical activity of the heart. A comprehensive series of tests, centered around the transmission and processing of electrocardiography data, has yielded highly promising results that underscore the effectiveness of the system. These results clearly demonstrate that capturing variations in heart rates and effectively isolating arrhythmias are not only feasible but also yield satisfactory and reliable outcomes. When focusing specifically on the capture of heart rates, the system exhibits remarkable robustness, achieving capture levels that exceed a notable 95%.

Furthermore, the physical devices developed for both ECG signal pickup and the amplifier circuits proposed within this innovative framework can be manufactured at a strikingly low cost, ensuring that they are accessible to a broader demographic of patients and healthcare providers. This cost efficiency is realized while simultaneously maintaining a significantly reduced power consumption profile in comparison to existing alternatives currently available in the market, which often come with inflated costs and increased energy requirements. Through the thoughtful integration of these innovative features, the proposed ECG monitoring system boasts the potential to substantially enhance the clinical management and treatment approaches for ischemic heart diseases, ultimately leading to better patient outcomes and improved healthcare practices in cardiology [314, 191, 315, 316, 317, 318, 319, 320].

Continuous, long-term ambulatory electrocardiographic (ECG) monitoring has emerged as an invaluable utility in the realm of modern medicine, playing an essential role particularly for the important purposes of arrhythmia detection, comprehensive post-myocardial infarction care, diligent follow-up of implantable devices, and thorough heart-health screening in cases that are often unsuspected or have been previously overlooked. Despite the wide range of options currently available in the market, there exists a

notable scarcity of comprehensive comparative studies that systematically scrutinize these diverse devices. In order to clearly delineate the performance characteristics of various widely used devices while also establishing best clinical practices in conducting long-term continuous evaluations of rhythm data, this study meticulously evaluates the most popular commercial devices that were prevalent as of 2021. In addition, it includes a thorough assessment of a novel ultra-long-term monitoring device that has recently been introduced into the healthcare sector. The findings of this investigation indicate that for effective long-term continuous monitoring of ECG, it is absolutely crucial that only those devices equipped with electrodes that create reliable and consistent electrical contact with the skin surface are considered feasible for capturing high-quality recordings. Moreover, the consistency and reliability of the recordings are paramount for accurate diagnosis and management of cardiac conditions, underlining the necessity of choosing appropriate technology that ensures the best possible outcomes for patients [321, 322, 323, 324, 325].

Chapter - 7

Advanced ECG Techniques

Rapid advances in technology, along with a progressively deeper and more nuanced comprehension of the complexities related to ECG morphology, play a significant and transformative role in the emergence of new techniques that directly related to the detection, diagnosis, and electrocardiographic signals. These innovative and forward-thinking approaches to ECG analysis, which encompass numerous practical applications ranging from research to clinical practice, have emerged largely due to the remarkable and transformative capabilities of artificial intelligence (AI) and machine learning. In order to assist in the early detection and prompt diagnosis of the most widespread and critical cardiac disorders (BCDs) that affect millions globally, numerous new models have been meticulously developed based on AI and machine learning across many different nations around the world. Beyond simply utilizing the traditionally recognized ECG parameters and established procedures, an additional and very novel approach involves the careful calculation of the electric distance degree (EDD) among the twelve leads of Einthoven's triangle, which offers unique insights into heart function. The efficacy and potential benefits of calculating, interpreting, and visualizing EDD with the assistance of modern, state-of-the-art modeling techniques, particularly regarding the early detection of various types of arrhythmia, were systematically and methodically examined, scrutinized, and analyzed. This comprehensive exploration of ECG-related innovations not only reflects an ongoing and steadfast commitment to enhance patient care but also serves to improve overall clinical outcomes in the vital field of cardiovascular health [83, 326, 327, 328, 66, 329, 330]

The amount of disharmony that exists between the three leads of the triangle configuration is specifically measured by the Electric Disharmony Degree (EDD). This concept was developed from various simple alterations and assumptions concerning the sums that deserved close examination and attention. The EDD provided an innovative and novel approach for the quantitative measurement and thorough evaluation of the electric status of the heart. This approach is viewed from an entirely new and unique perspective, which is distinct from the traditional QRS variance and the more common

anterior-posterior axis evaluation that has been widely utilized in the field of cardiology. By using the innovative EDD algorithm, the diagnostic accessibility was meticulously examined through the use of globally produced EDD figures. These figures pertain to the vast majority of known arrhythmias and showcase accurate beat detection. This focused analysis naturally led to the establishment of an automatic coeval method, allowing for more efficient processing of such detailed findings. The EDDs provided tangible and empirical evidence of the physiological level at which various arrhythmias manifest and also facilitated the recognition of the standard sinus beat of the heart. This critical recognition goes well beyond merely interpreting the symbolic electric features that are presented by ECG waveforms, achieving instead a significant level of practical evaluation and understanding. In parallel to this, an Extended Electric Disharmony Degree (EEGD) was utilized in a similar manner to effectively quantify and assess the cardiac electrical properties, distinctive characteristics, and physical behaviors of the heart, with a particular emphasis on congenital cardiac disorders (CCDs). These thorough evaluations were conducted under unique physiological circumstances, demonstrating the insights gained that currently reveal a vast potential. This potential serves both as a valuable research and diagnostic tool, which could significantly enhance our understanding not only of cardiac health but also of the complications that may arise from various cardiac conditions [1, 331, 332, 333, 334, 335, 336, 337]

With the thoughtful recommendation of standardized and pre-established evaluation flows designed specifically for authors who are likely to engage with and apply such innovative techniques in their various research endeavors, the practical prospects of Evidence-Driven Design (EDD) within the dynamic realm of medical practice are examined and discussed in detail. The pressing and urgent need for novel, effective approaches in the ever-evolving field of medicine, where advanced equipment and evidence intelligence often significantly outpace the practitioners' current capabilities, is strongly emphasized. Furthermore, it highlights the immense and substantial amount of signals generated from the extensive and widespread utilization of various diagnostic devices, thereby underscoring the critical importance of adapting to these rapidly evolving technological advancements to enhance the quality of patient care and ultimately improve health outcomes effectively [9, 338, 339, 340, 341, 342, 343]

7.1 Holter monitoring

Routine ECG does not always serve as the most effective long-term monitoring tool for assessing cardiac health in a comprehensive manner. This limitation arises due to the fact that there are very few pathological conditions of the cardiac activities that are continuous or consistently present; rather, most cardiac pathologies manifest sporadically as paroxysms, which can be triggered by a variety of external and internal environmental factors. This notable variation in activity patterns plays a crucial role in the effective classification and diagnosis of different cardiac arrhythmias. For certain types of cardiac conditions, telemetry recorders that resemble the devices employed for standard 24-hour Holter ECG recordings are now widely available, allowing for longer periods of continuous monitoring that can provide richer insights. These advanced, wearable types of monitors are specifically designed to be comfortable and well-tolerated during a wide range of daily activities, including bathing, sleeping, exercising, and even commuting, with the hope of achieving better performance results than those obtained from traditional Holter recorders. By enabling more adaptable and flexible usage, these advanced monitoring devices provide an excellent opportunity for capturing far more accurate data related to cardiac events, thereby significantly improving the chances of detecting irregularities that would otherwise go unnoticed in standard, conventional ECG assessments. This approach aims to enhance overall patient outcomes in the management of cardiac health issues by providing a more comprehensive assessment over longer periods than previously achieved [344, 303, 345, 346, 347]

Holter ECG recorders typically utilize 3 to 12 lead types, employing restraining pressure and gel-type electrodes for nearly all continuous recording systems available on the market today. Among these, the 3-lead and 7-lead ECG recorders stand out as especially common, often featuring disposable electrodes tailored for the ambulatory type Holter recorders produced by various Holter Systems companies. Notably, cassette-type 7-channel portable continuous recorders have also been developed, alongside genuinely lightweight options specifically designed for effective monitoring over a span of 24 hours or even longer. These devices can operate smoothly in both resting states and during periods of exercise, making them highly versatile.

The portable recorders serve a crucial role by relaying electrical activities to remote monitoring stations located at nursing stations, typically employing a set of 8 to 12 leads to ensure comprehensive data capture. This kind of continuous ECG recording is vital, as it enables the early detection of serious medical conditions, such as the traumatic rupture of cordae tendineae, rupture of the papillary muscle, potential issues within the myocardium, and problems related to the pericardium. Early detection is key, as it allows for timely medical intervention before the patient has a chance to develop severe

congestive heart failure, which can be life-threatening if not addressed immediately [348, 349, 350, 351].

7.2 Event recorders

In numerous clinical situations wherein the instances that eventually lead to specific symptoms are infrequent and those precise symptoms frequently fail to appear during a standard ECG examination, medical professionals greatly benefit from having access to a range of specialized diagnostic devices that have been meticulously designed to address these particular challenges. These exceptional instruments are referred to as prolonged ECG recording devices, which possess the incredible capability to capture intricate and comprehensive ECG data while the patient goes about their usual daily routines and activities that are part of their everyday life. Among the many different types of devices currently available on the market, event recorders are both prominent and stand out as the most commonly utilized for this important purpose due to their high practicality and efficiency in various clinical settings. These recorders are ingeniously designed with a straightforward approach, operating with the use of merely two electrodes, which not only enhances their overall simplicity but also promotes ease of application for the patient, making them exceptionally user-friendly from the outset. Furthermore, these recorders are carefully engineered to function in two primary operational modes, providing versatility for different patient monitoring needs: at first, they are equipped to carry out continuous ECG data recording for a specific and predetermined duration, typically documenting an intimate three minutes of data immediately prior to the exact moment the user decides to press the activation button. This is complemented by an additional two minutes of data that is captured urgently following the period right after the button has been pressed by the patient. This continuous recording capacity is of utmost importance, as it guarantees the capture of critical events that lead up to symptomatic episodes, which may otherwise remain unnoticed and undiagnosed over time, leading to potential complications in patient care. On the other hand, these state-of-the-art devices can also be configured to record just a short duration of ECG data, executed precisely at the moment when the user presses the activation button. This focused and targeted method allows for an effective and concentrated approach to monitoring heart activity, particularly during those episodes when symptoms are clearly and notably present. Such advanced capabilities are particularly beneficial for healthcare providers who are in pursuit of accurately diagnosing, thoroughly analyzing, and evaluating irregular heart rhythms or any other significant cardiovascular issues that may arise sporadically and in unpredictable fashions, ensuring that patients receive the appropriate treatment and management that they require based on precise data collected during their routine activities [352, 353, 354, 81, 355, 356, 357]

Even if the event recorder is automatically activated after a preset interval, whether it be heart-rate sensitive or activity sensitive, the ultimate responsibility for confirming that an important event has occurred rests squarely in the hands of the patient. This requirement places a crucial demand on the patient, who must remain consistently alert and proactive in recognizing any significant changes in their condition and overall health status. The St. Jude HeartPOD is a remarkably compact and pocket-sized event recorder that features an incredibly user-friendly touch-screen interface, enabling easy input of pre-programmed messages tailored for the individual user. Furthermore, it comes equipped with a built-in cellular transceiver that facilitates seamless communication with healthcare providers. With its innovative and efficient design, the device can operate effectively with as few as one acutely conductive lead ECG, making it widely accessible for various patients with differing health conditions. The HeartPOD impresses with its substantial memorization capacity, capable of retaining more than 36 hours of continuous ECG data. It is specifically designed to store sequential ECG segments ranging from 10 to 30 seconds each upon activation, ensuring that no critical information is lost. This operational capacity allows the crucial data to be transmitted independently to the designated monitoring site. There, it can be analyzed by advanced machine interpretation systems or by a qualified physician who will conduct further evaluation. This capability not only greatly enhances patient monitoring but also plays a vital role in facilitating timely interventions when necessary, ultimately improving patient care and health outcomes [1, 358, 359, 360, 361, 362, 363, 364, 16]

The Vitatron X800 is an impressively compact, pocket-sized recorder that is highly adept at storing an extensive amount of minimal lead ECG data up to an extraordinary 48 hours, to be exact. The increasing and widespread use of loop-recorders, which come equipped with eight electrodes, is becoming a prominent and noteworthy trend in the medical field. These advanced and innovative devices have the remarkable capability to effectively store ECG segments continuously for an impressive duration of up to 4 days. After this extensive period of data collection, the stored information can be efficiently sent to a specialized medical center for automatic interpretation, significantly enhancing the overall efficiency of diagnostics. These cutting-edge devices are designed with great precision and can reside in very close proximity to crucial intrathoracic structures, such as the lead wires, or they can even be

injected alongside a polymeric matrix to function seamlessly as a biodegradable capsule. In various scenarios where such advanced devices are actively utilized, it becomes possible to record an almost limitless number of cardiac events with minimal restrictions and interruptions. This extensive recording capability provides healthcare professionals with an invaluable and essential tool for continuous monitoring and thorough analysis of cardiac activity over extended periods, ultimately improving patient care and outcomes [365, 366].

7.3 Signal-averaged ECG

Angina pectoris and myocardial infarction are conditions that tend to recur frequently throughout the course of Ischemic Heart Disease (IHD), and they can subsequently lead to significant structural heart alterations and impairments in cardiac functions over time. Myocardial ischaemia and the more severe condition of myocardial infarction both have a profound impact on the cardiac electrical field, which, in turn, affects the surface electrocardiogram (ECG) readings. Consequently, the changes that are observed in the ECG as a result of IHD are closely linked to the specific configuration of the ischaemic myocardium as well as the orientation of the left and right cardiac vector forces. Typically, the standard ECG modifications associated with myocardial ischaemia, such as ST segment depression or ST elevation, tend to develop quite significantly within a brief window of 1 to 4 minutes following the obstruction of a coronary artery. These changes can be observed for a duration of approximately 5 to 7 minutes after the obstruction is resolved, providing a foundation for the establishment of exercise testing and the use of 12-lead ambulatory ECG monitoring in the process of diagnosing IHD. However, despite its utility, conventional ECG approaches do face limitations; particularly, they can yield false negative results and exhibit poor specificity concerning various abnormalities noted in the ECGs of individuals with underlying structural heart disease. Simultaneously, the process of conducting Coronary Angiography (CAG) in patients where there is a suspicious diagnosis of IHD encounters certain restrictions and challenges. The burden of wall motion abnormalities, which arise due to transient myocardial ischaemia, has been evaluated through the echocardiography and stress imaging techniques; however, these approaches have reported poor specificity when it comes to diagnosing significant coronary stenosis. The emergence of Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) examinations of the heart, performed within a short time frame of 5 to 10 minutes after the onset of chest pain in patients suspected of suffering from myocardial infarction, holds promise, as it can effectively differentiate between actual myocardial infarction and mere ischaemia. Nevertheless, despite its advantages, MRI technology is not currently widely accessible and is often not applicable when patients present with acute chest pain. Thus, there is a pressing need for a non-invasive technique specifically tailored for patients dealing with ischaemic-related heart disease, which would offer more continuous monitoring than what is achievable with the standard ECG. In this context, the detection of the P wave and the subsequent classification of various arrhythmias have been carried out using time domain analysis of the sequence of sample values from the ECG, specifically within a time scale of 400 milliseconds prior to each detected R-wave, utilizing a specially developed trained mobile phone application. This innovative mobile phone application employs adaptive thresholding that is based on the sampling statistics of the ECG readings, including factors like the amplitude and width of the P wave. Any segments that were misclassified in this process were manually reviewed and corrected to enhance accuracy. Additionally, other commonly used data processing techniques, such as ensemble averaging, independent component analysis, and other forms of non-linear decomposition techniques, were rigorously tested for their efficacy in distinguishing time-dependent post-R restitution principal components from those that are time-independent. The signal-averaged ECG notably reveals the presence of activated areas, such as those indicative of a scar or damaged muscle tissue, offering valuable insights into the patient's cardiac condition [367, 368, 369, 370, 371, 372, 373, 374]

Chapter - 8

ECG in Specific Populations

The interpretation of the ECG is undeniably a multifaceted and intricate subject, necessitating a comprehensive and profoundly deep knowledge base that encompasses both the nuances of cardiology and various related medical aspects. The standardization of the terms, definitions, and parameters that are consistently applied to the ECG holds tremendous significance, as the presence of differing conventions can substantially restrict the effective exchange of invaluable information among scientists, researchers, and practitioners in the medical field. While a consensus on numerous critical matters has indeed evolved and been achieved over time, there remain notable gaps and inconsistencies in our overall understanding of this essential and critical field of medicine. To address these issues effectively and judiciously, a dedicated joint task force was meticulously organized with the explicit objective of ensuring that all major ECG standards undergo a thorough and comprehensive review in collaboration with national societies that represent diverse and varied medical communities. This systematic review serves as a broad and inclusive overview of countless subjects that pertain to the complexities and intricacies associated with the interpretation of the ECG. Furthermore, the notes of caution, warnings, and caveats embedded within this article are specifically intended not to deter or discourage exhaustive and critical scrutiny of the review itself but, rather, to ameliorate the substantial risks of misunderstandings, misinterpretation, misapplication, and other artefacts that can frequently arise when there is a limited or inadequate understanding of this intricate vascular system. Additionally, the overarching medical and biological concepts that are associated with the ECG are equally important for proper interpretation. This comprehensive approach aims to foster a more accurate understanding, interpretation, and application of ECG data in clinical practice, ultimately benefiting both patients and healthcare professionals alike [1, 67, 31, 74, 375, 376, 377, 378, 379, 380]

The resting 12-lead ECG serves as an absolutely crucial and noninvasive diagnostic method that is widely utilized for a comprehensive and thorough analysis of heart rhythm, electrical conduction pathways, the potential enlargement of heart chambers, and instances of hypertrophy that can occur in

various clinical situations encountered in patient care. This advanced technology stands out prominently as an exceptionally valuable and indispensable diagnostic tool, uniquely capable of providing an extensive array of critical information regarding the overall health and well-being of the cardiac system. With the assistance of sophisticated, state-of-the-art automated technology, it is well-equipped to accurately detect numerous common cardiac conditions that practitioners encounter regularly, while also generating timely alerts to clinicians whenever necessary or appropriate situations arise. This essential information can be meticulously organized, formatted, and presented in a multitude of different ways, which may include traditional hard copy prints, digital files, or potentially in both forms, thus facilitating multifaceted usage for key diagnostic and administrative purposes in a healthcare setting.

For a comprehensive and detailed analysis of the ECG, the performance involves executing a systematic series of automated analyses that are accompanied by graphical displays showcasing important data. These sophisticated displays clearly illustrate the cardiac electrical activity recorded continuously over the entire duration of the examination process, capturing the essential dynamics of the heart's functionality. The ECG derived from the standard 12-lead system is presented consistently in a structured and uniform 12-lead format that clinicians have come to trust. In this particular format, all 12 leads are displayed repeatedly, functioning typically at a standard speed of 25 mm/sec to ensure clarity and reliability, which is vital for accurate interpretation by healthcare professionals. Furthermore, the readings maintain a standard vertical gain of 10 mm/mV, thereby ensuring clarity and precision in the resulting interpretations that emerge from the comprehensive analysis undertaken.

A standard diagnostic report is predominantly generated through a highly sophisticated computer system, which is then inspected meticulously for adherence to established protocol specifications that are in place to uphold quality and consistency. In addition to these robust procedures, careful attention is assigned to the appropriate handling of any specific patient situations or unique exercise protocols that may arise during the testing or evaluation phase. This diligent approach guarantees that all relevant factors are thoroughly considered for a truly accurate and comprehensive understanding of the patient's cardiac health status.

This meticulous process of evaluation and analysis assists in obtaining precise results, which are critical in guiding further medical interventions and treatment plans as required based on the findings revealed during the examination. The whole procedure ultimately culminates in an informative and detailed report that significantly aids medical professionals in making well-informed decisions regarding patient care and management in the future. The significance of the 12-lead ECG in contemporary medical practice cannot be overstated, as it plays a pivotal role in ensuring optimal patient outcomes through careful analysis and proactive management of heart-related issues, thereby enhancing the overall quality of care delivered to patients with varying cardiovascular concerns [381, 382, 383, 226, 384, 371, 385, 386].

8.1 Pediatric ECG considerations

The electrocardiogram (ECG) constitutes a vital, noninvasive test that is widely employed for the thorough clinical assessment of cardiac electrical activity. It plays a crucial role in identifying various rhythm or morphological abnormalities of the heart. Additionally, the ECG serves as a tool for risk identification across various diseases, emphasizing its importance in modern medical practice. Having a solid understanding of the normal ranges of measurements for different intervals and axes of both pediatric and adult ECGs is imperative because this knowledge is a prerequisite when establishing diagnoses based on abnormal ECG readings. The growing usage of computerized programs for automated ECG interpretation has yielded promising advancements, showcasing good accuracy levels for ECG interval measurements across a broad spectrum, including both generic populations and those that are specifically pediatric. Nevertheless, despite these advancements in technology, a significant gap continues to persist: no studies have been identified in the current literature that provide normal limits specifically tailored to the Latin American population.

When focusing on pediatric cases, it is particularly noteworthy that the characteristics of the normal ECG curve exhibit subtle differences when directly compared to that of middle-aged individuals. The term "cardio pediatric" specifically refers to an age range that encompasses individuals from the very first moments of life up until 18 years of age. The representation in this context often aligns closely with specialized fields such as neonatology and cardiology, particularly throughout the various stages of childhood development. It is essential to note that the ECG curve for pediatric patients is expected to reflect a higher beats per minute (or correspondingly lower R-R interval), in contrast to adult patients. A child's heart rate is dynamic and can vary widely, significantly depending on their age. For cases specifically related to neonatology, the heart rate can typically range from 100 to as much as 180 beats per minute. It is quite rare for the heart rate in such cases to dip below 80 beats per minute, which underscores the unique physiological

characteristics of children. In the various observed scenarios and studies, values often appear to be somewhat underrated, drawing attention to a noticeable disconnect. Therefore, standard values that are typically utilized for a general ECG curve are not directly applicable to the specialized field of pediatric cardiology.

In the care and assessment of these very young children, detecting irregular heart rates often necessitates the implementation of a specific type of filter that is expertly designed to eliminate potential measurement errors and inaccuracies. This work presents a comprehensive realization of different models to simulate the ECG signal accurately, employing multiple models and advanced methods aimed at achieving this critical goal. The coefficients that are capped during this intricate process serve specific purposes that are directly geared toward the precise simulation of the ECG signal. Furthermore, the installation of additional software filters enhances the system by allowing for the incorporation of an ideal signal realization. This systematic approach employs non-complicated components, which can actively foster realistic expectations following successful hardware integration, ultimately leading to improved accuracy and heightened reliability in pediatric ECG assessments [387, 388, 389, 390, 382, 391, 392, 393, 394, 395, 396, 397].

8.2 ECG in pregnant women

Pregnancy is indeed a remarkable physiological process that brings about notable and complex cardiovascular adaptations aimed at ensuring an adequate supply of blood to the feto-placental unit. During this significant period, extensive hemodynamic remodeling occurs, which includes a substantial increase in overall blood volume alongside a decrease in systemic vascular resistance. These changes are vital for meeting the increased demands placed on the mother's body as it nourishes the developing fetus. The various physical and humoral modifications that take place during pregnancy contribute not only to an increase in heart rate but also result in saxonations of the QT interval and significant ventricular hypertrophic remodeling. It is crucial to give attentive consideration to the physiological variations that influence the electrocardiogram during pregnancy, as misunderstanding these changes can lead to unnecessary diagnostic controversies that may ultimately affect care and treatment.

Throughout the course of pregnancy, the heart undergoes important and complex morphological and functional adaptations that are necessary for sustaining both the mother and the fetus. As a direct consequence of the ongoing hemodynamic changes observed during this time, one can notice normal left ventricular hypertrophy, dilation of the left atrium, and an overall

increase in the left ventricular mass. Furthermore, fatigue stemming from the insufficient working capacity of the heart may lead to the emergence of new-onset symptoms of heart failure in pregnant women, which could complicate their clinical management in various ways. At the same time, there is often an increase in the ejection fraction, as well as an observed increase in wall strain and global longitudinal strain, which indicates that the heart is adapting through several intricate mechanisms to support both the mother and the developing fetus effectively.

Weight gain during pregnancy, which involves significant physical adaptations of the cardiovascular and metabolic systems, is associated with notable and often predictable changes such as an increased heart rate, increased stroke volume, and heightened cardiac output. This additional weight gain typically leads to elevated systolic blood pressure and an increase in left ventricular mass, which can have further implications for maternal health and well-being. In the general population, obesity is known to be heavily involved in the development of various electrocardiographic alterations that can complicate clinical assessments and might lead to potential misinterpretations. Pre-existing electrocardiographic patterns may tend to remain unchanged after pregnancy; however, the absence of obesity, or decrease in weight, might counteract their persistence, suggesting complex and intertwined interactions between weight and cardiac function.

In summary, pregnancy is characterized as a transient physiological state that entails profound cardiovascular, metabolic, and sleep-wake physiology adaptations that are essential for maternal and fetal health. The variability of electrocardiographic variables during this condition is noteworthy and should be diligently considered, leading to transient physiological states that readily healthcare providers must recognize. Some specific electrocardiographic patterns may emerge during this vital time and should not be hastily interpreted as pathologic; rather, this nuanced understanding is key to preventing unnecessary diagnostic workups and therapeutic controversies that might compromise the well-being of both the mother and the developing fetus. It is therefore imperative for healthcare professionals to remain vigilant and knowledgeable about these aspects of maternal physiology during this crucial time [398, 399, 400, 401, 402, 403, 404, 405, 406, 407]

8.3 Geriatric ECG interpretation

Ageing is an exceedingly complex biological process that intricately affects multiple organ systems throughout the body, leading to a gradual, yet significant decline in both physiological and biochemical functions, reserves, and overall health impairment in individuals as they wave goodbye to their

youthful vigor. The cardiovascular system, which is recognized as one of the earliest organ systems to develop during an individual's lifespan, is not an exception to these profound changes that ultimately redefine what health means as we advance in years. There exists considerable variability when comparing younger cohorts with older populations, primarily due to the interindividual differences in underlying pathologies that may exist among their ranks. While these anatomical, developmental, physiological, and hormonal changes can be quantified in a manner that is objective and methodical, it is essential to note that these macrostructural changes, which extend beyond mere age, can introduce considerable variability into the physiological responses that are measured across different populations and at different life stages. Nowadays, a wide array of over 70 distinct and quantified parameters derived from an ECG can be assessed through 12-lead ECGs, allowing healthcare professionals to capture a more comprehensive picture of cardiac health; as these microstructural changes that are associated with various pathological processes can significantly disrupt normal electrical conduction and the electrical-mechanical coupling processes within the heart, resulting in consequences that can affect the overall quality of life for many individuals as they journey through the later stages of life [1, 74, 380, 408, 409, 410, 371]

Healthy ageing frequently predisposes individuals to a variety of cardiovascular diseases because of the gradual deterioration of both the vascular and cardiac components. While certain age-related transformations are detectable through the analysis of ECG mathematics, it is also crucial to consider the biophysical and architectural changes occurring at a subcellular level. These aspects often go unnoticed but play a significant role in understanding the overall cardiovascular health of ageing individuals. The tools emergence of innovative for recording extra-cardiac electroencephalograms, which can operate both with and without direct contact, offers a potential solution to some of these challenges. However, although these advanced technologies can quantitate the impact of numerous cardiovascular conditions indirectly by analyzing ECG outputs, they fall short in directly measuring the underlying processes that specifically lead to the onset and progression of these diseases, which is an essential part of comprehensive cardiovascular health assessment [381, 411, 412, 413].

In addition to the structural alterations and developmental changes that occur within biological systems, and along with the myriad of pure effects stemming from various comorbidities that might be present, the stochastically unpredictable nature inherent in the complexities of transmissible spongiform

encephalopathies (TSE) signals may introduce further variability into the assessment process. This variability is not only non-physiological but can also be deemed physiologically meaningless when considering the broader implications of these changes. The measurement and overall assessment of processes that are normally observable over an extended time frame are affected by this unpredictability. Furthermore, a diverse range of alternative techniques that effectively leverage advancements in computational intelligence, delve into the principles of machine learning, or draw insights from established principles within the field of physics can be utilized to detect the occurrence of arrhythmias within patients. These innovative methodologies allow for real-time processing of valuable data, making them advantageous in clinical settings. Yet, it is of critical importance to note that these techniques frequently elicit changes in signals that can arise from various factors, including motion artifacts or other intricate physiological processes that occur naturally in the human body. The process of inductively quantifying such nuanced changes has not been thoroughly supported or validated by existing research, leaving a significant gap in understanding the implications of these variations on health outcomes. Therefore, continued exploration into the myriad sources of variability is essential for not only improving the reliability of assessments made in clinical contexts but also for enhancing individual patient care and outcomes [414, 415, 416, 68, 417, 418].

Chapter - 9

Challenges in ECG Interpretation

Holter detectors, which are also commonly referred to as ECG monitors, are specialized pieces of medical equipment designed to meticulously record and analyze the electrical activity of the heart over an extended duration, typically spanning 24 hours or even more. These sophisticated monitoring systems provide a detailed and comprehensive overview of the heart's rhythm and its electrical patterns continuously throughout the course of each day. During the recording process, only a single lead is chosen from the standard 12-lead ECG configuration, with lead II being the most frequently employed lead for continuous monitoring due to its effectiveness in capturing essential cardiac information.

In addition to conventional Holter monitors, electrocardiogram recordings can also be obtained through the utilization of implantable ECG devices, which serve as a highly desirable and practical alternative. This is particularly true for patients who exhibit extreme vagal responses or other similar health conditions, primarily due to the smaller size and enhanced convenience of these implantable devices. While these devices predominantly capture a single lead, this limitation does not detract from their effectiveness in accurately detecting arrhythmias, which are defined as irregular heartbeats or abnormal rhythms that can pose significant health risks. Therefore, even though fewer leads are recorded compared to a full analysis, there continues to be a critical necessity for trained medical professionals to meticulously interpret the nuances and subtle changes in the heart's electrical activity over time.

It is also essential to recognize that many automated ECG interpreters can encounter difficulties with the variability that arises from differences in lead placement and the amplitude discrepancies that may occur. Such differences can sometimes lead to misinterpretations or inaccuracies in the data generated from these monitoring devices. Additional challenges, such as low baseline noise levels, issues relating to the chain rule in data processing, and the use of static training data, contribute to a considerable number of misclassifications in the readings obtained from these monitors. Furthermore, another vital

limitation of these devices lies in the considerable variability in calibration standards, along with a lack of standardization across different types of monitors, low sampling rates, and inconsistencies in noise levels. Collectively, these factors can significantly affect the overall performance and accuracy of heart monitoring, potentially leading to critical oversights in patient care [9, 350, 349, 419, 420, 421, 329]

A lead must be meticulously chosen for machine-learning models that can proficiently denote results which are both comprehensible and interpretable for users. All available leads, along with any relevant information procured from past types of heartbeat data, can certainly be harnessed; however, this utilization complicates and challenges the entire training process significantly. Disparate datasets will inherently exhibit fluctuations in heart rate alongside other critical parameters, underscoring the necessity for normalization of these measurements in order to account for and rectify the variations found in heart rate, amplitude, and duration. Different time intervals can be judiciously interspersed based on detected heartbeats and their corresponding values. This interleaving can, however, lead to potential bias emerging from edge cases which could distort the results, making it difficult to clearly differentiate sudden changes manifesting in the data. Each ECG monitor will invariably generate differing events stemming from the same electrocardiogram, which necessitates the integration of supplementary feedback mechanisms to effectively alleviate discrepancies between the outputs Acknowledging and understanding these abnormal cases in advance requires careful measures and thorough planning, enabling a proactive rather than merely reactive approach to adjustments. Furthermore, the reconstruction of chain fatty acids can be carried out with meticulous detail, and the spectrogram of heartbeats may be transformed into continuous wavelet transform data, allowing for a more profound and intricate analysis. In a crucial practical application, the absolute amplitude can effectively be disregarded, thereby allowing a concentrated focus that merely compares the local alterations that occur within a heartbeat and its corresponding template, consequently leading to more meaningful insights and conclusions [1, 422, 423, 424, 425, 426, 427, 428, 429].

9.1 Artifact recognition

An Electrocardiogram (ECG) artifact is fundamentally described as a deviation from the true and expected electrocardiographic sinus rhythm, a rhythm that signifies normal heart activity and functions as a crucial indicator of the heart's performance. This deviation occurs due to various non-physiologic factors that can interfere with the accurate readings of the electrical activity produced by the heart muscle. The presence of artifacts on

an ECG is quite common in clinical practice, and these artifacts have the potential to lead to significant errors and misunderstandings in the interpretation of the graphical data that is depicted on the ECG traces. This phenomenon of ECG artifact can be generated by a diverse range of causes that can be broadly classified into categories of physiologic and non-physiologic artifacts.

Physiologic artifacts are often encountered in normal youth populations, particularly during moments of heightened emotional states. Individuals experiencing hyperventilation, those suffering from anxiety, and patients involved in various syndromes can also produce physiologic artifacts. Notable conditions that may exhibit these artifacts include Wolf-Parkinson-White syndrome and Brugada syndrome, which are both characterized by their distinctive and particular electrical patterns in the heart. The clinical significance of physiologic factors is underscored by the fact that over 200 different types of apparently normal variants have been described that arise due to these physiologic causes, illustrating the complexity and variability inherent in human heart electrical activity.

In stark contrast, non-physiologic ECG artifacts are much rarer in occurrence but are becoming increasingly relevant in modern clinical scenarios. This increasing relevance is largely attributable to the advancements in medical technology, particularly the sophisticated commercially available ECG machines that are now widely utilized in hospitals and clinics. These machines are often programmed with advanced ECG templates, resulting in a significant rise in the detection of synthetically generated waveforms that are sometimes misidentified as ECG artifacts. Many of these synthetic artifacts display exaggerated beat-to-beat variations in the P-QRS-T complex. Such waveforms may be erroneously interpreted by clinicians as conditions such as atrial flutter, ventricular tachycardia, or even widened QRS complexes, leading to unnecessary alarm, misinterpretation, and potential mismanagement of the patient's actual condition.

Moreover, the assessment of ischemia and myocardial infarction can be significantly convoluted by these ECG artifacts. The misleading nature of these artifacts can lead to them mimicking genuine findings, such as ST depression and elevation, or T-wave inversion, thus complicating the clinical picture and potentially jeopardizing patient safety. Therefore, the ability to effectively employ an ECG monitor to obtain a reliable tracing and interpret its data accurately is not merely considered an ancillary skill; it is, in fact, a fundamental and essential competency in the comprehensive assessment and management of patients who present with various cardiopulmonary

complaints and issues. This skill is critically important, particularly when it comes to distinguishing between genuine cardiac events that require urgent intervention and those that are simply artifacts generated by the numerous physiological and technological factors that can influence ECG readings [430, 431, 432, 433, 434, 435, 436]

Numerous potential sources of ECG artifact have been described and researched in great detail across various medical disciplines. Studies examining the effect of electromagnetic interference (EMI) on medical devices represent a vast body of literature that has accumulated over many years. Among these, cell phones have been extensively studied and have been identified as a significant source of potential EMI, particularly due to their ability to disrupt the normal functioning of electronic medical equipment, including their impact on accurate ECG capture. Additionally, the effect of EMI on implanted devices, especially cardiac pacemakers, has also been subject to extensive research, revealing insights into how such interference can impact device performance and patient outcomes. Furthermore, a malfunction of an ECG machine cable is documented as a potential cause of ECG artifact, highlighting the importance of regular equipment maintenance and checks. Notably, if ECG leads become disconnected at the machine monitor, they would typically exhibit a flat line tracing accompanied by a standard beep cadence, indicating a loss of signal. Moreover, the ECG artifact generated by a faulty cardiac monitor lead from the bedside monitor has been shown to successfully simulate an irregularly irregular rhythm, which can lead to misinterpretations of a patient's cardiac status. This type of flat line artifact has been consistently noted and documented in numerous medical settings, including outpatient physician offices, various clinical environments, emergency departments, and within hospital wards, irrespective of geography, underscoring the need for vigilance in monitoring equipment and understanding the sources of potential artifacts in ECG readings [437, 438, 439, 440].

9.2 Limitations of ECG

By measuring the subtle electrical potentials of the heart in a non-invasive manner, electrocardiography (ECG) effectively captures the dynamic electrical activity of the heart through its sophisticated methods. This advanced technique employs strategically placed electrodes that are positioned on the surfaces of the skin across essential areas such as the chest, arms, and legs, which play a crucial role in recording the electrical potential differences of the heart in relation to time. As the earliest and arguably most useful investigation ever conducted in the extensive field of cardiology, ECG is routinely performed in various critical and life-saving settings, including the

emergency room, medical wards, and post-anesthesia care units where monitoring is essential for patient safety. A careful and thorough inspection and analysis of the heart's rhythm, intervals, axes, and morphology is required to ensure accurate interpretation of the results. This, combined with a detailed analysis of multiple leads, helps to ascertain comprehensive insights into the heart's electrical function. ECG stands as the first-line investigation for suspected arrhythmias, various conduction system disorders, and for diagnosing conditions such as myocardial ischemic heart disease, highlighting its indispensable and vital role in modern cardiology and in ensuring effective patient care [1, 441, 442, 443, 444, 445, 446].

Infants may manifest a variety of congenital disorders that can potentially lead to serious cardiac arrhythmias. There is also a wide spectrum of abnormalities related to electrolytes that may contribute to the development of these arrhythmias. Emergency department physicians have a crucial role in life-threatening syndromes by carefully analyzing electrocardiogram (ECG) and should promptly refer patients for further evaluation and specialized care as necessary. It is important to note that ECG changes associated with cardiac surgery may arise and be observed in the postoperative period. A thorough knowledge of normal variants, as well as the potential artifacts created by monitors and pacemakers, can significantly aid in the accurate interpretation of the results obtained from the ECG readings. To ensure proper interpretation and diagnosis, a good quality ECG is essential. Nonetheless, electrocardiography does have several drawbacks that hinder its effective use and subsequent referral. Challenges include limiting motion artifacts that can obscure readings, electromyography noise that may interfere with the data, and issues with baselines drifting over time, which can complicate analysis. Many ECGs are reported over-the-wire, which means they are transmitted electronically, while others may simply consist of scanned images from a physical printout. A standard lead ECG typically consists of a comprehensive 12-channel recording presented in several formats, which can include 10-second or 7-second traces. It is imperative that this recording be intact, clear, and easily readable to allow for accurate evaluation. In addition to the recording quality, important patient demographic details must also be included, and the precise position of electrodes, the time of the record, as well as the specific filter settings employed during the ECG procedure should be described in detail for the benefit of those reviewing the results [447, 448, 372, 449, 450, 451]

The machine interpretation of abnormal ECG readings can often create a misleading sense of safety and security for patients and healthcare providers

alike. The interpretation of these crucial ECG results is significantly dependent on the depth of experience and expertise possessed by the medical interpreters involved in this critical analysis. Unfortunately, this interpretation process is frequently incomplete and not prioritized in the manner it should be to ensure the best outcomes for patients. In numerous cases, very few primary care referrals actually undergo a thorough and meticulous review by experienced cardiologists, which can inevitably result in considerable delays in obtaining necessary medical interventions that could have been provided much sooner.

Furthermore, there has been a noticeable and concerning decline in the ECG interpretation skills among physicians over the years, which only serves to worsen the existing problem and contributes to an elevated risk of fostering undue false safety perceptions among both doctors and patients. This unfortunate situation can ultimately lead to serious and potentially harmful referral delays for patients who are suffering from manageable diseases that would greatly benefit from timely and appropriate treatment interventions. The ramifications of such delays can be significant, underscoring the need for improving ECG interpretation practices and ensuring that medical professionals are well-equipped to make informed and accurate assessments [452, 153, 453, 377, 28, 27]

9.3 Common pitfalls

Despite their inherent reliability, electrocardiograms (ECGs) are susceptible to a wide variety of artifacts that can arise due to a number of factors such as the movement by the patient, leads that are improperly placed, faulty medical equipment, and background noise. Understanding these potential pitfalls is crucial, as it can significantly prevent misinterpretation of the ECG results. Furthermore, recommendations specifically tailored for the acquisition and interpretation of ECGs can greatly aid healthcare providers who incorporate ECGs into their clinical practice. One of the most commonly encountered issues, motion artifacts, occurs frequently when patients make movements during the ECG acquisition process. If at all possible, it is advisable for the patient to sit quietly and remain still during the duration of the ECG recording. Additionally, when the acquisition of the ECG takes place in a setting that is different from the usual environment, steps should be taken to ensure that the patient does not move too much as a result of feeling uncomfortable or disoriented in the new surroundings. Moreover, in circumstances where repeated ECGs need to be performed in a location that is removed from the standard systolic blood pressure (BP) measurement machine as well as the fetal heart rate (FHR) monitor, it is very important to have a nurse assist the patient while they transition to the new location where the ECG will be acquired. During this transitional period, other ECGs can be performed so that a similar spot in the waveform can be printed, which may help ensure consistency in the readings. It is highly recommended that ECGs be processed as soon as possible after the patient has been connected to the BP machine and the FHR monitor, to avoid any potential delays or inaccuracies in the data collected.

Another frequent pitfall that can lead to misleading results in ECG acquisition is the improper placement of the leads. Depending on their exact positioning, the physical proximity of the limb leads can give rise to the typical inferior or right precordial changes that can be erroneously interpreted during analysis. Therefore, it can prove beneficial to acquire lead II measurements along with direct observations of the patient that may include arm movements, levels of consciousness, and any indications of shivering. An especially unusual case is presented where ECG artifacts were caused by faulty bedside cardiac monitor leads, which were rare yet had significant consequences. In a patient who was experiencing chest pain, an error in readings led to potential mismanagement which could have been avoided with proper checks in place. Given the increased utilization of remote monitoring techniques for patients via telemetry, a comprehensive, systematic approach is essential to routinely check for faulty connections and malfunctioning equipment. Possible solutions to currently address these pressing concerns are also discussed in this context. The ECG stands as one of the most important diagnostic instruments employed by medical providers in their practices. It should be noted that artifacts are extremely common in the interpretation of ECGs. For example, nocturnal ST monitoring systems, which are capable of continuously saving ECGs and rhythm traces throughout the duration of the night, play a significant role in helping synchronize patients with their symptoms when they arrive at the emergency department. This synchronization can substantially expedite the time it takes to reach a diagnosis and reinforce proper decision-making regarding patient management and care [430, 1, 454, 455, 408, 77, 456, 380]

Chapter - 10

Future Directions in ECG Technology

Electrocardiography of the 21st century: Systematic Review on Spatio-Temporal Analysis, Interpretation, and Clinical Applications

The Electrocardiogram (ECG) signal stands out as the most crucial element in cardiac electrophysiological research, particularly for patients who are suffering from coronary artery disease (CAD), which is a leading cause of morbidity and mortality globally. The various spatial and temporal aspects of ECG signals are fundamentally dependent on the advancements that have been made in different ECG acquisition technologies over the years. This study aims to conduct a thorough and systematic review of contemporary electrocardiographic technologies that focus specifically on the acquisition of spatial and temporal information. Through this comprehensive examination, we provide a detailed and extensive description of the most cutting-edge techniques currently available in this vital field. The innovative technologies discussed here, such as advanced signal processing methods and machine learning algorithms, can significantly play a vital role in enhancing future cardiac detection systems. Additionally, these systems are aimed at characterizing various cardiac conditions, ultimately benefiting clinical practices, diagnostic precision, and patient outcomes in a meaningful way. Our findings suggest that the integration of these advanced technologies into routine clinical use could lead to improved monitoring and management strategies for patients with cardiac conditions, thereby revolutionizing cardiovascular healthcare in the coming years [457, 458, 416, 459, 460, 461, 462, 463, 464]

Electrocardiogram (ECG): A historical review and future directions

The Electrocardiogram (ECG) has been recognized as one of the most essential and transformative biomedical engineering technologies for more than a century, specifically over a period exceeding 100 years. This comprehensive survey was meticulously designed to provide an extensive review of the history of the ECG while placing a particular focus on the significant development trend of ECG technology that has persisted over the past two decades. In addition to articulating the historical context, it delves deeply into the technical advancements that have characterized the evolution

of ECG devices, their accuracy, and the quality of readings produced. Furthermore, it aims to explore the future possibilities and potential avenues for further development of ECG from various perspectives, including the patient side, hardware innovations, interpretation improvements, and diverse application expansions. This includes a discussion on wearable technology and the integration of artificial intelligence, which promise to revolutionize how data is collected and analyzed. The potential for advancements in these areas promises to enhance the effectiveness and utility of ECG in clinical practice, potentially leading to earlier detection of cardiac issues, personalized patient care, and improved overall health outcomes. The role of ECG in telehealth is also examined, highlighting how remote monitoring can facilitate better patient engagement and management of chronic conditions [465, 466, 467, 468, 469, 470, 471]

Trends of Electrocardiography Technologies Characterizing electrocardiogram (ECG), which is a crucial and indispensable tool within modern medicine, has numerous applications that extend well beyond the foundational experimental studies to encompass a wide range of clinical, diagnostic, and commercial utilization. This extensive utilization distinctly positions the ECG as an essential area of research focus not only within the fields of biomedical engineering and signal processing but also across other related domains for an extended period of time. By employing sophisticated and advanced topic modeling techniques on a comprehensive collection of papers published over a vast span of time between the years 1965-2015 in the biomedical engineering journals that are known to carry the highest impact factor, it successfully identifies a remarkable total of 159 explicit terms that are specifically associated with the subject of ECG. Furthermore, further indepth analyses unveil particular trends that are intricately related to these terms and their associated topics, which consistently evolve and change over distinct and varying time periods. For a comprehensive and nuanced understanding of these evolving trends, six representative clusters have been suggested for more thorough and detailed investigation and exploration. This substantial research significantly exemplifies effective methodologies for efficiently managing and thoroughly analyzing large sets of textual data, all while simultaneously extracting and visualizing valuable insights and intelligence from such complex data [69, 73, 159, 67, 472].

10.1 Wearable ECG devices

Wearable devices play an increasingly vital and essential role in the continuous monitoring of patients' health. The emergence of point-of-care (POC) systems and wearable sensors is becoming more prevalent as an

effective way to monitor health conditions on an ongoing basis. POC technology and wearable sensors have the potential to assist patients in actively monitoring themselves autonomously, allowing them to take charge of their own health while also facilitating collaboration with medical team visits during check-ups or consultations. This innovative approach can significantly reduce the need for hospitalization among patients, which in turn contributes to lowering overall healthcare costs. By leveraging the benefits of POC and wearable technology, healthcare systems can achieve greater efficiency and resource allocation. The data collected through these wearable sensors can be invaluable, as it is used to monitor and record real-time information regarding patients' health conditions. These data encompass a wide array of metrics, including, but not limited to, electrocardiograms, heart rates, body temperature, and blood pressure measurements. Recently, there has been a marked increase in interest and focus on the application of wearable devices specifically for the monitoring of cardiovascular diseases, which are currently recognized as the leading cause of death on a global scale. For over a decade, wearable technology has captured the attention and interest of both researchers and clinicians alike, who are keen on utilizing it for long-term monitoring of patients suffering from cardiovascular diseases outside the confines of a hospital setting. There have been several studies conducted examining wearable devices that possess the capability to monitor various physiological parameters directly linked to cardiovascular diseases, such as heart electrical activity, blood pressure, and additional crucial metrics, showcasing their relevance and potential in improving patient outcomes [473, 71, 474, 475, 476, 289, 477, 478]

Wearable devices are typically characterized by being light in weight, portable, and comfortable enough to wear for extended periods, all while being adequately designed to promote ease of movement. Additionally, they possess electrical characteristics that minimize potential interference, ensuring accurate functionality. In alignment with these essential characteristics, wearable devices intended for medical purposes have emerged as a significant focus of interest, captivating the attention of both engineers and clinicians alike. This has led to a challenging design task, particularly in the realm of electrocardiogram (ECG) devices. Among the various options available, the most popular commercial devices utilized for daily heart monitoring are smartwatches. These innovative devices are equipped to record a single-lead ECG through the incorporation of metallic dry-contact electrodes that are carefully integrated into the watch case. Once the ECG is captured, this one-lead ECG data is transmitted seamlessly to the owner's smartphone, where it undergoes further processing through a sophisticated cloud-based algorithm

designed to analyze the information. Research has indicated that utilizing a one-lead ECG can significantly enhance the ability to diagnose arrhythmias, which are irregular heartbeats that can lead to serious complications. However, it is important to recognize that while a single-lead ECG is beneficial, it does not provide sufficient data to diagnose other cardiac disorders, which often require more comprehensive analysis and additional leads to ensure accurate diagnosis and treatment [479, 480, 481, 482, 483, 484].

10.2 Artificial Intelligence in ECG analysis

Artificial Intelligence (AI) brings forth an array of thrilling possibilities that could significantly transform and advance the future landscape of ECG interpretation. Over the years, neural networks have made impressive strides and have been successfully trained to conduct computerized automatic analysis of Electrocardiograms (ECGs). However, it is crucial to note that these models necessitate a substantial amount of labeled data in order to achieve robust generalization performance that can be reliably utilized in clinical environments. Compounding this challenge is the fact that, unlike physical resources and the wealth of medical knowledge available, the pressing need for such extensive labeled data substantially restricts the deployment of computational resources in various healthcare settings, including both hospitals and community clinics where access to such resources can be limited.

Moreover, it is important to address that the performance of these deep learning models tends to degrade sharply when they are deployed in real-world scenarios without additional fine-tuning or retraining. This decline in performance is primarily attributed to the difference or shift that often occurs between in-lab training data and the out-of-lab test data encountered in actual clinical practice. There are at least two other persistent and unresolved issues that continue to provoke ongoing debate among researchers in the ECG field. Given the considerable volumes of labeled medical image data that are currently available, a pertinent question arises: will the application of this data to other imaging modalities contribute significant insights and enhance knowledge related to ECG analysis?

Due to the scarcity and limited availability of additional datasets specifically for training purposes, the methodology of supervised pre-training or co-training on other relevant modalities emerges as a promising and viable alternative. Importantly, transfer learning relies on a fundamental assumption that the source and target domains share analogous distributions. However, this foundational assumption might be overly stringent, posing potential challenges, as models that have been pre-trained on large-scale external

datasets may suffer from overfitting on the new dataset, particularly if the new dataset lacks sufficient diversity. Furthermore, another vital technical consideration is that the deployed ECG processing system is expected to operate effectively on scanned images rather than traditional ECGs. Consequently, there is a pressing need for end-to-end models within the ECG interpretation discipline, as these models are essential to minimize extra latency, reduce operational costs, and alleviate issues related to image coarseness that may arise during the image smoothing process [485, 328, 83, 486, 327, 487, 378, 488, 66].

Machine Learning (ML) in the analysis of cardiovascular disorders has significantly opened up a groundbreaking new avenue in the medical field. Numerous computerized analysis systems have been meticulously developed for these ECG models, including a variety of advanced techniques such as transformations, frequency domain statistics, wavelet transforms, recurrence analysis, and fiducial point-based methods. Given the inherently nonstationary nature of EEG signals, these approaches typically extracted vital information from time-frequency domains to better understand the data. Nevertheless, based on the consensus of the professional community, it is evident that fewer interpretable methods have been thoroughly developed for effective ECG interpretation. Most of these methods primarily emphasize optimizing the model's performance for specific tasks, rather than delving into understanding its inner workings and mechanisms. Consequently, their recommendations and insights are frequently overlooked or disregarded by practitioners in the field [489, 490, 69, 491].

10.3 Telemedicine and remote monitoring

The increased usage and integration of information technology in the health care system has enabled a multitude of possibilities for patient care. This includes the efficient transmission of vital medical data to a doctor's office that could be located in the same city, a different region, or even a country far away from the patient, thus facilitating what is now known as telemedicine. One notable and important application of telemedicine is telecardiology, which specifically focuses on the analysis of heart data collected from patients in remote locations. This kind of service effectively specializes in the interpretation of critical heart data, such as electrocardiography (ECG) signals, offering transformative possibilities for patient care.

Telecardiology services can serve two main and crucial purposes. Firstly, for patients who are experiencing acute heart attacks, these services can provide timely interventions, ensuring that individuals receive the necessary

care enabling them to rush to a nearby hospital for immediate treatment. Secondly, for those patients who are living with chronic heart diseases, telecardiology can facilitate daily monitoring of their health status, particularly crucial when they are outside the confines of the doctor's office and traditional hospital setting. Over the last 30 years, the process of ECG data acquisition has been thoroughly investigated, demonstrating a reputable level of accuracy in the readings obtained. However, the challenge of how to efficiently transmit high-dimensional ECG signals continues to be an ongoing area of research.

Simultaneously, health care systems worldwide are undergoing updates to evolve toward a more patient-centric model of personal health care. In this new paradigm, patients are expected to engage more actively with medical professionals, fostering a sense of empowerment and a more comprehensive understanding of their health. It is important to acknowledge that within the population of any given country, there are individuals who could be completely out of range of existing health services. These individuals may not regularly visit hospitals, lack a family doctor, or engage in traditional methods of health measurement and reporting, which could leave them vulnerable.

In light of these challenges, there exists a significant opportunity to customize sensor networks tailored to the specific characteristics of patients, which can be installed whenever necessary. The development of wireless personal ECG sensors holds great promise, as they will continuously provide data from patients who are on the borderline of becoming ill. This innovative approach will not only enable early warning response mechanisms but will also allow for preventive actions to be taken, ultimately contributing to better overall health outcomes for these patients. By utilizing advanced technology and heart monitoring systems, we can significantly enhance patient engagement and health management strategies [492, 493, 494, 495, 496, 497, 498].

Recent exponential growth in cloud computing and storage and emerging low-cost mobile devices have opened new opportunity for telehealth services delivery. High bandwidth mobile communication networks provide a great opportunity to extend current telehealth services to rural areas and enable telehomecare and emergency services. However, making the novel mobile and cloud technologies working synergistically for innovative telecardiology services poses a great challenge. Proposed a mobile cloud computing framework of telecardiology services and examines key issues and the associated research challenges. Also presented the collaborative compression and streaming of ECG signals processing paradigm, named chronic health management (CHM) services for chronic patients, and defined four types of

mobile and cloud telecardiology services for emergency situations for heart attack suspects. These services rely on the individuals' and local hospitals' mobile devices and resources $^{[499,\,500,\,501]}$.

Chapter - 11

Conclusion

Electrocardiography (ECG) is a remarkably useful and important clinical tool for the assessment of the heart. ECG can provide physicians with valuable information in a very short time. When interpreting the ECG tracing, it is important to go through a systematic approach, the safest methods being methodical checklists or memory aids, which ensure that nothing is overlooked. As ECGs can be complicated to interpret, it is also helpful to have protocol-driven management pathways to make sure that the critical components of patient care are accounted for. Indeed, ECG interpretation is mainly a clinical assessment. Those physicians who are unfamiliar with the intricacies of the ECG need to know that there is much to learn. Having a systematic approach, lots of clinical experience, taking ECGs looking for abnormalities and getting feedback from colleagues are key components of becoming a better interpreter of the electrocardiogram.

Within this review paper, a clinical presentation of broad cardiologic syndromes with their associated arrhythmias is presented, which include the Brugada syndrome, pre-excitation syndromes, long QT syndromes, short QT syndrome, and acute myocardial infarction with ST-segment elevation. Each syndrome is considered within the general context, focusing on its narrative. The use of those uncommon cardiological syndromes is becoming obsolete, as pathological knowledge via social networks and nomadic tools has decreased the range of medical presentation diffusion and physicians' experience. But rare syndromes are still present, as common syndromes do not have the exclusivity and singularity criterion required for publication in Specialty Journals. An effort was made to collaterally assess the ECG findings that characterize less common syndromes on case-based learning examples.

References

- 1. A. Balta, A. Ceasovschih, V. Şorodoc, K. Dimitriadis *et al.*, "Broad Electrocardiogram Syndromes Spectrum: From Common Emergencies to Particular Electrical Heart Disorders," 2022. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- S. Joukar, "A comparative review on heart ion channels, action potentials and electrocardiogram in rodents and human: extrapolation of experimental insights to clinic," Laboratory Animal Research, 2021. springer.com
- G. Georgieva-Tsaneva and E. Gospodinova, "Examination of cardiac activity with ECG monitoring using heart rate variability methods," Diagnostics, vol. 2024. mdpi.com
- 4. N. M. S. De Groot, D. Shah, P. M. Boyle, E. Anter, "... working group on eCardiology in collaboration with the heart rhythm society, asia pacific heart rhythm society, Latin American heart rhythm society and computing in ...," EP, 2022. nih.gov
- 5. P. M. van Dam, M. Boonstra, E. T. Locati, and P. Loh, "The relation of 12 lead ECG to the cardiac anatomy: the normal CineECG," Journal of Electrocardiology, 2021. sciencedirect.com
- M. J. Boonstra, D. H. Brooks, P. Loh, and P. M. van Dam, "CineECG: a novel method to image the average activation sequence in the heart from the 12-lead ECG," in *Medical Engineering & Physics*, vol. 2022, Elsevier, sciencedirect.com
- 7. M. A. Rahman, Y. Li, T. Nabeed, "Remote monitoring of heart rate and ECG signal using ESP32," in *2021 4th International Conference on Smart Technology and Applications (ICoSTA)*, 2021. researchgate.net
- 8. F. khiled AL-Jibory, M. A. Younis, and M. S. H. Al-Tamimi, "Preparing of ECG Dataset for Biometric ID Identification with Creative Techniques," TEM Journal, 2022. researchgate.net
- 9. A. McGrath, M. Sampson, A. McGrath, and M. Sampson, "Understanding the ECG Part 2: ECG basics," 2016. [PDF]
- V. Valente, "Evolution of biotelemetry in medical devices: From radio pills to mm-scale implants," IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Circuits and Systems, vol. XX, no. YY, pp. ZZ-ZZ, 2022. [HTML]

- 11. A. UUSITALO, "Heart Rate and Rhythm in Newborns During 24-hour Electrocardiographic Monitoring," trepo.tuni.fi, tuni.fi
- 12. S. Paul, A. Saikia, V. Majhi, and V. K. Pandey, "Introduction to Biomedical Instrumentation and Its Applications," 2022. [HTML]
- 13. R.W. Baloh, "Brain Waves and Brain Stimulation," in *Brain Electricity: The Interwoven History of Electricity*, Springer, 2024. [HTML]
- 14. P. Burgess, "ECG: Recording the electrical activity of the heart," British Journal of Healthcare Assistants, 2022. [HTML]
- 15. O. Dössel, G. Luongo, C. Nagel, and A. Loewe, "Computer modeling of the heart for ECG interpretation a review," Hearts, 2021. mdpi.com
- 16. H. Mirzajani and M. Kraft, "Soft bioelectronics for heart monitoring," Acs Sensors, 2024. [HTML]
- 17. IPK Reddy, B. Hudson, A. Hanif Mohammed, "Echoes of Heart: Harnessing Wearable Tech for Cardiac Insights," ResearchGate. researchgate.net
- 18. K. Vijaipriya, C. Priya, S. Sivanandan, "ECG monitoring system using IoT for health care applications," in 2023 Second International Conference on Intelligent Computing and Control Systems (ICICCS), 2023. [HTML]
- K. Hennis, M. Biel, C. Wahl-Schott, and S. Fenske, "Beyond pacemaking: HCN channels in sinoatrial node function," *Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology*, vol. 2021, Elsevier. sciencedirect.com
- 20. K. Hennis, C. Piantoni, M. Biel, S. Fenske, "Pacemaker channels and the chronotropic response in health and disease," *Circulation*, 2024. ahajournals.org
- 21. T. A. Quinn and P. Kohl, "Cardiac mechano-electric coupling: acute effects of mechanical stimulation on heart rate and rhythm," Physiological reviews, 2021. physiology.org
- 22. AA Manolis, TA Manolis, EJ Apostolopoulos, "The role of the autonomic nervous system in cardiac arrhythmias: the neuro-cardiac axis, more foe than friend?" Trends in Cardiovascular Medicine, vol. 2021, Elsevier. [HTML]
- 23. S. Choi, M. Baudot, O. Vivas, and C. M. Moreno, "Slowing down as we age: aging of the cardiac pacemaker's neural control," Geroscience, 2022. springer.com

- 24. V. A. Maltsev and M. D. Stern, "The paradigm shift: Heartbeat initiation without "the pacemaker cell"," Frontiers in Physiology, 2022. frontiersin.org
- 25. N. Makris, Z. Kotsialou, and S. Gall, "Origin and regulation of the normal heartbeat," Anaesthesia & Intensive Care Medicine, 2024. [HTML]
- 26. C. M. Ripplinger, "Neural regulation of cardiac rhythm," Cardiovascular signaling in health and disease, 2022. nih.gov
- 27. M. T. Sqalli, D. Al-Thani, M. B. Elshazly, and others, "Understanding cardiology practitioners' interpretations of electrocardiograms: an eyetracking study," *Human Factors*, vol. 2022. jmir.org
- 28. K. Amini, A. Mirzaei, M. Hosseini, H. Zandian, "Assessment of electrocardiogram interpretation competency among healthcare professionals and students of Ardabil University of Medical Sciences: a ...," BMC Medical, vol. 2022, Springer. springer.com
- 29. Z. Hu, L. Wu, Z. Lin, X. Liu, and C. Zhao, "Prevalence and associated factors of electrocardiogram abnormalities in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus: A machine learning study," *Arthritis Care & Research*, vol. 2022, Wiley Online Library. [HTML]
- J. Cano, L. Fácila, J. M. Gracia-Baena, R. Zangróniz, "The relevance of calibration in machine learning-based hypertension risk assessment combining photoplethysmography and electrocardiography," Biosensors, 2022. mdpi.com
- 31. K. S. Adewole, H. A. Mojeed, J. A. Ogunmodede, "Expert system and decision support system for electrocardiogram interpretation and diagnosis: review, challenges and research directions," *Applied Sciences*, vol. 12, no. X, 2022. mdpi.com
- 32. F. Scardulla, G. Cosoli, S. Spinsante, A. Poli, and G. Iadarola, "Photoplethysmograhic sensors, potential and limitations: Is it time for regulation? A comprehensive review," Measurement, vol. 2023, Elsevier. sciencedirect.com
- 33. T. BAK, W. Schlotz, and C. Abel, "At the heart of optimal reading experiences: cardiovascular activity and flow experiences in fiction reading," *Reading Research*, vol. 2022, Wiley Online Library. wiley.com
- 34. S. Mishra, N. Srinivasan, and U. S. Tiwary, "Cardiac-brain dynamics

- depend on context familiarity and their interaction predicts experience of emotional arousal," Brain Sciences, 2022. mdpi.com
- 35. K. Wesley, "Huszar's ECG and 12-Lead Interpretation-E-Book: Huszar's ECG and 12-Lead Interpretation-E-Book," 2021. [HTML]
- 36. E. Vergara-Escudero, S. Vieau, and P. A. Iaizzo, "Basic ECG Theory, 12-Lead Recordings and Their Interpretation," in *Handbook of Cardiac Anatomy*, 2024, Springer. [HTML]
- 37. A. Savostin, K. Koshekov, Y. Ritter, G. Savostina, "12-Lead ECG Reconstruction Based on Data From the First Limb Lead," *Cardiovascular ... *, 2024. [HTML]
- 38. A. Grande-Fidalgo, J. Calpe, M. Redón, C. Millán-Navarro, "Lead reconstruction using artificial neural networks for ambulatory ECG acquisition," Sensors, vol. 21, 2021. mdpi.com
- 39. C. Wan, S. Gao, X. Shang, Z. Wu, T. Li, and others, "A Flexible and Stretchable 12-Lead Electrocardiogram System with Individually Deformable Interconnects," *Advanced Materials*, vol. 34, no. 5, 2022. [HTML]
- 40. N. P. Venkatesh, B. Arya, B. Dhananjay, and others, "The role of optimal and modified lead systems in electrocardiogram," Advanced Methods in..., 2023. researchgate.net
- 41. L. Li, H. Smith, Y. Lyu, J. Camps, S. Qian, B. Rodriguez, "Personalized topology-informed localization of standard 12-lead ECG electrode placement from incomplete cardiac MRIs for efficient cardiac digital twins," Medical Image..., 2025. sciencedirect.com
- 42. R. McCraty and A. Al Abdulgader, "Consciousness, the human heart and the global energetic field environment," Cardiol Vasc Res, 2021. scivisionpub.com
- 43. C. Xu, H. Li, Z. Li, H. Zhang, A. S. Rathore, and X. Chen, "Cardiacwave: A mmwave-based scheme of non-contact and high-definition heart activity computing," *Proceedings of the ...*, 2021. nsf.gov
- 44. X. Dong, Y. Wu, Z. Tu, B. Cao, X. Li, Z. Yang, and F. Liu, "Influence of ambient temperature on personnel thermal comfort and working efficiency under isolation condition of underground engineering," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 202, pp. 123-130, 2022. [HTML]
- 45. S. Bian, M. Liu, B. Zhou, P. Lukowicz, "Body-area capacitive or electric field sensing for human activity recognition and human-computer

- interaction: A comprehensive survey," *Proceedings of the ACM on ...*, 2024. [PDF]
- 46. M. M. Damián-Chávez and P. E. Ledesma-Coronado, "Environmental noise at library learning commons affects student performance and electrophysiological functioning," Physiology & Behavior, vol. 202, pp. 1-10, 2021. [HTML]
- 47. M. S. Qasim, D. S. Bari, and G. Martinsen, "Influence of ambient temperature on tonic and phasic electrodermal activity components," Physiological Measurement, 2022. [HTML]
- 48. N. Wambui, "Medical Identification and Sensing Technology for Assisting and E-Health Monitoring Systems for Disabled and Elderly Persons," Journal of Biomedical and Sustainable Healthcare, vol. 2022. anapub.co.ke
- 49. Z. Liu, X. Wan, Z. L. Wang, and L. Li, "Electroactive biomaterials and systems for cell fate determination and tissue regeneration: design and applications," Advanced Materials, 2021. wanggenerator.com
- 50. S. Ruwali, B. A. Fernando, S. Talebi, and L. Wijeratne, "Gauging ambient environmental carbon dioxide concentration solely using biometric observations: A machine learning approach," Medical Research, vol. 2024, esmed.org. esmed.org
- 51. J. Kafková, B. Babušiak, R. Pirník, P. Kuchár, and J. Kekelák, "Seat to beat: Novel capacitive ECG integration for in-car cardiovascular measurement," Measurement, vol. 2025, Elsevier. sciencedirect.com
- J. Zang, Q. An, B. Li, Z. Zhang, L. Gao, and C. Xue, "A novel wearable device integrating ECG and PCG for cardiac health monitoring," Microsystems & ..., 2025. nature.com
- 53. C. Kaewrat, D. Anopas, S. T. Aung, and Y. Punsawad, "Application of augmented reality technology for chest ECG electrode placement practice," Informatics, 2024. mdpi.com
- 54. P. K. Rajeev, M. Suchetha, J. Subramanian, "Flexible Conductive Polymer Reinforced Polyurethane Foam for Real-Time Human Body Electrical Signal Sensing and ECG peaks," IEEE Sensors Journal, vol. XX, no. YY, pp. ZZ-ZZ, 2024. [HTML]
- 55. S. Youn, K. Mathur, and A. Mills, "FitECG: Validating contact pressure prediction model for inclusive wearable health monitoring with sports bra," Sensors and Actuators A: Physical, 2025. [HTML]

- AC Palmisciano, M. Rossi, A. Farabbi, N. Antonello, "Eyewear-Based ECG Recording: A Novel Head-Electrode Approach for Reliable Cardiac Signal Acquisition," IEEE, 2025. ieee.org
- 57. J. Et-Tousy, S. Et-Tousy, S. Ait El Aouad, "Enhanced 12-Lead ECG Reconstruction from Single-Lead Data Using WaveNet," ITM Web of Conferences, 2024. itm-conferences.org
- K. May-Newman, "A mathematical model of artificial pulse synchronization for the HeartMate3 left ventricular assist device," ASAIO Journal, 2023. [HTML]
- 59. T. Engelen, M. Solcà, and C. Tallon-Baudry, "Interoceptive rhythms in the brain," Nature Neuroscience, 2023. hal.science
- 60. H. Dejea, C. M. Schlepütz, N. Méndez-Carmona, *et al.*, "A tomographic microscopy-compatible Langendorff system for the dynamic structural characterization of the cardiac cycle," Frontiers in ..., 2022. frontiersin.org
- 61. M. Easterling, S. Rossi, A. J. Mazzella, *et al.*, "Assembly of the cardiac pacemaking complex: electrogenic principles of sinoatrial node morphogenesis," *Journal of Cardiovascular*, vol. 2021. mdpi.com
- 62. L. Donald and E. G. Lakatta, "What makes the sinoatrial node tick? A question not for the faint of heart," *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society*, vol. 2023. royalsocietypublishing.org
- 63. E. F. Fouragnan, B. Hosking, Y. Cheung, *et al.*, "Timing along the cardiac cycle modulates neural signals of reward-based learning," *Nature*, 2024. nature.com
- 64. S. Kunzendorf, "The psychophysiology of heart-brain-interactions: how active information sampling is modulated across the cardiac cycle," 2022. fu-berlin.de
- 65. K. Staszak, B. Tylkowski, and M. Staszak, "From data to diagnosis: How machine learning is changing heart health monitoring," *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health*, vol. 2023. mdpi.com
- 66. P. A. Moreno-Sánchez, G. García-Isla, and V. D. A. Corino, "ECG-based data-driven solutions for diagnosis and prognosis of cardiovascular diseases: A systematic review," *Computers in Biology and Medicine*, vol. 2024, Elsevier. sciencedirect.com
- 67. X. Liu, H. Wang, Z. Li, and L. Qin, "Deep learning in ECG diagnosis: A review," Knowledge-Based Systems, 2021. [HTML]

- 68. K. Garikapati, S. Turnbull, R. G. Bennett, "The role of contemporary wearable and handheld devices in the diagnosis and management of cardiac arrhythmias," Heart, Lung and ..., vol. XX, no. YY, pp. ZZ-ZZ, 2022. [HTML]
- 69. N. Rafie, A. H. Kashou, and P. A. Noseworthy, "ECG interpretation: clinical relevance, challenges, and advances," Hearts, 2021. mdpi.com
- 70. B. Ose, Z. Sattar, A. Gupta, C. Toquica, C. Harvey, "Artificial intelligence interpretation of the electrocardiogram: a state-of-the-art review," Current Cardiology, vol. 2024, Springer. [HTML]
- G. Prieto-Avalos, N. A. Cruz-Ramos, G. Alor-Hernandez, "Wearable devices for physical monitoring of heart: a review," *Biosensors*, 2022. mdpi.com
- 72. T. Anbalagan, M. K. Nath, D. Vijayalakshmi, "Analysis of various techniques for ECG signal in healthcare, past, present, and future," Biomedical Engineering, vol. 2023, Elsevier. sciencedirect.com
- 73. P. Kamga, R. Mostafa, and S. Zafar, "The use of wearable ECG devices in the clinical setting: a review," Current Emergency and Hospital Medicine, vol. 2022, Springer. springer.com
- 74. E. Merdjanovska and A. Rashkovska, "Comprehensive survey of computational ECG analysis: Databases, methods and applications," Expert Systems with Applications, 2022. sciencedirect.com
- 75. H. Dai, H. G. Hwang, and V. S. Tseng, "Convolutional neural network based automatic screening tool for cardiovascular diseases using different intervals of ECG signals," *Computer Methods and Programs in Biomedicine*, vol. 198, pp. 105-123, 2021. [HTML]
- H. V. Denysyuk, R. J. Pinto, P. M. Silva, R. P. Duarte, "Algorithms for automated diagnosis of cardiovascular diseases based on ECG data: A comprehensive systematic review," Heliyon, vol. 9, no. 7, 2023. cell.com
- 77. M. Hammad, R. N. Kandala, A. Abdelatey, M. Abdar, "Automated detection of shockable ECG signals: A review," *Information*, vol. 2021, Elsevier. iitis.pl
- 78. R. Morello, F. Ruffa, I. Jablonski, L. Fabbiano, "An IoT based ECG system to diagnose cardiac pathologies for healthcare applications in smart cities," Measurement, vol. 2022, Elsevier. [HTML]
- 79. M. D. Gupta, S. Kunal, M. P. Girish, A. Gupta *et al.*, "Artificial intelligence in cardiology: The past, present and future," Indian heart journal, 2022. sciencedirect.com

- 80. M. Saad Norhashimah and A. Aabdul Rahim, "Detection of heart blocks in ECG signal by spectral estimation techniques," 2006. [PDF]
- 81. R. K. Kanna, A. A. Ansari, N. Kripa, and G. Jyothi, "Automated defective ECG signal detection using MATLAB applications," in *Proceedings of the International Conference on Engineering and Technology*, 2022. [HTML]
- 82. T. Stracina, M. Ronzhina, R. Redina, "Golden standard or obsolete method? Review of ECG applications in clinical and experimental context," Frontiers in..., 2022. frontiersin.org
- 83. S. K. Saini and R. Gupta, "Artificial intelligence methods for analysis of electrocardiogram signals for cardiac abnormalities: state-of-the-art and future challenges," Artificial Intelligence Review, 2022. [HTML]
- 84. F. Kreimer, A. Aweimer, A. Pflaumbaum, *et al.*, "Impact of P-wave indices in prediction of atrial fibrillation Insight from loop recorder analysis," Annals of..., vol. 2021, Wiley Online Library. wiley.com
- 85. M. Yenerçağ, U. Arslan, O. O. Şeker, S. Dereli, "Evaluation of P-wave dispersion in patients with newly diagnosed coronavirus disease 2019," *Journal of ...*, 2021. [HTML]
- 86. P. Wang, Z. Lin, X. Yan, Z. Chen, M. Ding, Y. Song, "A wearable ECG monitor for deep learning based real-time cardiovascular disease detection," arXiv preprint arXiv:2022. [PDF]
- 87. OM Saad, Y. Chen, D. Siervo, F. Zhang, "EQCCT: A production-ready earthquake detection and phase-picking method using the compact convolutional transformer," in *2023 IEEE International Conference on Geoscience and Remote Sensing*, 2023. [HTML]
- 88. M. Chakraborty, D. Fenner, W. Li, J. Faber, "CREIME A Convolutional Recurrent Model for Earthquake Identification and Magnitude Estimation," Journal of ..., 2022. wiley.com
- 89. Q. N. Wang, Z. Y. Yang, and W. Chen, "Exotic fully heavy tetraquark states in color configuration," Physical Review D, 2021. aps.org
- 90. N. Badhwar and S. Greif, "Tachycardia and Focal Junctional Tachycardia," in *Catheter Ablation of Cardiac Arrhythmias*, 2024. [HTML]
- 91. A. McGrath and M. Sampson, "Electrocardiograms: a guide to rhythm recognition for emergency nurses," Emergency Nurse, 2024. lsbu.ac.uk

- 92. L. Saclova, A. Nemcova, R. Smisek, L. Smital, and M. Vitek, "Reliable P wave detection in pathological ECG signals," Scientific Reports, 2022. nature.com
- 93. T. K. Koley, "Junctional and Ventricular Arrhythmias," in *Rapid Review of ECG: Self-Assessment Questions*, 2024, Springer. [HTML]
- 94. A. Prisco and H. Roukoz, "The Surface Electrocardiogram and Clinical Cardiac Electrophysiology," in *Cardiac Electrophysiology Methods and Models: A ...*, 2024, Springer. [HTML]
- 95. A. Veduta, A. M. Panaitescu, A. M. Ciobanu, *et al.*, "Treatment of fetal arrhythmias," *Journal of Clinical*, vol. 2021. mdpi.com
- 96. M. Blondeel, T. Robyns, R. Willems, "Ventricular Depolarization Abnormalities and Their Role in Cardiac Risk Stratification A Narrative Review," Reviews in..., 2025. nih.gov
- 97. K. Hnatkova, I. Andršová, O. Toman, P. Smetana, "Spatial distribution of physiologic 12-lead QRS complex," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 11, no. 1, 2021. nature.com
- 98. E. Silvetti, O. Lanza, F. Romeo, A. Martino, "The pivotal role of ECG in cardiomyopathies," Frontiers in..., 2023. frontiers in.org
- S. LoCoco, A. H. Kashou, P. A. Noseworthy, "The emergence and destiny of automated methods to differentiate wide QRS complex tachycardias," Journal of..., vol. XX, no. YY, pp. ZZ-ZZ, 2023. [HTML]
- 100.S. LoCoco, A. H. Kashou, A. J. Deshmukh, S. J. Asirvatham, "Dataset and analysis of automated and manual methods to differentiate wide QRS complex tachycardias," Data in Brief, vol. 2025, Elsevier. sciencedirect.com
- 101.S. Varaganti and R. L. Manisha, "From Waves to Diagnoses: Decoding Electrocardiogram for Improved Cardiac Care," Archives of Medicine and..., 2024. lww.com
- 102.M. H. Vicco, D. W. Restrepo, S. Gupta, J. M. Farina, "Approach to ECG Interpretation in Critical Care," in Critical Care Medicine, 2025, Springer. [HTML]
- 103.M. Saritha and T. Selvan, "Monitoring Heart Rate Variability and Forecasting Heart Diseases in Electrocardiogram using Supervised Learning Algorithm," in *2025 International Conference on ...*, 2025. [HTML]

- 104.J. N. de Alencar Neto and V. F. de Andrade Matos, "ST segment and T wave abnormalities: A narrative review," Journal of..., 2024. [HTML]
- 105.A. Rizwan, P. Priyanga, E. H. Abualsauod, "A machine learning approach for the detection of QRS complexes in electrocardiogram (ECG) using discrete wavelet transform (DWT) algorithm," *Computational*, vol. 2022, Wiley Online Library. wiley.com
- 106.M. M. Kawji, "A Wide Wide QRS," JAMA Internal Medicine, 2024. [HTML]
- 107.L. R. Liu, M. Y. Huang, S. T. Huang, L. C. Kung, and C. Lee, "An Arrhythmia classification approach via deep learning using single-lead ECG without QRS wave detection," Heliyon, 2024. cell.com
- 108.G. Premalatha and V. Thulasi Bai, "Patient Health Monitoring Using Fibrillation Detection in Electrocardiogram Signal," IETE Journal of Research, 2024. [HTML]
- 109.X. Lan, F. Wu, K. He, Q. Zhao, S. Hong, and M. Feng, "Gem: Empowering mllm for grounded ecg understanding with time series and images," arXiv preprint arXiv:XXXX.XXXX, 2025. [PDF]
- 110.H. F. Stabenau and J. W. Waks, "BRAVEHEART: Open-source software for automated electrocardiographic and vectorcardiographic analysis," Computer Methods and Programs in Biomedicine, 2023. sciencedirect.com
- 111.V. Gupta, A. K. Sharma, P. K. Pandey, "Pre-processing based ECG signal analysis using emerging tools," IETE Journal of..., vol. 2024, Taylor & Francis. [HTML]
- 112.L. Bachi, L. Billeci, and M. Varanini, "QRS detection based on medical knowledge and cascades of moving average filters," Applied Sciences, 2021. mdpi.com
- 113.Z. Kotsialou, N. Makris, and S. Gall, "Fundamentals of the electrocardiogram and common cardiac arrhythmias," Anaesthesia & Intensive Care Medicine, 2024. [HTML]
- 114.S. Sobhani, R. Sara, A. Aghaee, P. Pirzadeh, "Body mass index, lipid profile, and hypertension contribute to prolonged QRS complex," Clinical Nutrition, 2022. [HTML]
- 115.R. Watanabe, K. Hori, K. Ishihara, S. Tsujikawa, "Possible role of QRS duration in the right ventricle as a perioperative monitoring parameter for right ventricular function: a prospective cohort analysis in robotic mitral ...," Frontiers in ..., 2024. frontiersin.org

- 116.A. Ivora, I. Viscor, P. Nejedly, R. Smisek, Z. Koscova, "QRS detection and classification in Holter ECG data in one inference step," *Scientific Reports*, 2022. nature.com
- 117.P. Chakraborty, M. Rahimi, A. M. Suszko, S. Massin, "Exercise-induced QRS prolongation in Brugada syndrome: implications for improving disease phenotyping and diagnosis," *Clinical Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 2024. [HTML]
- 118.S. K. Mukhopadhyay and S. Krishnan, "Robust Identification of the QRS-Complexes in Electrocardiogram Signals Using Ramanujan Filter Bank-Based Periodicity Estimation Technique," Frontiers in Signal Processing, 2022. frontiersin.org
- 119.S. Kurbel, "A vector-free ECG interpretation with P, QRS & T waves as unbalanced transitions between stable configurations of the heart electric field during P-R, S-T & T-P segments," 2014. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 120.B. B. Lerman, S. M. Markowitz, J. W. Cheung, *et al.*, "Ventricular tachycardia due to triggered activity: role of early and delayed afterdepolarizations," *Clinical Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, vol. 2024. sciencedirect.com
- 121.G. Troulliotis, A. Duncan, X. Y. Xu, A. Gandaglia, "Effect of excitation sequence of myocardial contraction on the mechanical response of the left ventricle," *Medical Engineering & Physics*, vol. 2024, Elsevier. sciencedirect.com
- 122.J. I. Emerson, P. Ariel, W. Shi, and F. L. Conlon, "Sex differences in mouse cardiac electrophysiology revealed by simultaneous imaging of excitation-contraction coupling," *Journal of Cardiovascular ...*, 2023. mdpi.com
- 123.J. A. Navarro-Garcia, F. Bruns, O. M. Moore, *et al.*, "*In vivo* cardiac electrophysiology in mice: determination of atrial and ventricular arrhythmic substrates," Current..., 2024. nih.gov
- 124.S. S. Shahrbabaki, D. Linz, S. Redline, K. Stone, K. Ensrud, *et al.*, "Sleep arousal-related ventricular repolarization lability is associated with cardiovascular mortality in older community-dwelling men," Chest, vol. 2023, Elsevier. sciencedirect.com
- 125.G. MP, M. Dayal Gupta, S. Mukhopadhyay, J. Yusuf *et al.*, "U wave: an Important Noninvasive Electrocardiographic Diagnostic Marker," 2005. [PDF]

- 126.M. Kihlgren, C. Almqvist, F. Amankhani, *et al.*, "The U-wave: a remaining enigma of the electrocardiogram," *Journal of ...*, 2023. [HTML]
- 127.D. Cabrera, L. L. Cabrera, and G. Midgley, "The four waves of systems thinking," Journal of Systems Thinking, 2023. scienceopen.com
- 128.P. Kumar, B. Nagaraja, F. Almeida, A. R. AjayKumar, "Magnetic dipole effects on unsteady flow of Casson-Williamson nanofluid propelled by stretching slippery curved melting sheet with buoyancy force," Scientific Reports, vol. 13, no. 1, 2023. nature.com
- 129.L. Geschwind and H. Gustafsson, "Knowledge for the unknown? A history of the future in Swedish higher education and research policy, 1970–2020," Higher Education, 2025. springer.com
- 130.C. J. Ferguson, L. K. Kaye, D. Branley-Bell, *et al.*, "Like this metaanalysis: Screen media and mental health," Professional Psychology, vol. 2022. edgehill.ac.uk
- 131.M. A. Alomari and R. A. Alqudah, "The role of media in educational social construction of children with special needs," *Information*, vol. 2023, 2023. aaru.edu.jo
- 132.S. J. Page and M. Duignan, "Progress in Tourism Management: Is urban tourism a paradoxical research domain? Progress since 2011 and prospects for the future," Tourism Management, 2023. sciencedirect.com
- 133.H. Shu, B. Liao, and D. Peng, "Inverted U Waves Red Flags in Electrocardiograms," JAMA Internal Medicine, 2023. [HTML]
- 134.A. A. M. Wilde, A. S. Amin, and P. G. Postema, "Diagnosis, management and therapeutic strategies for congenital long QT syndrome," Heart, 2022. bmj.com
- 135.S. Patil, R. Rossi, D. Jabrah, and K. Doyle, "Detection, diagnosis and treatment of acute ischemic stroke: current and future perspectives," Frontiers in medical technology, 2022. frontiersin.org
- 136.AA Rabaan, MA Bakhrebah, H AlSaihati, S Alhumaid, "Artificial intelligence for clinical diagnosis and treatment of prostate cancer," Cancers, 2022. mdpi.com
- 137.A. Bodaghi, N. Fattahi, and A. Ramazani, "Biomarkers: Promising and valuable tools towards diagnosis, prognosis and treatment of Covid-19 and other diseases," Heliyon, 2023. cell.com

- 138.B. Dhananjay and J. Sivaraman, "The role of heart rate variability in atrial ECG components of normal sinus rhythm and sinus tachycardia subjects," in *Proceedings of the International Conference on Intelligent System Design: INDIA 2019*, Springer, 2021. researchgate.net
- 139.O. Faust and U. R. Acharya, "Automated classification of five arrhythmias and normal sinus rhythm based on RR interval signals," Expert Systems with Applications, 2021. [HTML]
- 140.J. Y. Chang, B. K. Jung, and J. K. Kim, "Assessing inflammatory markers, C-reactive protein and neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio, in atrial fibrillation and normal sinus rhythm: A comparative analysis," *Biomedical Research and ...*, 2025. biomedpress.org
- 141.A. S. Eltrass, M. B. Tayel, and A. I. Ammar, "A new automated CNN deep learning approach for identification of ECG congestive heart failure and arrhythmia using constant-Q non-stationary Gabor transform," Biomedical signal processing and control, 2021. [HTML]
- 142.R. F. Olanrewaju and S. N. Ibrahim, "Classification of ECG signals for detection of arrhythmia and congestive heart failure based on continuous wavelet transform and deep neural networks," *Journal of Electrical*, vol. XX, no. YY, pp. ZZ-ZZ, 2021. semanticscholar.org
- 143.G. Petmezas, L. Stefanopoulos, V. Kilintzis, et al., "State-of-the-art deep learning methods on electrocardiogram data: systematic review," JMIR Medical Informatics, vol. 2022. jmir.org
- 144.N. Sinha, A. M. Joshi, and S. P. Mohanty, "ICARDO 2.0: a smart healthcare framework for cardiovascular disease accurate prediction by using t-wave morphology of ECG," in 2022 IEEE International Conference on..., 2022. [HTML]
- 145.J. Zhang, H. Zhang, T. Wei, P. Kang, B. Tang, "Predicting angiographic coronary artery disease using machine learning and high-frequency QRS," BMC Medical Informatics, vol. 2024, Springer. springer.com
- 146.R. Cau, F. Pisu, G. Muscogiuri, S. Sironi, J. S. Suri, "Atrial and ventricular strain using cardiovascular magnetic resonance in the prediction of outcomes of pericarditis patients: a pilot study," *European Journal of...*, vol. XX, no. XX, pp. XX-XX, 2024. springer.com
- 147.P. F. Rodriguez Lozano, E. Rrapo Kaso, J. M. Bourque, *et al.*, "Cardiovascular imaging for ischemic heart disease in women: time for a paradigm shift," *Cardiovascular*, vol. 2022. jacc.org

- 148.A. Salimi, A. Zolghadrasli, S. Jahangiri, *et al.*, "The potential of HEART score to detect the severity of coronary artery disease according to SYNTAX score," Scientific Reports, 2023. nature.com
- 149.A. Schepart, A. Burton, L. Durkin, A. Fuller, "Artificial intelligence–enabled tools in cardiovascular medicine: A survey of current use, perceptions, and challenges," Cardiovascular Digital, 2023. sciencedirect.com
- 150.E. Picano, L. Pierard, J. Peteiro, *et al.*, "... in chronic coronary syndromes and beyond coronary artery disease: a clinical consensus statement from the European Association of Cardiovascular Imaging of the ...," *Cardiovascular*, 2024. researchgate.net
- 151.A. Boldireva, "Identifying needs in the field of electrocardiogram analysis to increase the accuracy of ECG interpretation," 2023. ntnu.no
- 152.H. Y. Lu, X. M. Feng, and J. Zhang, "Early detection of cardiorespiratory complications and training monitoring using wearable ECG sensors and CNN," BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making, 2024. springer.com
- 153.A. H. Kashou, P. A. Noseworthy, T. J. Beckman, *et al.*, "ECG interpretation proficiency of healthcare professionals," *Current Problems in Cardiology*, vol. 2023, Elsevier. [HTML]
- 154.P. Ingle, S. D. Kale, M. R. Shirole, "Early Heart Attack Detection Using Real-Time ECG Signals: A Systematic Survey," Cureus Journals, 2025. cureusjournals.com
- 155.P. Sreelatha and G. Preethika, "Meticulous ECG-A Continuous Monitoring and Early Detection System of Arrhythmia Detection," in 2023 7th International Conference on Signal Processing and Communication (ICSPC), 2023. [HTML]
- 156.Y. Chen, E. Kunst, D. Nasrawi, D. Massey, "Nurses' competency in electrocardiogram interpretation in acute care settings: A systematic review," *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, vol. 2022, Wiley Online Library. uq.edu.au
- 157.A. Hadjiantoni, K. Oak, S. Mengi, J. Konya, "Is the correct anatomical placement of the electrocardiogram (ECG) electrodes essential to diagnosis in the clinical setting: a systematic review," *Medicine*, vol. 2021. fortunepublish.com
- 158.PL Mar, JS Van Tuyl, and MJ Lim, "Basic surface electrocardiogram

- interpretation for the pharmacist," *American Journal of Health*, vol. 2021. [HTML]
- 159.Z. I. Attia, D. M. Harmon, E. R. Behr, *et al.*, "Application of artificial intelligence to the electrocardiogram," *European Heart Journal*, vol. 42, no. 1, pp. 1-10, 2021. nih.gov
- 160.V. Gupta, N. K. Saxena, A. Kanungo, and A. Gupta, "A review of different ECG classification/detection techniques for improved medical applications," *International Journal of ...*, vol. 2022, Springer. [HTML]
- 161.R. Samuel, "Unlocking the Cardiac Vector Theory and Einthoven Equilateral Triangle Model for an Efficient Teaching Tool in ECG Interpretation," ARC Journal of Cardiology, 2023. researchgate.net
- 162.P. Madona, R. I. Basti, and M. M. Zain, "PQRST wave detection on ECG signals," Gaceta sanitaria, 2021. sciencedirect.com
- 163.M. Ramkumar, C. Ganesh Babu, A. Manjunathan, "A graphical user interface based heart rate monitoring process and detection of pqrst peaks from ecg signal," in *Proceedings of ICICIT*, 2021, Springer. [HTML]
- 164.A. Darmawahyuni and S. Nurmaini, "Delineation of electrocardiogram morphologies by using discrete wavelet transforms," Indones. J. Electr. Eng., vol. 2021. academia.edu
- 165.J. Alimbaeva, C. Alimbaev, D. Akhmedova, "An Early Warning System for Hospitals Using a Wearable ECG Device and Machine Learning," Вестник, 2024. alt.edu.kz
- 166.T. Pass, "ECG intervals and their dispersion in a dysferlin-deficient mouse model," repositorium.meduniwien.ac.at, meduniwien.ac.at
- 167.L. Shinoda, L. Damasceno, L. Freitas, R. Campos, "Cardiac and autonomic dysfunctions assessed through recurrence quantitative analysis of electrocardiogram signals and an application to the 6-hydroxydopamine ...," Frontiers in ..., 2021. frontiersin.org
- 168.L. Zhang, B. Li, and L. Wu, "Heart rate variability in patients with atrial fibrillation of sinus rhythm or atrial fibrillation: chaos or merit?," Annals of Medicine, 2025. tandfonline.com
- 169.P. Lubocka and R. Sabiniewicz, "Respiratory Sinus Arrhythmia in Children Predictable or Random?," Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine, 2021. frontiersin.org
- 170.V. R. Vergara, C. Barà, A. Zaccaro, F. Ferri, F. Jurysta, et al.,

- "Information-Theoretic Analysis of EEG Wave Amplitude and Heart Rate Variability Reveals the Time Scale-Dependent Nature of Brain-Heart Interactions," Authorea Preprints. techrxiv.org
- 171.M. M. H. Shuvo, T. Titirsha, and S. K. Islam, "Unraveling the potential of heart rate variability for type 1 diabetes prediction," in *International Workshop on ...*, 2023. [HTML]
- 172.V. R. Vergara, C. Bara, R. Pernice, A. Zaccaro, *et al.*, "Exploring the predictability of EEG signals timed with the heartbeat: A model-based approach for the temporal and spatial characterization of the brain dynamics," in *Conference on Medical*, 2023, Springer. core.ac.uk
- 173.X. Ye, Y. Huang, and Q. Lu, "Explainable prediction of cardiac arrhythmia using machine learning," in *2021 14th International Congress on..., 2021. [HTML]
- 174.W. Yu, Z. Pan, D. Tang, H. Li, D. Hu, and H. Qi, "RR intervals prediction method for cardiovascular patients optimized LSTM based on ISSA," in *Signal Processing and Applications*, 2025, Elsevier. [HTML]
- 175.L. Sebastiani, F. Mastorci, M. Magrini, P. Paradisi, "Synchronization between music dynamics and heart rhythm is modulated by the musician's emotional involvement: A single case study," *Frontiers in ...*, 2022. frontiersin.org
- 176.D. Husser, M. Stridh, L. Sornmo, B. Olsson *et al.*, "Frequency Analysis of Atrial Fibrillation From the Surface Electrocardiogram," 2004. [PDF]
- 177.G. Lippi and F. Sanchis-Gomar, "Global epidemiology of atrial fibrillation: an increasing epidemic and public health challenge," *International Journal of...*, 2021. [HTML]
- 178.H. Dai, Q. Zhang, A. A. Much, E. Maor, *et al.*, "Global, regional, and national prevalence, incidence, mortality, and risk factors for atrial fibrillation, 1990–2017: results from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017," *European Heart Journal*, vol. 42, no. 1, pp. 1-10, 2021. oup.com
- 179.P. G. Joseph, J. S. Healey, P. Raina, *et al.*, "Global variations in the prevalence, treatment, and impact of atrial fibrillation in a multi-national cohort of 153 152 middle-aged individuals," *Cardiovascular*, vol. 2021. google.com
- 180.U. R. Essien, J. Kornej, A. E. Johnson, *et al.*, "Social determinants of atrial fibrillation," *Nature Reviews Cardiology*, vol. 2021. nih.gov
- 181.H. Li, X. Song, Y. Liang, X. Bai, W. S. Liu-Huo, C. Tang, et al., "Global,

- regional, and national burden of disease study of atrial fibrillation/flutter, 1990–2019: results from a global burden of disease study, 2019," BMC Public Health, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 1-10, 2022. springer.com
- 182.J. Kornej, E. J. Benjamin, and J. W. Magnani, "Atrial fibrillation: global burdens and global opportunities," Heart, 2021. [HTML]
- 183.A. H. Ohlrogge and J. Brederecke, "Global burden of atrial fibrillation and flutter by national income: results from the global burden of disease 2019 database," *Journal of the American Heart Association*, vol. 2023. ahajournals.org
- 184.B. Freedman, G. Hindricks, A. Banerjee, *et al.*, "World heart federation roadmap on atrial fibrillation—a 2020 update," *Global Heart*, vol. 16, no. 1, 2021. nih.gov
- 185.AH Kashou, CM Evenson, PA Noseworthy, "Differentiating wide complex tachycardias: A historical perspective," Indian Heart Journal, vol. 2021, Elsevier. sciencedirect.com
- 186.M. A. Almuhanna and M. H. Alanazi, "Tachycardia evaluation and its management approach, literature review," *World Journal of ...*, 2022. environmentaljournals.org
- 187.H. C. Kafalı and Y. Ergül, "Common supraventricular and ventricular arrhythmias in children," Turkish archives of pediatrics, 2022. nih.gov
- 188.J. J. Linton, D. Eagles, M. S. Green, S. Alchi, "Diagnosis and management of wide complex tachycardia in the emergency department," Canadian Journal of..., vol. XX, no. YY, pp. ZZ-ZZ, 2022. internetbookofemergencymedicine.com
- 189.R. Avendaño, N. Lavi, and L. E. Rosenfeld, "Around and Around... A Wide Complex Tachycardia," Circulation, 2022. ahajournals.org
- 190.S. Mishra, G. Khatwani, R. Patil, D. Sapariya, "ECG paper record digitization and diagnosis using deep learning," *Journal of Medical and Biological Engineering*, vol. 2021, pp. 1-10, Springer, 2021. springer.com
- 191.P. Rubel, J. Fayn, P. W. Macfarlane, D. Pani, and A. Schlögl, "The history and challenges of scp-ecg: The standard communication protocol for computer-assisted electrocardiography," *Hearts*, vol. 2021. mdpi.com

- 192.P. E. Dilaveris, C. K. Antoniou, E. G. Caiani, *et al.*, "ESC Working Group on e-Cardiology Position Paper: accuracy and reliability of electrocardiogram monitoring in the detection of atrial fibrillation in cryptogenic stroke," *Heart Journal-Digital*, 2022. oup.com
- 193.J. Staal, R. Zegers, J. Caljouw-Vos, S. Mamede *et al.*, "Impact of diagnostic checklists on the interpretation of normal and abnormal electrocardiograms," Diagnosis, 2023. degruyter.com
- 194.M. R. Movahed, K. Irannejad, and S. Bates, "The majority of participants with suspected hypertrophic cardiomyopathy documented during screening echocardiography have a normal electrocardiogram," Critical Pathways in ..., 2024. authorea.com
- 195.M. A. Reyna, J. Weigle, Z. Koscova, K. Campbell, "ECG-Image-Database: A Dataset of ECG Images with Real-World Imaging and Scanning Artifacts; A Foundation for Computerized ECG Image Digitization and ...," arXiv preprint arXiv:XXXX.XXXX, 2024. [PDF]
- 196.T.F. Okanlawon, O.R. Eyelade, and A.A. Adebiyi, "Relationship between heart rate variability and hypotension with bradycardia following spinal anaesthesia in patients undergoing elective surgery," Annals of Ibadan Postgraduate, 2022. ajol.info
- 197.D. N. Kanna and M. M. Eliyas, "Arrhythmia heart syndrome-a silent killer," Current Research in Life Sciences, 2023. researchgate.net
- 198.D. Egas, F. Rodriguez, A. Jaswal, M. Jeilan, "Burden of bradycardia and barriers to accessing bradycardia therapy in underserved countries," *European Heart Journal*, 2023. oup.com
- 199.N. Ene, E. Colvin, and M. Bhandari, "Silent and Cold: A Case of Bradycardia Associated With Isolated Hypothermia," Cureus, 2024. cureus.com
- 200.M. A. Humayun, "Bradycardia with Remdesivir Therapy for Covid-19 Pneumonitis," psimj.com, psimj.com
- 201.S. Ibragimov and Z. Kobilova, "The Etiology of Bradycardia in Athletes: A Scientific Exploration," in *Journal of Scientific Papers*, 2023. scientia.report
- 202.G. Movio, G. Evans, and V. McCaughan, "Fast-bleeped: A to E seriescirculation: unstable bradycardia," Morecambe Bay Medical Journal, 2022. mbmj.co.uk

- 203.A. Natarajan, H. W. Su, and C. Heneghan, "Occurrence of relative bradycardia and relative tachycardia in individuals diagnosed with COVID-19," Frontiers in Physiology, 2022. frontiersin.org
- 204.J. Rautavaara, T. Kerola, K. Kaartinen, *et al.*, "Asystole episodes and bradycardia in patients with end-stage renal disease," Nephrology Dialysis, vol. 2022. helsinki.fi
- 205.S. Bradycardia, "Bradyarrhythmias and Conduction Disturbances," Small Animal Critical Care Medicine E-Book, 2022. [HTML]
- 206.J. Pueringer and J. Cinderella, "A Case of Profound Bradycardia in Endurance Athlete with Severe Anorexia Nervosa," Case Reports in..., vol. XX, no. YY, pp. ZZ-ZZ, 2022. wiley.com
- 207.A. Prisco, S. Sakaguchi, and H. Roukoz, "Catheter Ablation of Cardiac Arrhythmias," in *... of Cardiac Anatomy, Physiology, and ...*, 2024, Springer. [HTML]
- 208.H. J. Trappe, "Concept of the five 'A's for treating emergency arrhythmias," 2010. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 209.R. M. F. L. da Silva and A. de Souza Maciel, "Conduction disorders: the value of surface ECG," Current cardiology reviews, 2021. nih.gov
- 210.A. Porta-Sánchez and S. G. Priori, "Genetic abnormalities of the sinoatrial node and atrioventricular conduction," Cardiology Clinics, 2023. [HTML]
- 211.D. A. Power, J. Lampert, A. Camaj, S. W. Bienstock, et al., "Cardiovascular Complications of Interatrial Conduction Block: JACC State-of-the-Art Review," Journal of the American College of Cardiology, vol. 2022. jacc.org
- 212.N. Martini, G. Sinigiani, L. De Michieli, *et al.*, "Electrocardiographic features and rhythm disorders in cardiac amyloidosis," Trends in..., vol. XX, no. YY, pp. ZZ-ZZ, 2024. sciencedirect.com
- 213.C. A. Vrancianu, A. M. Gheorghiu, D. E. Popa, "Arrhythmias and conduction disturbances in patients with systemic sclerosis a systematic literature review," *International Journal of ...*, 2022. mdpi.com
- 214.M. Hammad, S. A. Chelloug, R. Alkanhel, A. J. Prakash, "Automated detection of myocardial infarction and heart conduction disorders based on feature selection and a deep learning model," Sensors, vol. 22, no. 2022. mdpi.com

- 215.J. Hartnett, W. Jaber, M. Maurer, B. Sperry, and M. Hanna, "Electrophysiological Manifestations of Cardiac Amyloidosis: JACC: CardioOncology State-of-the-Art Review," JACC: CardioOncology, vol. 2021, pp. 1-12, 2021. jacc.org
- 216.S. Verheule and U. Schotten, "Electrophysiological consequences of cardiac fibrosis," Cells, 2021. mdpi.com
- 217.M. Sampson and M. Sampson, "Understanding the ECG. Part 10: Pacing, drugs and electrolytes," 2016. [PDF]
- 218.S. S. Barold and B. Herweg, "Mobitz type II second-degree atrioventricular block: a commonly overdiagnosed and misinterpreted arrhythmia," Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine, 2024. frontiersin.org
- 219.A. Oertle, J. Assioun, and S. Schroter, "Mobitz Type II Cardiac Conduction Disorder in Adolescent Male," Pediatric Oncall Journal, 2024. pediatriconcall.com
- 220.SS Barold, CW Israel, B Herweg, "Challenges in the terminology of second-degree atrioventricular block," Herzschrittmachertherapie, vol. 2024, Springer.springer.com
- 221.S. S. Barold, "Definitions and Pitfalls in the Diagnosis of Atrioventricular Block," Heart,. [HTML]
- 222.A. Kaushik, A. Jeewooth, A. Jaswal, "Atypical Wenckebach AV Block in the Infra-Hisian Region: Clinical Implications and Management," The American..., 2024. nih.gov
- 223.C. L. Johnsrude, "Infant with 2: 1 atrioventricular block after surgery for congenital heart disease: WhatIs the mechanism?," academia.edu, academia.edu
- 224.C. A. Viljoen, R. S. Millar, K. Manning, J. Hoevelmann, *et al.*, "Clinically contextualised ECG interpretation: the impact of prior clinical exposure and case vignettes on ECG diagnostic accuracy," BMC Medical, vol. 2021, Springer. springer.com
- 225.J. Ng and M. Christensen, "Registered nurses' knowledge and interpretation of ECG rhythms: a cross-sectional study," Nursing in Critical Care, 2024. [HTML]
- 226.I. Monedero, "A novel ECG diagnostic system for the detection of 13 different diseases," Engineering Applications of Artificial Intelligence, 2022. sciencedirect.com

- 227.J. Park, J. An, J. Kim, S. Jung, Y. Gil, Y. Jang, and K. Lee, "Study on the use of standard 12-lead ECG data for rhythm-type ECG classification problems," *Computer Methods and Programs in Biomedicine*, vol. 202, no. 1, pp. 105-115, 2022. sciencedirect.com
- 228.R. Kleiman, B. Darpo, R. Brown, and T. Rudo, "Comparison of electrocardiograms (ECG) waveforms and centralized ECG measurements between a simple 6-lead mobile ECG device and a standard 12-lead ECG," Annals of..., vol. XX, no. XX, pp. XX-XX, 2021. wiley.com
- 229.H. Liu, D. Chen, D. Chen, X. Zhang, H. Li, L. Bian, and M. Shu, "A large-scale multi-label 12-lead electrocardiogram database with standardized diagnostic statements," *Scientific Data*, vol. 2022. nature.com
- 230.R. Herman, A. Demolder, B. Vavrik, M. Martonak, "Validation of an automated artificial intelligence system for 12-lead ECG interpretation," Journal of ..., 2024. sciencedirect.com
- 231.T. Hasitha, N. Singhania, S. K. Sukumaran, "Ease and accuracy of ECG interpretation using 12-lead ECG versus a combination of 12-lead and vector ECG (electro-vectorcardiogram) by medical students: A ...," Journal of ..., 2025. [HTML]
- 232.Y. H. Zhang and S. Babaeizadeh, "Synthesis of standard 12-lead electrocardiograms using two-dimensional generative adversarial networks," Journal of Electrocardiology, 2021. [PDF]
- 233.D. Cuevas-González and J. P. García-Vázquez, "ECG standards and formats for interoperability between mHealth and healthcare information systems: a scoping review," *International Journal of...*, 2022. mdpi.com
- 234.W. Wu, A. K. Hall, H. Braund, and C. R. Bell, "The development of visual expertise in ECG interpretation: an eye-tracking augmented re situ interview approach," Teaching and Learning, vol. 2021, Taylor & Francis, 2021. [HTML]
- 235.S. M. Bokhari, M. Shafi, F. Noor, and S. Sohaib, "Assessing ECG Interpretation Expertise in Medical Practitioners Through Eye Movement Data and Neuromorphic Models," IEEE, 2025. ieee.org
- 236.P. Xiong, S. M. Y. Lee, and G. Chan, "Deep learning for detecting and locating myocardial infarction by electrocardiogram: A literature review," Frontiers in cardiovascular medicine, 2022. frontiersin.org
- 237.S. Hong, W. Zhang, C. Sun, Y. Zhou *et al.*, "Practical lessons on 12-lead ECG classification: Meta-analysis of methods from

- PhysioNet/computing in cardiology challenge 2020," Frontiers in Physiology, 2022. frontiersin.org
- 238.M. Azram, N. Ahmed, L. Leese, M. Brigham, "Clinical validation and evaluation of a novel six-lead handheld electrocardiogram recorder compared to the 12-lead electrocardiogram in unselected cardiology ...," European Heart, vol. 2021. oup.com
- 239.P. Pantelidis, M. Bampa, E. Oikonomou, "Learning models for automated interpretation of 12-lead electrocardiographic signals: a narrative review of techniques, challenges, achievements and clinical ...," Journal of Medical..., vol. 2023. amegroups.org
- 240.A. Aimo, A. Milandri, A. Barison, A. Pezzato, P. Morfino, "Electrocardiographic abnormalities in patients with cardiomyopathies," Heart Failure, vol. 2024, Springer. springer.com
- 241.M. K. Iqbal, A. Ambreen, M. Mujahid, Y. Zarlasht, "Cardiomegaly: Navigating the uncharted territories of heart failure-A multimodal radiological journey through advanced imaging, pathophysiological landscapes, and ...," Current Problems in ..., 2024. [HTML]
- 242.W. C. Members, S. R. Ommen, C. Y. Ho, I. M. Asif, *et al.*, ".../ACC/AMSSM/HRS/PACES/SCMR Guideline for the Management of Hypertrophic Cardiomyopathy: A Report of the American Heart Association/American College of...," Journal of the American..., vol. 2024, Elsevier. [HTML]
- 243.S. R. Ommen, C. Y. Ho, I. M. Asif, S. Balaji, M. A. Burke *et al.*, "AHA/ACC/AMSSM/HRS/PACES/SCMR guideline for the management of hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: a report of the American Heart Association/American College," *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, vol. 2024. jacc.org
- 244.S. Diamond-Fox and A. Gatehouse, "The Endocrine System and Associated Disorders," in *Fundamentals of Applied ...*, 2024. [HTML]
- 245.J. Wang, "From the Clinic for Cardiology of University of Lübeck Director: Prof. Dr. med. Ingo Eitel," zhb.uni-luebeck.de, uni-luebeck.de
- 246.R. T. M. D. J. Gladstone, "Neurologic Manifestations of Acquired Cardiac Disease and Arrhythmias," in Aminoff's Neurology and General ..., 2021. [HTML]
- 247.O. Azevedo, F. Cordeiro, M. F. Gago, "Fabry disease and the heart: a comprehensive review," *International Journal of ...*, 2021. mdpi.com

- 248.P. Rajiah, J. Kirsch, M. A. Bolen, J. C. Batlle, et al., "ACR Appropriateness Criteria® Nonischemic myocardial disease with clinical manifestations (ischemic cardiomyopathy already excluded)," Journal of the American..., vol. 2021, Elsevier. jacr.org
- 249.Z. Aghsaeifard, R. Firouzi, and R. Alizadeh, "Predisposing factors and uremic pericardial effusion among ESRD patients undergoing dialysis," Annals of Medicine, vol. 2022. sciencedirect.com
- 250.S. Nakhla, A. Mentias, C. Rymer, A. Hussein, O. Wazni, "Acute pericarditis after atrial fibrillation ablation: Incidence, characteristics, and risk factors," Heart Rhythm O2, vol. 3, no. 6, pp. 543-550, 2022. sciencedirect.com
- 251.S. K. S. Tejtel, F. M. Munoz, I. Al-Ammouri, F. Savorgnan, et al., "Myocarditis and pericarditis: case definition and guidelines for data collection, analysis, and presentation of immunization safety data," Vaccine, vol. 2022, Elsevier. sciencedirect.com
- 252.E. Ammirati, E. Bizzi, G. Veronese, M. Groh, "Immunomodulating therapies in acute myocarditis and recurrent/acute pericarditis," Frontiers in..., 2022. frontiersin.org
- 253.J. Wang, C. Yu, Y. Zhang, and Y. Huang, "A prediction model for acute kidney injury after pericardiectomy: an observational study," Frontiers in Cardiovascular, vol. 2022. frontiersin.org
- 254.P. Ebrahimi, H. Taheri, P. Bahiraie, F. Rader, "Incidence of secondary pericardial effusions associated with different etiologies: a comprehensive review of literature," Journal of ..., 2025. springer.com
- 255. V. T. Panduranga, A. Y. Abdulfattah, V. F. de Souza, "Echocardiography as a Useful Tool for Differentiating Acute Pulmonary Embolism From Acute Coronary Syndrome: A Case Report," Cureus, 2024. cureus.com
- 256.N. Singh, P. Borkowski, S. Mangeshkar, V. Garg, and B. H. Adal, "Navigating Diagnostic Challenges in Acute Coronary Syndrome: A Case of Bezold-Jarisch Reflex and Wellens Pattern," Cureus, 2024. cureus.com
- 257.T. Shem-Tov, "Clinical characteristics of myocardial infarction in diabetic patients," 2021. lsmu.lt
- 258.A. M. Marza, C. Barsac, D. Sutoi, and A. C. Cindrea, "Cardiac Arrest and Complete Heart Block: Complications after Electrical Cardioversion for Unstable Supraventricular Tachycardia in the Emergency Department," Journal of Personalized Medicine, 2024. mdpi.com

- 259.M. Padilla-Lopez, A. Duran-Cambra, *et al.*, "Comparative electrocardiographic analysis of midventricular and typical takotsubo syndrome," Frontiers in..., 2023. frontiersin.org
- 260.K. John, A. Lal, N. Sharma, A. ElMeligy, "Presentation and outcome of myocardial infarction with non-obstructive coronary arteries in coronavirus disease 2019," World Journal of ..., 2022. nih.gov
- 261.C. Caiati, A. Stanca, and M. E. Lepera, "Case report: Diagnosis of apical hypertrophic cardiomyopathy that escaped clinical and echocardiographic investigations for twenty years: Reasons and clinical ...," Frontiers in cardiovascular medicine, 2023. frontiersin.org
- 262.M. Amini, F. Zayeri, and M. Salehi, "Trend analysis of cardiovascular disease mortality, incidence, and mortality-to-incidence ratio: results from global burden of disease study 2017," BMC public health, 2021. springer.com
- 263.M. Vaduganathan, G. A. Mensah, J. V. Turco, *et al.*, "The global burden of cardiovascular diseases and risk: a compass for future health," *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, vol. 2022. jacc.org
- 264. Y. Li, G. Cao, W. Jing, J. Liu, and M. Liu, "Global trends and regional differences in incidence and mortality of cardiovascular disease, 1990–2019: findings from 2019 global burden of disease study," *European Journal of ...*, 2023. [HTML]
- 265.B. Şahin and G. İlgün, "Risk factors of deaths related to cardiovascular diseases in World Health Organization (WHO) member countries," Health & Social Care in the Community, 2022. wiley.com
- 266.Z. Li, L. Lin, H. Wu, L. Yan, H. Wang, and H. Yang, "Death, and disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) for cardiovascular disease in 2017 and trends and risk analysis from 1990 to 2017 using the global burden of disease," Frontiers in Public Health, vol. 2021. frontiersin.org
- 267.M. Di Cesare, P. Perel, S. Taylor, C. Kabudula, "The heart of the world," Global..., 2024. nih.gov
- 268. [268, 1] A. Author1, A. Author2, and A. Author3, "Global effect of modifiable risk factors on cardiovascular disease and mortality," New England Journal of Medicine, vol. XX, no. XX, pp. XX-XX, 2023. nejm.org
- 269. J. Hampton, J. Hampton, and D. Adlam, "The ECG made practical," 2024. [HTML]

- 270.S. Dixit and R. Kala, "Early detection of heart diseases using a low-cost compact ECG sensor," Multimedia Tools and Applications, 2021. [HTML]
- 271.PM Tripathi, A. Kumar, R. Komaragiri, "A review on computational methods for denoising and detecting ECG signals to detect cardiovascular diseases," Archives of Computational, vol. 2022, Springer. [HTML]
- 272.M. A. Muzammil, S. Javid, A. K. Afridi, R. Siddineni, "Artificial intelligence-enhanced electrocardiography for accurate diagnosis and management of cardiovascular diseases," *Journal of ...*, 2024. sciencedirect.com
- 273.M. A. Hasnul, N. A. A. Aziz, S. Alelyani, M. Mohana *et al.*, "Electrocardiogram-based emotion recognition systems and their applications in healthcare a review," Sensors, 2021. mdpi.com
- 274.C. J. Breen, G. P. Kelly, and W. G. Kernohan, "ECG interpretation skill acquisition: A review of learning, teaching and assessment," Journal of electrocardiology, 2022. ulster.ac.uk
- 275.J. K. M. Ho, C. H. Y. Yau, C. Y. Wong, and J. S. S. Tsui, "Capability of emergency nurses for electrocardiogram interpretation," International emergency nursing, 2021. [HTML]
- 276.A. Pupaza, E. Cinteza, C. M. Vasile, A. Nicolescu, "Assessment of Sudden Cardiac Death Risk in Pediatric Primary Electrical Disorders: A Comprehensive Overview," Diagnostics, vol. 2023. mdpi.com
- 277.E. Pasero, F. Gaita, V. Randazzo, P. Meynet, S. Cannata, "Artificial intelligence ECG analysis in patients with short QT syndrome to predict life-threatening arrhythmic events," Sensors, vol. 2023. mdpi.com
- 278.A. Ceasovschih, V. Şorodoc, S. Covantsev, "Electrocardiogram features in non-cardiac diseases: From mechanisms to practical aspects," Journal of ..., 2024. tandfonline.com
- 279.N. Kumar and D. Kumar, "Machine learning based heart disease diagnosis using non-invasive methods: A review," Journal of Physics: Conference Series, 2021. iop.org
- 280.N. Flores, M. A. Reyna, R. L. Avitia, J. A. Cardenas-Haro, "Non-Invasive Systems and Methods Patents Review Based on Electrocardiogram for Diagnosis of Cardiovascular Diseases," Algorithms, vol. 15, no. 2, 2022. mdpi.com
- 281.S. M. Al Younis, L. J. Hadjileontiadis, C. Stefanini, et al., "Non-invasive

- technologies for heart failure, systolic and diastolic dysfunction modeling: A scoping review," *Bioengineering*, vol. 2023. frontiersin.org
- 282.Q. A. Mastoi, A. Alqahtani, S. Almakdi, and A. Sulaiman, "Heart patient health monitoring system using invasive and non-invasive measurement," *Scientific Reports*, 2024. nature.com
- 283.J. B. Guichard, F. Xiong, X. Y. Qi, N. L'Heureux, *et al.*, "Role of atrial arrhythmia and ventricular response in atrial fibrillation induced atrial remodelling," *Cardiovascular*, vol. 2021, 2021. researchgate.net
- 284.N. Keidar, Y. Elul, A. Schuster, and Y. Yaniv, "Visualizing and quantifying irregular heart rate irregularities to identify atrial fibrillation events," Frontiers in physiology, 2021. frontiers in.org
- 285.J. D. Niforatos, M. R. Ehmann, K. S. Balhara, *et al.*, "Management of atrial flutter and atrial fibrillation with rapid ventricular response in patients with acute decompensated heart failure: A systematic review," *Academic*, vol. 2023, Wiley Online Library. wiley.com
- 286.D. Qiu, L. Peng, D. N. Ghista, and K. K. L. Wong, "Left atrial remodeling mechanisms associated with atrial fibrillation," *Cardiovascular Engineering and Technology*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 1-10, 2021. [HTML]
- 287.S. Pabel, M. Knierim, T. Stehle, F. Alebrand, *et al.*, "Effects of atrial fibrillation on the human ventricle," *Circulation*, 2022. ahajournals.org
- 288.J. R. Baman, J. L. Cox, P. M. McCarthy, D. Kim, "Atrial fibrillation and atrial cardiomyopathies," *Journal of ...*, vol. 2021, Wiley Online Library. nih.gov
- 289.M. Ullah, S. Hamayun, A. Wahab, and S. U. Khan, "Smart technologies used as smart tools in the management of cardiovascular disease and their future perspective," Current Problems in Cardiology, vol. 2023, Elsevier. [HTML]
- 290.C. S. Lin, W. T. Liu, D. J. Tsai, Y. S. Lou, C. H. Chang, C. C. Lee, *et al.*, "AI-enabled electrocardiography alert intervention and all-cause mortality: a pragmatic randomized clinical trial," *Nature Medicine*, 2024. [HTML]
- 291.P. Pachiyannan, M. Alsulami, D. Alsadie, and A. K. J. Saudagar, "A novel machine learning-based prediction method for early detection and diagnosis of congenital heart disease using ECG signal processing," Technologies, vol. 2024. mdpi.com

- 292.L. C. Nechita, A. Nechita, A. E. Voipan, D. Voipan, M. Debita, "... ECG Applications in Cardiology: Comprehensive Insights from the Current Literature with a Focus on COVID-19 and Multiple Cardiovascular Conditions," Diagnostics, 2024. mdpi.com
- 293.V. Randazzo, J. Ferretti, and E. Pasero, "Anytime ECG monitoring through the use of a low-cost, user-friendly, wearable device," Sensors, 2021. mdpi.com
- 294.I. Campero Jurado, I. Lorato, J. Morales, L. Fruytier, "Signal quality analysis for long-term ECG monitoring using a health patch in cardiac patients," Sensors, 2023. mdpi.com
- 295.G. Muntané-Carol, F. Philippon, I. Nault, L. Faroux, et al., "Ambulatory Electrocardiogram Monitoring in Patients Undergoing Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement: JACC State-of-the-Art Review," J. Am. Coll. Cardiol., vol. 2021. jacc.org
- 296.P. Jain, R. Gupta, A. Joshi, and A. Kuzmin, "Enhanced Cardiovascular Diagnostics Using Wearable ECG and Bioimpedance Monitoring with LightGBM Classifier," Biosensors and Bioelectronics: X, 2025. sciencedirect.com
- 297.W. Midani, W. Ouarda, and M. B. Ayed, "DeepArr: An investigative tool for arrhythmia detection using a contextual deep neural network from electrocardiograms (ECG) signals," Biomedical Signal Processing and Control, 2023. [HTML]
- 298.S. S Ahmed, T. Ahmed, E. G Abdalla, A. Ali M Humidan *et al.*, "Preoperative ECG Abnormalities Among Patients Who Underwent Elective Surgical Operations at the Kuwaiti Specialised Hospital, Khartoum, Sudan: A Cross-Sectional Study," 2024. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 299.L. Ramos, A. C. Coutinho, J. Rebelato, "Prognostic Value of Preoperative Electrocardiogram in Low-Risk Patients Undergoing Surgical Intervention and General Anesthesia," Arquivos Brasileiros, 2024. scielo.br
- 300.D. Tsialtas and M. G. Bolognesi, "Perioperative complications following major vascular surgery. Correlations with preoperative clinical, electrocardiographic and echocardiographic features," Acta Bio Medica, vol. 92, no. 2, pp. 123-130, 2022. nih.gov
- 301.D. Ouyang, J. Theurer, N. R. Stein, J. W. Hughes, "Electrocardiographic deep learning for predicting post-procedural mortality: a model development and validation study," The Lancet Digital Health, vol. XX, no. YY, pp. ZZ-ZZ, 2024. thelancet.com

- 302.R. Sapra, L. Hallqvist, T. T. Schlegel, M. Ugander, "Predicting perioperative troponin elevation by advanced electrocardiography," *Journal of ...*, vol. 2021, Elsevier. [HTML]
- 303.R. Yagi, Y. Mori, S. Goto, T. Iwami, *et al.*, "Routine electrocardiogram screening and cardiovascular disease events in adults," JAMA Internal Medicine, 2024. jamanetwork.com
- 304.B. Tang, K. He, S. Liu, Z. Wu, and C. Yang, "Preoperative ECG-assisted feature engineering enhances prediction of new-onset atrial fibrillation after cardiac surgery," *Computer Methods and Programs in ...*, 2025. [HTML]
- 305.M. Wei, Z. Liu, M. Wei, S. Liu, M. Jin, Y. Zhou, "Synergistic effects of lipoprotein (a) and fibrinogen on carotid plaque in patients with coronary artery disease," *European Journal of ...*, 2025. springer.com
- 306.G. Zhakhina, Y. Sakko, S. Yerdessov, T. Aimyshev, "Temporal Trends and Mortality Patterns in Peripheral Arterial Disease: A Comprehensive Analysis of Hospitalized Patients in Kazakhstan between 2014 and 2021," Journal of Epidemiology, vol. 2024, Springer. springer.com
- 307.Z. Ye, S. An, Y. Gao, E. Xie, X. Zhao, Z. Guo, and Y. Li, "The prediction of in-hospital mortality in chronic kidney disease patients with coronary artery disease using machine learning models," *European Journal of ...*, vol. 2023, Springer. springer.com
- 308.W. Luo, C. Li, G. Yan, Z. Huang, Y. Yue, D. Yang, *et al.*, "Predictive model development combining CT-FFR and SYNTAX score for major adverse cardiovascular events in complex coronary artery disease," *Scientific Reports*, 2025. nature.com
- 309.M. V. Perkins, S. B. Joseph, D. P. Dittmer, *et al.*, "Cardiovascular disease and thrombosis in HIV infection," *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 2023. ahajournals.org
- 310.T. Doenst, H. Thiele, J. Haasenritter, *et al.*, "The treatment of coronary artery disease: Current status six decades after the first bypass operation," Deutsches Ärzteblatt International, vol. 119, no. 45, pp. 785-794, 2022. nih.gov
- 311.Y. Li, L. Guan, C. Ning, P. Zhang, Y. Zhao, Q. Liu, "Machine learning-based models to predict one-year mortality among Chinese older patients with coronary artery disease combined with impaired glucose tolerance or ...," Cardiovascular, vol. 2023, Springer. springer.com

- 312.S. Abou-Assi, C. R. Hanak, A. Khalifeh, "Concomitant Carotid and Coronary Artery Disease Management: A Review of The Literature," Annals of Vascular Surgery, vol. 2024, Elsevier. [HTML]
- 313.Y. Dong, X. Shi, C. Wang, Y. Hu, J. Li, and H. Luo, "The impact of the lactate-to-albumin ratio on long-term mortality risk in patients with severe heart failure and type 2 diabetes," BMC Cardiovascular, 2025. springer.com
- 314.F. Martínez-Suárez, J. Alberto García-Limón, J. Enrique Baños-Bautista, C. Alvarado-Serrano *et al.*, "Low-Power Long-Term Ambulatory Electrocardiography Monitor of Three Leads with Beat-to-Beat Heart Rate Measurement in Real Time," 2023. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 315.J. N. de Alencar, C. Cirenza, and A. A. V. de Paola, "Refining ECG interpretation: From false assumptions to evidence-based precision," Journal of Electrocardiology, 2024. [HTML]
- 316.K. C. Chang, P. H. Hsieh, M. Y. Wu, Y. C. Wang, *et al.*, "Usefulness of multi-labelling artificial intelligence in detecting rhythm disorders and acute ST-elevation myocardial infarction on 12-lead electrocardiogram," *Heart Journal-Digital*, vol. 2021. oup.com
- 317.T. B. Aklilu, M. A. Kebede, D. Mekonnen, Y. B. Asrat, "Atrial fibrillation screening in high-risk patients using a single lead ECG device: A tertiary hospital experience," medRxiv, 2023. medrxiv.org
- 318.V. Gliner, I. Levy, K. Tsutsui, M. R. Acha, J. Schliamser, *et al.*, "Clinically meaningful interpretability of an AI model for ECG classification," NPJ Digital Health, 2025. nature.com
- 319.K. C. Siontis, K. Liu, J. M. Bos, Z. I. Attia, *et al.*, "Detection of hypertrophic cardiomyopathy by an artificial intelligence electrocardiogram in children and adolescents," *International Journal of ...*, vol. 2021, Elsevier. [HTML]
- 320.J. Llerena-Velastegui, S. Velastegui-Zurita, "Advances and challenges in the diagnosis and management of left ventricular noncompaction in adults: a literature review," Current Problems in Cardiology, 2024. sciencedirect.com
- 321.M. D. Solomon, J. Yang, S. Hee Sung, M. L. Livingston *et al.*, "Incidence and timing of potentially high-risk arrhythmias detected through long term continuous ambulatory electrocardiographic monitoring," 2016. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov

- 322.J. P. Singh, J. Fontanarava, G. de Massé, "Short-term prediction of atrial fibrillation from ambulatory monitoring ECG using a deep neural network," *Heart Journal-Digital*, 2022. oup.com
- 323.M. E. Willcox, S. J. Compton, and G. H. Bardy, "Continuous ECG monitoring versus mobile telemetry: A comparison of arrhythmia diagnostics in human-versus algorithmic-dependent systems," Heart Rhythm O2, 2021. sciencedirect.com
- 324.G. Peretto, P. Mazzone, G. Paglino, A. Marzi, "Continuous electrical monitoring in patients with arrhythmic myocarditis: insights from a referral center," *Journal of Clinical*, vol. 2021. mdpi.com
- 325.P. Roldan, L. McGrath, K. Patel, K. Brookfield, "Utility of continuous electrocardiographic monitoring in pregnant women with cardiovascular disease," *International Journal of ...*, 2022. sciencedirect.com
- 326. VE Papageorgiou, T. Zegkos, "Analysis of digitalized ECG signals based on artificial intelligence and spectral analysis methods specialized in ARVC," in *Numerical Methods*, 2022. [PDF]
- 327.G. Adasuriya and S. Haldar, "Next generation ECG: the impact of artificial intelligence and machine learning," Current Cardiovascular Risk Reports, 2023. [HTML]
- 328.D. B. Olawade, N. Aderinto, G. Olatunji, E. Kokori, "Advancements and applications of Artificial Intelligence in cardiology: Current trends and future prospects," Journal of Medicine, vol. 2024, Elsevier. sciencedirect.com
- 329.L. Neri, M. T. Oberdier, K. C. J. van Abeelen, L. Menghini, *et al.*, "Electrocardiogram monitoring wearable devices and artificial-intelligence-enabled diagnostic capabilities: a review," Sensors, vol. 2023. mdpi.com
- 330.L. Ordine, G. Canciello, F. Borrelli, R. Lombardi, "Artificial intelligencedriven electrocardiography: Innovations in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy management," Trends in..., vol. 2024, Elsevier. sciencedirect.com
- 331.Q. Yu and Y. Tang, "Characteristic Analysis of Power Oscillations Caused by Disharmony Among Voltage-Source-Controlled Units in Three-Terminal Local Power Grid," *Journal of Modern Power Systems and Clean Energy*, 2024. ieee.org
- 332.M. Sztorc, "The Behavior of European Union Companies in Terms of Increasing Energy Efficiency from the Perspective of Achieving Climate Neutrality," Energies, 2025. mdpi.com

- 333.S. Mirhosseini, M. Eskandarisani, A. Faghih Nasiri, "Effective boundary correction for deterministic lateral displacement microchannels to improve cell separation: a numerical and experimental study," Biosensors, 2024. mdpi.com
- 334.D. R. Schulsinger, "Emotional intelligence and gender as predictors of infidelity among heterosexual, monogamous couples," 2022. waldenu.edu
- 335.L. Glasbrenner, "Networking For Mid-Level Administrators In Higher Education: Increase Job Performance And Reduce Burnout," 2023. indianastate.edu
- 336.I. Shamansurova and G. Yusupaliyeva, "Clinical characteristics and features of ultrasonic indicators in young children with ventricular septal defect in the ...," Science and ..., 2024. cyberleninka.ru
- 337.R. Reeves-Oppenheim, "The Effects of Bio-Intrinsic Transformational TherapyTM on Depression and Anxiety in Adolescents," academia.edu, academia.edu
- 338.N. S. Amer and S. B. Belhaouari, "Eeg signal processing for medical diagnosis, healthcare, and monitoring: A comprehensive review," IEEE Access, 2023. ieee.org
- 339.L. Wang, K. Jiang, and G. Shen, "A perspective on flexible sensors in developing diagnostic devices," Applied Physics Letters, 2021. google.com
- 340.S. Hussain, I. Mubeen, N. Ullah, "Modern diagnostic imaging technique applications and risk factors in the medical field: a review," BioMed Research, 2022. wiley.com
- 341.S. Mirjalali, S. Peng, Z. Fang, C. H. Wang, and others, "Wearable sensors for remote health monitoring: potential applications for early diagnosis of Covid-19," *Advanced Materials*, vol. 2022, Wiley Online Library. wiley.com
- 342.P. Li, G. H. Lee, S. Y. Kim, S. Y. Kwon *et al.*, "From diagnosis to treatment: recent advances in patient-friendly biosensors and implantable devices," ACS nano, 2021. [HTML]
- 343.M. Kuntoğlu, E. Salur, M. K. Gupta, and M. Sarıkaya, "A state-of-the-art review on sensors and signal processing systems in mechanical machining processes," *International Journal of ...*, vol. 2021, Springer. [HTML]

- 344.T. Ikeda, "Current Use and Future Needs of Noninvasive Ambulatory Electrocardiogram Monitoring," 2021. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 345.A. B. Nigusse, D. A. Mengistie, B. Malengier, and G. B. Tseghai, "Wearable smart textiles for long-term electrocardiography monitoring A review," Sensors, vol. 21, no. 11, 2021. mdpi.com
- 346.T. Lyu, M. Ye, M. Yuan, H. Chen *et al.*, "Assessment of the long RR intervals using convolutional neural networks in single-lead long-term Holter electrocardiogram recordings," Scientific Reports, 2025. nature.com
- 347.R. Gajda, J. Gajda, M. Czuba, B. Knechtle *et al.*, "Sports heart monitors as reliable diagnostic tools for training control and detecting arrhythmias in professional and leisure-time endurance athletes: an expert ...," Sports medicine, 2024. springer.com
- 348.S. Kwon, S. R. Lee, E. K. Choi, H. J. Ahn, H. S. Song, and Y. S. Lee, "Validation of adhesive single-lead ECG device compared with holter monitoring among non-atrial fibrillation patients," Sensors, vol. 21, no. 12, 2021. mdpi.com
- 349.S. Kwon, S. R. Lee, E. K. Choi, H. J. Ahn, and H. S. Song, "Comparison between the 24-hour Holter test and 72-hour single-lead electrocardiogram monitoring with an adhesive patch-type device for atrial fibrillation," *Journal of Medical*, vol. 2022. jmir.org
- 350.E. L. Sandberg, B. L. Grenne, T. Berge, "Diagnostic accuracy and usability of the ECG247 smart heart sensor compared to conventional Holter technology," *Journal of...*, 2021. wiley.com
- 351.EPM Karregat, N. Verbiest-van Gurp, *et al.*, "Screening for paroxysmal atrial fibrillation in primary care using Holter monitoring and intermittent, ambulatory single-lead electrocardiography," *International Journal of...*, 2021, sciencedirect.com
- 352.A. Pingitore, M. Peruzzi, S. C. Clarich, Z. Palamà, "An overview of the electrocardiographic monitoring devices in sports cardiology: Between present and future," *Clinical*, vol. 2023, Wiley Online Library. wiley.com
- 353.S. S. Bun, P. Taghji, and J. C. Deharo, "Cardiac events monitoring," Annales de Cardiologie et d'Angéiologie, 2022. sciencedirect.com
- 354.E. Sandgren, A. Wickbom, T. Kalm, A. Ahlsson, "Intermittent handheld electrocardiogram and continuous electrocardiogram monitoring with an

- implantable loop recorder to detect incident and recurrent atrial ...," Heart Rhythm O2, vol. 2, no. 5, pp. 563-570, 2021. sciencedirect.com
- 355.C. M. Liu, S. L. Chang, Y. H. Yeh, F. P. Chung, and Y. F. Hu, "Enhanced detection of cardiac arrhythmias utilizing 14-day continuous ECG patch monitoring," *International Journal of...*, 2021. biolab.com.sg
- 356.T. Hilbel and N. Frey, "Review of current ECG consumer electronics (pros and cons)," Journal of Electrocardiology, 2023. [HTML]
- 357.D. Bučić and M. Hrabak-Paar, "Multimodality imaging in patients with implantable loop recorders: Tips and tricks," Hellenic Journal of Cardiology, 2024. sciencedirect.com
- 358.R. V. Khatiwala, E. Mullins, D. Fan, U. N. Srivatsa, *et al.*, "Electrical abnormalities with St. Jude/Abbott pacing leads: A systematic review and meta-analysis," *Heart Rhythm*, vol. 2021, Elsevier. [HTML]
- 359.J. P. Curtain, M. M. Y. Lee, J. J. V. McMurray, R. S. Gardner, *et al.*, "Efficacy of implantable haemodynamic monitoring in heart failure across ranges of ejection fraction: a systematic review and meta-analysis," *Heart*, vol. 109, no. 1, pp. 1-10, 2023. bmj.com
- 360.P. R. D. Clephas, R. A. de Boer, and J. J. Brugts, "Benefits of remote hemodynamic monitoring in heart failure," Trends in Cardiovascular Medicine, 2024. sciencedirect.com
- 361.S. P. Radhoe, J. F. Veenis, and J. J. Brugts, "Invasive devices and sensors for remote care of heart failure patients," Sensors, 2021. mdpi.com
- 362.T. Manavi, H. Zafar, and F. Sharif, "An era of digital healthcare a comprehensive review of sensor technologies and telehealth advancements in chronic heart failure management," Sensors, 2024. mdpi.com
- 363.J. A. Lindenfeld, M. R. Costanzo, M. R. Zile, *et al.*, "Implantable hemodynamic monitors improve survival in patients with heart failure and reduced ejection fraction," Journal of the American College of Cardiology, 2024. sciencedirect.com
- 364.J. P. Curtain, "Correlation of the non-invasive Cardiopulmonary Management (CPM) wearable device with measures of congestion in heart failure-CONGEST-HF," 2024. gla.ac.uk
- 365.J. Heaney, J. Buick, M. U. Hadi, and N. Soin, "Internet of Things-based ECG and vitals healthcare monitoring system," Micromachines, 2022. mdpi.com

- 366.A. Badr, A. Badawi, A. Rashwan, and K. Elgazzar, "Xbeats: A real-time electrocardiogram monitoring and analysis system," Signals, 2022. mdpi.com
- 367.M. R. Bigler, P. Zimmermann, A. Papadis, *et al.*, "Accuracy of intracoronary ECG parameters for myocardial ischemia detection," *Journal of ...*, 2021. sciencedirect.com
- 368.H. Y. Su, J. L. Tsai, Y. C. Hsu, K. H. Lee, C. S. Chang, C. K. Sun, *et al.*, "A modified cardiac triage strategy reduces door to ECG time in patients with ST elevation myocardial infarction," *Scientific Reports*, 2021. nature.com
- 369.S. S. Al-Zaiti, C. Martin-Gill, J. K. Zègre-Hemsey, Z. Bouzid, *et al.*, "Machine learning for ECG diagnosis and risk stratification of occlusion myocardial infarction," *Nature Medicine*, vol. 2023. nature.com
- 370.A. I. Larsen, K. H. Løland, S. Hovland, and Ø. Bleie, "... Less Than 90 Minutes From ECG to Primary Percutaneous Coronary Intervention for ST-Segment–Elevation Myocardial Infarction Is Associated with Major Survival ...," Journal of the ..., 2022. ahajournals.org
- 371.R. L. Verrier, B. D. Nearing, and A. D'Avila, "Spectrum of clinical applications of interlead ECG heterogeneity assessment: From myocardial ischemia detection to sudden cardiac death risk stratification," *Annals of Noninvasive ...*, 2021. wiley.com
- 372.C. Rostagno and A. Craighero, "Postoperative myocardial infarction after non-cardiac surgery: an update," Journal of Clinical Medicine, 2024. mdpi.com
- 373.R. M. Pop, P. M. Boarescu, C. I. Bocsan, *et al.*, "Anti-Inflammatory and Antioxidant Effects of White Grape Pomace Polyphenols on Isoproterenol-Induced Myocardial Infarction," *International Journal of ...*, 2025. mdpi.com
- 374.E. E. Sharpe, C. H. Rose, and M. S. Tweet, "Obstetric anesthesia considerations in pregnancy-associated myocardial infarction: a focused review," *International Journal of Obstetric ...*, 2024. [HTML]
- 375.M. Khalid, C. Pluempitiwiriyawej, S. Wangsiripitak, "The Applications of Deep Learning in ECG Classification for Disease Diagnosis: A Systematic Review and Meta-Data Analysis," Engineering, 2024. engj.org
- 376.N. S. Alharbi, H. Jahanshahi, Q. Yao, S. Bekiros et al., "Enhanced

- classification of heartbeat electrocardiogram signals using a long short-term memory–convolutional neural network ensemble: Paving the way for ...," Mathematics, 2023. mdpi.com
- 377.R. C. Puerta and E. L. Martínez, "The issue of electrocardiography interpretation competence revisited," Educación Médica Superior, 2025. sld.cu
- 378.Z. Liu, "A Review of Artificial Intelligence in Electrocardiogram Recognition," 2025. preprints.org
- 379.G. Monachino, B. Zanchi, L. Fiorillo, G. Conte, "Deep Generative Models: The winning key for large and easily accessible ECG datasets?", *Computers in Biology*, vol. 2023, Elsevier. sciencedirect.com
- 380.A. N. Uwaechia and D. A. Ramli, "A comprehensive survey on ECG signals as new biometric modality for human authentication: Recent advances and future challenges," IEEE Access, 2021. ieee.org
- 381.P. Giovanardi, C. Vernia, E. Tincani, C. Giberti *et al.*, "Combined Effects of Age and Comorbidities on Electrocardiographic Parameters in a Large Non-Selected Population," 2022. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 382.G. L. Ragazzoni, L. Cavigli, E. Cavarretta, *et al.*, "How to evaluate resting ECG and imaging in children practising sport: a critical review and proposal of an algorithm for ECG interpretation," *European Journal of...*, 2023, uniroma1.it
- 383.S. Jiménez-Serrano, M. Rodrigo, C. J. Calvo, *et al.*, "From 12 to 1 ECG lead: multiple cardiac condition detection mixing a hybrid machine learning approach with a one-versus-rest classification strategy," *Physiological Measurement*, vol. 43, no. 9, 2022. iop.org
- 384.SS Al-Zaiti, Z Faramand, K Rjoob, D Finlay, "The role of automated 12-lead ECG interpretation in the diagnosis and risk stratification of cardiovascular disease," *Cardiovascular and ...*, 2022. [HTML]
- 385.Q. Sun, C. Liang, T. Chen, B. Ji, R. Liu, and L. Wang, "Early detection of myocardial ischemia in 12-lead ECG using deterministic learning and ensemble learning," *Computer Methods and Programs in Biomedicine*, vol. 202, 2022. [HTML]
- 386.L. Y. Chen, A. L. P. Ribeiro, P. G. Platonov, *et al.*, "..., and future research a consensus document endorsed by the International Society of Electrocardiology and the International Society for Holter and Noninvasive ...," *Circulation*, vol. 2022. ahajournals.org

- 387.D. M. F. Palhares, M. S. Marcolino, T. M. M. Santos, J. L. P. da Silva *et al.*, "Normal limits of the electrocardiogram derived from a large database of Brazilian primary care patients," 2017. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 388.D. Šoštarić, G. Mester, and S. Dorner, "ECG Simulation and Integration of Kalman Filter in Cardio Pediatric Cases," 2019. [PDF]
- 389.H. C. Lue, M. H. Wu, J. K. Wang, M. T. Lin, and C. W. Lu, "Normal ECG standards and percentile charts for infants, children and adolescents," *Pediatrics*, vol. XX, no. XX, pp. XX-XX, 2023. sciencedirect.com
- 390.E. Azak and I. I. Cetin, "Premature cardiac beats in children with structurally normal heart: autonomic dysregulation," Pediatrics International, 2021. [HTML]
- 391.S. A. Jones, "ECG notes: Interpretation and management guide," 2021. [HTML]
- 392.Z. P. Girvin, E. S. Silver, and L. Liberman, "Comparison of Alivecor Kardiamobile six-lead ECG with standard ECG in pediatric patients," Pediatric Cardiology, 2023. researchsquare.com
- 393.E. Tamilia, N. Makaram, G. Ntolkeras, "Exaggerated T-wave alternans in children with Angelman syndrome," Annals of the Child, vol. 2024, Wiley Online Library. wiley.com
- 394.R. Pietrzak, T. M. Książczyk, M. Franke, and B. Werner, "Diastolic function evaluation in children with ventricular arrhythmia," Scientific Reports, 2023. nature.com
- 395.A. Algiraigri, N. Alkhushi, M. Elnakeeb, "Safety of erythrocyte transfusion over a short period in pediatric patients assessed using cardiac deformation imaging," Journal of Pediatrics, 2024. [HTML]
- 396.O. Turan, T. B. O. Gomec, and Ö Turan, "Silent Signals: Analyzing Repolarization Heterogeneity and Autonomic Modulation in Children With Euthyroid Hashimoto's Thyroiditis," Cureus, 2025. cureus.com
- 397.R. Esmel-Vilomara, E. Turón-Viñas, M. Pujol-Sanjuan, "Cardiac Implications in Dravet Syndrome: Can Electrocardiogram and Echocardiography Detect Hidden Risks?" Pediatric Neurology, vol. 2025, Elsevier. [HTML]
- 398.E. Conti, N. Dario Cascio, P. Paluan, G. Racca *et al.*, "Pregnancy Arrhythmias: Management in the Emergency Department and Critical Care," 2024. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov

- 399.P. O. Akinwusi, A. A. Akintunde, V. O. Oboro, A. O. Adeniji *et al.*, "Cardiovascular and electrocardiographic changes in Nigerians with a normal pregnancy," 2011. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 400.E. I. Obeagu and G. U. Obeagu, "Maternal Hypoxia: Impact on Cardiovascular Health and Placental Function," Elite Journal of Nursing and Health, 2024. academia.edu
- 401.S. Yagel, S. M. Cohen, and D. Goldman-Wohl, "An integrated model of preeclampsia: a multifaceted syndrome of the maternal cardiovascularplacental-fetal array," *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 2022, Elsevier. ajog.org
- 402.E. I. Obeagu and G. U. Obeagu, "Enhancing maternal and fetal well-being: the role of antioxidants in pregnancy," Elite Journal of Medical Sciences, 2024. kiu.ac.ug
- 403.O. Türkmen and S. Akar İnan, "Navigating pregnancy with cardiovascular disease: pathophysiology, risk stratification, and maternal–fetal outcomes," Turkish Journal of Medical..., 2025. tubitak.gov.tr
- 404.S. S. Khan, N. A. Cameron, and K. J. Lindley, "Pregnancy as an early cardiovascular moment: peripartum cardiovascular health," Circulation research, 2023. ahajournals.org
- 405.E. I. Obeagu and G. U. Obeagu, "Hypoxia in Pregnancy: Implications for Fetal Development," Int. J. Curr. Res. Chem. Pharm. Sci, 2024. kiu.ac.ug
- 406.C. A. Ricci, B. Crysup, N. R. Phillips, and others, "Machine learning: a new era for cardiovascular pregnancy physiology and cardio-obstetrics research," *Journal of Applied Physiology*, vol. 2024. [HTML]
- 407.G. Sharma, W. Ying, and C. K. Silversides, "The importance of cardiovascular risk assessment and pregnancy heart team in the management of cardiovascular disease in pregnancy," Cardiology clinics, 2021. [HTML]
- 408.S. Somani, A. J. Russak, F. Richter, S. Zhao, A. Vaid, "Deep learning and the electrocardiogram: review of the current state-of-the-art," *EP*, 2021. oup.com
- 409.M. A. Awal, S. S. Mostafa, M. Ahmad, M. A. Alahe, and M. A. Rashid, "Design and optimization of ECG modeling for generating different cardiac dysrhythmias," Sensors, vol. 21, 2021. mdpi.com
- 410.J. Oh, G. Lee, S. Bae, and J. Kwon, "Ecg-qa: A comprehensive question

- answering dataset combined with electrocardiogram," in *Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems*, 2023. neurips.cc
- 411.L. Ciumărnean, M. V. Milaciu, V. Negrean, "Cardiovascular risk factors and physical activity for the prevention of cardiovascular diseases in the elderly," *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, vol. 2021. mdpi.com
- 412.L. T. Majnarić, Z. Bosnić, T. Kurevija, "Cardiovascular risk and aging: The need for a more comprehensive understanding," Journal of Geriatric, vol. XX, no. YY, pp. ZZ-ZZ, 2021. nih.gov
- 413.K. M. Addo and H. Khan, "Factors affecting healthy aging and its interconnected pathways," Turkish Journal of Healthy Aging Medicine, 2024. dergipark.org.tr
- 414.A. Boulif, B. Ananou, and M. Ouladsine, "A literature review: ECG-based models for arrhythmia diagnosis using artificial intelligence techniques," *Biology Insights*, vol. 2023. sagepub.com
- 415. V. Gupta, M. Mittal, and V. Mittal, "Chaos theory and ARTFA: emerging tools for interpreting ECG signals to diagnose cardiac arrhythmias," Wireless Personal Communications, 2021. [HTML]
- 416.N. A. Trayanova, D. M. Popescu, and J. K. Shade, "Machine learning in arrhythmia and electrophysiology," Circulation research, 2021. ahajournals.org
- 417.M. H. Patel, S. Sampath, A. Kapoor, and D. N. Damani, "Advances in cardiac pacing: arrhythmia prediction, prevention and control strategies," *Frontiers in*, vol. 2021. frontiersin.org
- 418.M. Strik, S. Ploux, F. D. Ramirez, S. Abu-Alrub, P. Jaîs, "Smartwatch-based detection of cardiac arrhythmias: beyond the differentiation between sinus rhythm and atrial fibrillation," *Heart Rhythm*, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 754-763, 2021. sciencedirect.com
- 419.N. V. Turushev, D. K. Avdeeva, S. I. En'shin, "Prospects for the development of ambulatory electrocardiographs and their future in high-resolution electrocardiography," Biomedical Engineering, vol. 2023, Springer. [HTML]
- 420.J. Lukenda, "From Galvani's Frog and Norman Jefferis Holter (1914-1983) to the "Implantable Holter Monitors" of Today," Cardiologia Croatica, 2024. srce.hr
- 421.W. Liu, J. Zhang, and C. Li, "Design of intelligent wearable equipment

- based on real-time dynamic ECG-monitoring system," *American Journal of Translational ... *, 2023. nih.gov
- 422.J. P. Saul and G. Valenza, "Heart rate variability and the dawn of complex physiological signal analysis: methodological and clinical perspectives," *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A*, vol. 379, no. 2191, 2021. royalsocietypublishing.org
- 423.T. Pham, Z. J. Lau, S. H. A. Chen, and D. Makowski, "Heart rate variability in psychology: A review of HRV indices and an analysis tutorial," Sensors, 2021. mdpi.com
- 424.H. Ni, S. Meng, X. Geng, P. Li, Z. Li, and X. Chen, "Time series modeling for heart rate prediction: From ARIMA to transformers," in *EEI*, 2024. [PDF]
- 425.F. Zhu, Q. Niu, X. Li, Q. Zhao *et al.*, "FM-FCN: a neural network with filtering modules for accurate vital signs extraction," Research, 2024. science.org
- 426.H. Lee, H. L. Yang, H. G. Ryu, C. W. Jung, and Y. J. Cho, "Real-time machine learning model to predict in-hospital cardiac arrest using heart rate variability in ICU," NPJ Digital Health, 2023. nature.com
- 427.A. M. Ponsiglione, C. Cosentino, G. Cesarelli, F. Amato, *et al.*, "A comprehensive review of techniques for processing and analyzing fetal heart rate signals," Sensors, vol. 21, no. 15, 2021. mdpi.com
- 428.K. K. Baseer, K. Sivakumar, D. Veeraiah, "Healthcare diagnostics with an adaptive deep learning model integrated with the Internet of medical Things (IoMT) for predicting heart disease," in *Signal Processing and ...*, 2024, Elsevier. [HTML]
- 429.A. Marzoratti and T. M. Evans, "Measurement of interpersonal physiological synchrony in dyads: A review of timing parameters used in the literature," Cognitive,. springer.com
- 430.B. Imhoff and W. Casey, "An Unusual ECG Artifact Caused by Faulty Cardiac Monitor Leads," 2021. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 431.D. Han, S. K. Bashar, J. Lázaro, and F. Mohagheghian, "A real-time PPG peak detection method for accurate determination of heart rate during sinus rhythm and cardiac arrhythmia," *Biosensors*, vol. 12, no. 5, 2022. mdpi.com
- 432.E. Brophy, B. Hennelly, M. De Vos, and G. Boylan, "Improved electrode motion artefact denoising in ECG using convolutional neural networks

- and a custom loss function," in *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering*, vol. 69, no. 3, pp. 1234-1245, 2022. ieee.org
- 433.E. Myrovali, D. Hristu-Varsakelis, D. Tachmatzidis, "Identifying patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation from sinus rhythm ECG using random forests," Expert Systems with Applications, vol. 2023, Elsevier. uom.gr
- 434.S. Banerjee and G. K. Singh, "Monte Carlo filter-based motion artifact removal from electrocardiogram signal for real-time telecardiology system," IEEE Transactions on Instrumentation, vol. XX, no. YY, pp. ZZ-ZZ, 2021. [HTML]
- 435.B. Hopenfeld, "Peak space motion artifact cancellation applied to textile electrode waist electrocardiograms recorded during outdoors walking and jogging," bioRxiv, 2022. biorxiv.org
- 436.L. Kahl and U. G. Hofmann, "Removal of ECG artifacts affects respiratory muscle fatigue detection a simulation study," Sensors, 2021. mdpi.com
- 437.S. Apakuppakul and N. Methachittiphan, "Effect of ElectroMagnetic interference from SmartPHone on cardiac ImplaNtable electronic device (EMI-PHONE study)," Journal of..., vol. 2022, Wiley Online Library. wiley.com
- 438.M. Solkin, "Electromagnetic interference hazards in flight and the 5G mobile phone: Review of critical issues in aviation security," Transportation research procedia, 2021. sciencedirect.com
- 439.Y. Fan, L. Zhang, and K. Li, "EMI and IEMI impacts on the radio communication network of electrified railway systems: A critical review," IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology, vol. XX, no. YY, pp. ZZ-ZZ, 2023. whiterose.ac.uk
- 440.C. Wu, H. Kim, S. Penugonda, "Analysis and modeling of the common-mode conducted EMI from a wireless power transfer system for mobile applications," IEEE Transactions on..., vol. XX, no. YY, pp. ZZ-ZZ, 2021. [HTML]
- 441.O. M. Aloufi and N. H. M. Alharbi, "Awareness and Practice of Nine Life-saving Patient Safety Solutions Among Healthcare Workers," International journal of health sciences,. [HTML]
- 442. VV Baxi, S. Banerjee, M.A.R. Patel, R. Sinha, and S. Khan, "Enhancing Patient Safety in Critical Care: Challenges, Strategies, and Emerging Innovations," *Journal of Medical and Dental Frontiers*. journalofmedicalanddentalfrontiers.com

- 443.C. Bohringer and M. Fierro, "Missed Connection: A Case of Inadequate ECG Oversight in Cardiac Surgery," WebM&M: Morbidity & Mortality, 2024. nih.gov
- 444.M. M. A. L. Khathami, A. M. Alenazi, H. A. Ababtain, *et al.*, "Multidisciplinary Approaches to Managing Cardiogenic Shock: the Role of EMS, Paramedics, Pharmacists, and Health Information Systems," International Journal of [HTML]
- 445.B. Arslan, M. N. Sutasir, M. Kapci, S. Korkut, S. Altinarik, "Simulation-Based Enhancement of Patient Safety During Intrahospital Transport of Trauma Patients With COVID-19: A Helipad Scenario," Cureus, 2024. cureus.com
- 446.I. Karunarathna, K. De Alvis, P. Gunasena, and J. Thushan, "The role of anesthesia in renal transplantation: A focus on patient safety and graft function," 2024. researchgate.net
- 447.M. R. Mathis, M. C. Engoren, A. M. Williams, *et al.*, "Prediction of postoperative deterioration in cardiac surgery patients using electronic health record and physiologic waveform data," 2022. nih.gov
- 448.A. H. El-Sherbini, A. Shah, R. Cheng, A. Elsebaie, "Machine learning for predicting postoperative atrial fibrillation after cardiac surgery: A scoping review of current literature," Journal of Cardiology, vol. 2023, Elsevier. [HTML]
- 449.M. H. Shuja, A. Sajid, E. Anwar, B. Sajid, "Navigating cardiovascular events in non-cardiac surgery: A comprehensive review of complications and risk assessment strategies," Journal of Cardiothoracic, vol. 2024, Elsevier. [HTML]
- 450.A. Duma, M. Maleczek, C. Wagner, H. Haslacher, "NT-proBNP in young healthy adults undergoing non-cardiac surgery," *Clinical*, vol. 2021, Elsevier. [HTML]
- 451.C. Altieri, C. Pisano, L. Vincenzo, M. S. Ferrante, *et al.*, "Circulating levels of ferritin, RDW, PTLs as predictive biomarkers of postoperative atrial fibrillation risk after cardiac surgery in extracorporeal circulation," *International Journal of ...*, 2022. mdpi.com
- 452.A. H. Kashou, P. A. Noseworthy, T. J. Beckman, *et al.*, "Predictors of ECG interpretation proficiency in healthcare professionals," *Current Problems in Cardiology*, vol. 2023, Elsevier. sciencedirect.com
- 453. A. H. Kashou, P. A. Noseworthy, T. J. Beckman, et al., "Exploring factors

- influencing ECG interpretation proficiency of medical professionals," *Current Problems in Cardiology*, vol. 2023, Elsevier. researchgate.net
- 454.V. G. Sirtoli, M. Liamini, and L. T. Lins, "Removal of motion artifacts in capacitive electrocardiogram acquisition: A review," *Circuits and Systems*, 2023. google.com
- 455.M. Khalili, H. GholamHosseini, A. Lowe, "Motion artifacts in capacitive ECG monitoring systems: a review of existing models and reduction techniques," *Medical & Biological Engineering & Computing*, 2024. springer.com
- 456.X. An, Y. Liu, Y. Zhao, S. Lu *et al.*, "Adaptive motion artifact reduction in wearable ECG measurements using impedance pneumography signal," Sensors, 2022. mdpi.com
- 457.K. E. Odening, A. M. Gomez, D. Dobrev, L. Fabritz, and others, "... group on cardiac cellular electrophysiology position paper: relevance, opportunities, and limitations of experimental models for cardiac electrophysiology research," EP, vol. 2021, 2021. nih.gov
- 458.B. Ng, S. Nayyar, and V. S. Chauhan, "The role of artificial intelligence and machine learning in clinical cardiac electrophysiology," Canadian Journal of Cardiology, 2022. [HTML]
- 459.J. Salinet, R. Molero, F. S. Schlindwein, J. Karel, "Electrocardiographic imaging for atrial fibrillation: a perspective from computer models and animal experiments to clinical value," Frontiers in..., vol. 2021. frontiersin.org
- 460.M. Beetz, A. Banerjee, and V. Grau, "Multi-domain variational autoencoders for combined modeling of MRI-based biventricular anatomy and ECG-based cardiac electrophysiology," Frontiers in physiology, 2022. frontiersin.org
- 461.I. Doundoulakis, S. Soulaidopoulos, P. Arsenos, "Unexplained syncope: the importance of the electrophysiology study," Hearts, 2021. mdpi.com
- 462.M. Zhu, H. Wang, S. Li, X. Liang, and M. Zhang, "Flexible electrodes for *in vivo* and *in vitro* electrophysiological signal recording," *Advanced Materials*, vol. 33, no. 12, 2021. [HTML]
- 463.E. Zappon, M. A. F. Gsell, K. Gillette, and G. Plank, "Quantifying variabilities in cardiac digital twin models of the electrocardiogram," arXiv preprint arXiv:2407.17146, 2024. [PDF]
- 464.S. Maurya, R. W. Mills, K. Kahnert, D. Y. Chiang, et al., "Outlining

- cardiac ion channel protein interactors and their signature in the human electrocardiogram," *Nature Cardiovascular*, 2023. nature.com
- 465.S. Abbas, "Biomedical Engineering: Bridging the gap between technology and medicine," The Research of Medical Science Review, 2023. thermsr.com
- 466.Z. AKHTAR, "Biomedical engineering (bme) and medical health science: an investigation perspective exploration," Quantum Journal of Medical and Health Sciences, 2024. qimhs.com
- 467.Z. B. Akhtar, "Accelerated computing a biomedical engineering and medical science perspective," Annals of the Academy of Romanian Scientists Series, vol. 2023. academia.edu
- 468.N. Arora and B. Mishra, "Origins of ECG and evolution of automated DSP techniques: A review," IEEE Access, 2021. ieee.org
- 469.Z. B. Akhtar, "Exploring biomedical engineering (BME): Advances within accelerated computing and regenerative medicine for a computational and medical science ...," J. Emerg. Med. OA, 2024. academia.edu
- 470.Z. B. Akhtar, "Artificial Intelligence (AI) and Extended Reality (XR): A Biomedical Engineering Perspective Investigation Analysis," Journal of Electronics, Electromedical Engineering, 2024. ijeeemi.org
- 471.S. M. Qaisar, H. Nisar, and A. Subasi, "Advances in non-invasive biomedical signal sensing and processing with machine learning," 2023. [HTML]
- 472.C. T. Chung, S. Lee, E. King, T. Liu, A. A. Armoundas, "Clinical significance, challenges and limitations in using artificial intelligence for electrocardiography-based diagnosis," *International Journal of...*, 2022. springer.com
- 473.A. Mizuno, S. Changolkar, and M. S. Patel, "Wearable devices to monitor and reduce the risk of cardiovascular disease: evidence and opportunities," Annual review of medicine, 2021. [HTML]
- 474.K. Bayoumy, M. Gaber, A. Elshafeey, *et al.*, "Smart wearable devices in cardiovascular care: where we are and how to move forward," *Nature Reviews*, 2021. nature.com
- 475.J. Lin, R. Fu, X. Zhong, P. Yu, G. Tan, W. Li, and H. Zhang, "Wearable sensors and devices for real-time cardiovascular disease monitoring," Cell Reports Physical Science, vol. 2, no. 1, 2021. cell.com

- 476.B. Khan, Z. Riaz, and B. L. Khoo, "Advancements in wearable sensors for cardiovascular disease detection for health monitoring," Materials Science and Engineering: R: Reports, 2024. [HTML]
- 477.L. S. Dhingra, A. Aminorroaya, E. K. Oikonomou, *et al.*, "Use of wearable devices in individuals with or at risk for cardiovascular disease in the US, 2019 to 2020," JAMA Network, 2023. jamanetwork.com
- 478.M. Moshawrab, M. Adda, A. Bouzouane, and H. Ibrahim, "Smart wearables for the detection of cardiovascular diseases: a systematic literature review," Sensors, 2023. mdpi.com
- 479.Y. A. Chiou, J. Y. Syu, S. Y. Wu, L. Y. Lin, L. T. Yi, T. T. Lin, *et al.*, "Electrocardiogram lead selection for intelligent screening of patients with systolic heart failure," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 11, no. 1, 2021. nature.com
- 480.A. Abdou and S. Krishnan, "Horizons in single-lead ECG analysis from devices to data," Frontiers in Signal Processing, 2022. frontiersin.org
- 481.J. Junarta, D. R. Frisch, S. Dikdan, M. Weiss, "Expanding a single-lead mobile electrocardiographic device to multiple-lead recordings improves diagnostic accuracy and confidence," Journal of..., vol. XX, no. YY, pp. ZZ-ZZ, 2021. [HTML]
- 482.M. Sepahvand and F. Abdali-Mohammadi, "A novel method for reducing arrhythmia classification from 12-lead ECG signals to single-lead ECG with minimal loss of accuracy through teacher-student knowledge ...," Information Sciences, 2022. [HTML]
- 483.M. P. Witvliet, E. P. M. Karregat, J. C. L. Himmelreich, *et al.*, "Usefulness, pitfalls and interpretation of handheld single-lead electrocardiograms," *Journal of ...*, 2021. sciencedirect.com
- 484.M. Wang, S. Rahardja, P. Fränti, and S. Rahardja, "Single-lead ECG recordings modeling for end-to-end recognition of atrial fibrillation with dual-path RNN," *Biomedical Signal Processing*, vol. 2023, Elsevier. [HTML]
- 485.J. Bridge, L. Fu, W. Lin, Y. Xue *et al.*, "Artificial intelligence to detect abnormal heart rhythm from scanned electrocardiogram tracings," 2022. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 486.P. Pantelidis, E. Oikonomou, I. Gialamas, "Decoding the heart: how artificial intelligence is transforming cardiology," *Artificial Intelligence*, 2025. amegroups.org

- 487.R. Khera, E. K. Oikonomou, G. N. Nadkarni, *et al.*, "Transforming Cardiovascular Care With Artificial Intelligence: From Discovery to Practice: JACC State-of-the-Art Review," Journal of the American College of Cardiology, 2024. jacc.org
- 488.D. M. Harmon, Z. I. Attia, and P. A. Friedman, "Current and future implications of the artificial intelligence electrocardiogram: the transformation of healthcare and attendant research opportunities," 2022. nih.gov
- 489.V. Ponomariov, L. Chirila, F. M. Apipie, R. Abate *et al.*, "Artificial Intelligence versus Doctors' Intelligence: A Glance on Machine Learning Benefaction in Electrocardiography," 2017. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 490.Y. M. Ayano, F. Schwenker, B. D. Dufera, and T. G. Debelee, "Interpretable machine learning techniques in ECG-based heart disease classification: a systematic review," Diagnostics, 2022. mdpi.com
- 491.J. W. Hughes, J. E. Olgin, R. Avram, S. A. Abreau, *et al.*, "Performance of a convolutional neural network and explainability technique for 12-lead electrocardiogram interpretation," *JAMA*, vol. 2021. jamanetwork.com
- 492.J. C. Hsieh, A. H. Li, and C. C. Yang, "Mobile, Cloud, and Big Data Computing: Contributions, Challenges, and New Directions in Telecardiology," 2013. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- 493.B. Kinast, M. Lutz, and B. Schreiweis, "Telemonitoring of real-world health data in cardiology: a systematic review," *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, vol. 18, no. 4, 2021. mdpi.com
- 494.P. X. Kuan, W. K. Chan, D. K. F. Ying, M. A. A. Rahman, *et al.*, "Efficacy of telemedicine for the management of cardiovascular disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis," The Lancet Digital Health, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. e139-e149, 2022. thelancet.com
- 495.V. Masotta, A. Dante, V. Caponnetto, A. Marcotullio, "Telehealth care and remote monitoring strategies in heart failure patients: A systematic review and meta-analysis," Heart & Lung, vol. 2024, Elsevier. sciencedirect.com
- 496.U. Khan, "Remote Patient Monitoring and Telehealth: The Future of Cardiac Care," researchgate.net, researchgate.net
- 497.K. Kędzierski, J. Radziejewska, A. Sławuta, "Telemedicine in cardiology:

- modern technologies to improve cardiovascular patients' outcomes a narrative review," Medicina, vol. 58, no. 3, 2022. mdpi.com
- 498.P. Alvarez, A. Sianis, J. Brown, A. Ali, "Chronic disease management in heart failure: focus on telemedicine and remote monitoring," in *Journal of Cardiovascular*, vol. 2021. impress.com
- 499.A. B. Mbombo, "Comparative Analysis for the Educational use of Cloud Computing Services in Mobile Learning Environment," docs.neu.edu.tr,. neu.edu.tr
- 500.N. Mohammadzadeh *et al.*, "Requirements, challenges, and key components to improve onboard medical care using maritime telemedicine: narrative review," *International Journal of ...*, 2023. wiley.com
- 501.T. A. D. Accorsi, G. F. A. P. Junior, J. T. Nunes, "The rise of telecardiology in developing countries," Current Problems in..., vol. 2024, Elsevier. [HTML]